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Board of Directors

The composit ion of the board (“Board”) of directors 
(“Directors”) of Silver Grant International Holdings Group 
Limited (“Company”) during the year ended 31 December 
2020 (“Year 2020”) and as at the date of this report is set out 
below:

Executive Directors

Huang Jiajue (Chief Executive Officer)
Luo Zhihai
Ma Yilin (resigned with effect from 11 January 2021)
Tang Lunfei (appointed with effect from 11 January 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (Chairman)
Chen Zhiwei
Gao Jian Min (resigned with effect from 1 January 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Liang Qing 
Zhang Lu
Hung Muk Ming

Audit Committee

Hung Muk Ming (Committee Chairman)
Liang Qing
Zhang Lu

Remuneration Committee

Zhang Lu (Committee Chairman)
Liang Qing
Huang Jiajue

Nomination Committee

Chu Hing Tsung (Committee Chairman)
Zhang Lu
Hung Muk Ming
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Company Secretary

Ng Hoi Leung, Leo

Company Lawyers

Tung & Co. Solicitors
LCH Lawyers LLP

Legal Counselor

Tung Tat Chiu, Michael

Auditor

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Principal Bankers

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
China Citic Bank International Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong
(Tel: 29801888 Fax: 28610285)

Registered Office

Suite 4901, 49th Floor,
Office Tower, Convention Plaza,
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(Tel: 28770030 Fax: 28029506)

Company Website

http://www.silvergrant.com.hk

Stock Code
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BUSINESS REVIEW

At the star t of 2020, there was an outbreak of the 
Coronavirus Disease-2019 (“COVID-19”) epidemic in Wuhan, 
Hubei Province, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). 
Due to the increase in the mobility of population before the 
2020 Lunar New Year, the epidemic quickly spread around 
the world and to overseas regions, hitting the society and 
economy in China hard with challenges. The Group has been 
positively responding to the prevention and control measures 
implemented by the Chinese government, by formulating 
new prevention and control guidelines for its employees in 
a timely manner, regularly checking its employees’ health 
and travel history and preventing cross-infection among 
employees from happening in the workplace. Given that 
the Group’s principal business activities spread across 
China, large-scale production cessation and delayed 
work resumption as a result of the prevention and control 
measures to combat the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic 
have already made a significant adverse impact on the daily 
operations of the Group, resulting in various businesses 
failed to be carried out as originally planned.

The Group has recorded a loss attributable to owners of the 
Company for Year 2020 of approximately HK$317,641,000 as 
compared to a profit attributable to owners of the Company 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (“Year 2019”) of 
approximately HK$2,476,000 (restated). Basic loss per share 
was 13.78 HK cents for Year 2020 (Year 2019: basic earnings 
per share of 0.11 HK cents (restated)).

In 2020, affected by the global COVID-19 pandemic, the 
global economy came to a standstill. In the PRC, because 
of the proactive preventive and controlling measures taken 
by the government against the pandemic, the national 
economy has shown a stable recovery, with its annual GDP 
in 2020 increased by 2.3% year-on-year, making the PRC 
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

During 2020, impacted by the pandemic and the downturn 

of the global economy, the Group made timely adjustment 

on its operating goals and plans, trying its best in reducing 

the effect of external unfavorable factors on its operations. 

�• 	 � �0 	 �  (	 � �È ) �i �· �Þ �" �®�!  (Zhong Hai You Qi (Tai Zhou) 

Petrochemical Company Limited*) (“Zhong Hai You Qi”), a 

former 33% associate of the Company with approximately 

22.46% of its equity interest being effectively held by the 

Company, became a joint venture (“ZHYQ JV”) of the 

Company following the completion (“Completion”) of a 

merger (“Merger”) on 15 July 2019, pursuant to which Zhong 

Hai You Qi absorbed and merged with 	 � �È�� �L �· �ˆ �Þ �" �®

�!  (Tai Zhou United East Petrochemical Company Limited*) 

(“TZ United East”) and �• 	 � �Ž �¡  (	 � �È ) �Þ �" �ª�‚ �®�!  (China 

Offshore Bitumen (Taizhou) Co., Ltd.*) (“COBT”). Due to low 

international crude oil prices, as well as decreased domestic 

demand for refined oil and aromatic hydrocarbon oil, ZHYQ 

JV failed to achieve profitability during Year 2020 but it has 

managed to lower costs and improve efficiency through a 

series of measures, such as consuming relatively expensive 

crude oil inventory in advance, and raising the utilisation rate 

resources. To pursue its development strategy for high-end 

lubricating oil in a steady manner, ZHYQ JV established a 

subsidiary that is engaged in the research and development, 

production and sales of lubricating oil products, enabling a 

growth of over five times in terms of annual lubricating oil 

sales in Year 2020 as compared to those in Year 2019.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Investments

During 2020, the Group continued to develop its various 

investment operations. In relation to investments in non-

performing assets, following the prudence principle, the 

Group has acquired a non-performing loans portfolio with 

total principal and interest accrued thereon amounting to 

approximately RMB300 million. The market enthusiasm 

towards disposal of non-performing assets has declined 

since investors in general adopted a wait-and-see attitude 

under the influence of the pandemic. Through increased 

effort in judicial disposal and assets promotion, the Group 

recovered part of the non-performing assets during Year 

2020, and will dispose of the remaining non-performing 

assets in the coming one to two years. The Group 

proactively explored various types of non-performing assets 

investment projects, including individual debt restructuring 

projects, bankruptcy reorganisation projects, etc.. In terms 

of equity investment projects, the Group divested two 

existing projects and formulated a divestment proposal for 

one existing project. The Group has been identifying new 

investment projects of considerable scale but the Group has 

not made any new eq  (o)44.4 (a)44.4i10.3 (t)147.4 (y)- -8.3 (n)3.5 (v)3.5 (e)-16.5 4stment pe t. TTJ
0.02103c 0.21  Tw 0 -1.1 (11d
[(n)-31.6 9h)-24.7 (e r)-29.3 (r)-14.(o)-10.1 (e)-24.2 (p)- -26.3 (i)l21.8 (s)-25.8 (j)o -26.6 (c)-10.4 ( t-13.5 (i)-22.6 (v)-14.5 (e)-5..3 (l)-21.7 (0)y m24.2 (p)-13.8 (d)-11.8 (e r)p24.3 (r)l24.2 (p)-27.7 (n)-2.71 (e)s -12.4 (o)-24.3 (r)-)-22 4 (t)14719 (o)a sset 
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Investments 
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Investments (Continued)

The objective of the Group in relation to its investments in 

financial assets is to capture returns from the appreciation 

in the values of its investments and to receive income 

therefrom. The Board believes that the performance of the 

financial asset investments of the Group is dependent on 

the financial and operating performance of the investee 

companies and market sentiment, which are affected by 

factors such as interest rate movements, national policies 

and performance of the global and national economies. 

Among its previously invested projects, the Group is currently 

seeking exit opportunities after assessing the financial and 

operational performance of these investments against the 

Group’s expectation, which will allow the Group to recover 

its capital and invest in projects with higher returns in the 

next few years. The Group will continue to adopt a prudent 

investment approach and closely monitor the performance of 

the investments in its portfolio.

Property Leasing

The rental income from the Group’s proper ty leasing 

business decreased from approximately HK$107,568,000 

in Year 2019 to approximately HK$89,128,000 in Year 

2020. Revenue from the Group’s property leasing business 

segment was mainly derived from East Gate Plaza, an 

investment property of the Group in Beijing, China, which is 

comprised of a residential section and a commercial section. 

Affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the occupancy rate of 

East Gate Plaza declined to approximately 80% in Year 2020 

(Year 2019: 90%), resulting in a decrease in revenue from 

this segment. The Group has made timely adjustment of its 

property leasing business strategy by actively recruiting new 

tenants for vacant areas and retaining its existing tenants, in 

order to boost the occupancy rate of the property.
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PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (Continued)

With the spread of COVID-19 under control in China, the 

Group will adjust its various business development strategies 

based on the latest economic situation, actively deploy 

investment in high-quality assets and participate in the 

development of growth industries in order to bring long-term 

returns to the shareholders of the Company.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal 

during Year 2020.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company of 

approximately HK$2,476,000 (restated) for Year 2019 turned 

to a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of 

approximately HK$317,641,000 for Year 2020, mainly due to 

the combined effect of the following:

(i) the decrease in the rental income earned by the 

Group during Year 2020 from that of approximately 

HK$107,568,000 recorded for Year 2019, due to the 

decline in the occupancy rate of the rental properties of 

the Group as a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 

pandemic at the beginning of 2020;

(ii) the increase in the direct operating expenses incurred 

by the Group for Year 2020 from approximately 

HK$6,419,000 for Year 2019, mainly attributable to the 

increase in the promotion expenses incurred by the 

Group to retain its tenants during Year 2020;
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

(iii) the increase in other income, gains and losses for 

Year 2020, as compared with that of approximately 

HK$181,733,000 for Year 2019, mainly due to the 

increase in the interest income generated through 

advances provided by the Group during Year 2020;

(iv) the turn from a fair value gain on investment properties 

of approximately HK$18,103,000 recorded by the 

Group for Year 2019 to a fair value loss on investment 

properties for Year 2020, as a result of the decline in 

the fair value of the investment properties held by the 

Group as at 31 December 2020;

(v) the decrease in the loss in the fair value of the financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss for Year 2020 

from approximately HK$201,650,000 for Year 2019, 

mainly attributable to (1) the amount of fair value loss 

made by the Group on its financial assets as at 31 

December 2020 being substantially less than that made 

on its financial assets as at 31 December 2019; and (2) 

the increase in the fair value of certain non-performing 

assets held by the Group as at 31 December 2020, as 

compared with their fair value as at 31 December 2019;

(vi) the increase in the finance costs incurred by the 

Group for Year 2020 from those of approximately 

HK$133,746,000 for Year 2019, as a result of (1) 

the issuance by the Company of (a) the 7% senior 

unsecured and guaranteed convertible bonds in the 

aggregate pr incipal amount of HK$1,150,000,000 

in Ju ly 2019; and (b) the 7.5% senior secured 

guaranteed note in the aggregate principal amount of 

US$19,800,000 in December 2020; and (2) additional 

other loans raised by the Group in the second half of 

2020 at rates ranging from 9% per annum to 12% per 

annum;
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

(vii) the profit from discontinued operation of approximately 

HK$251,996,000 (restated) recorded by the Group in 

Year 2019 (which was absent in Year 2020), in relation 

to the disposal of the Group’s trading of petrochemical 

products and provision of subcontracting service 

business segment following the Completion of the 

Merger on 15 July 2019, pursuant to which Zhong 

Hai You Qi, a former 33% associate of the Company 

with approximately 22.46% of i ts equity interest 

being ef fectively held by the Company, absorbed 

and merged with TZ United East and COBT. Upon 

Completion, TZ United East and COBT were dissolved 

and deregistered, and Zhong Hai You Qi became the 

surviving entity and a joint venture (i.e. ZHYQ JV) of the 

Company, in which the Company owned approximately 

51% of its equity interest through one of its indirect 

non-wholly owned subsidiaries (i.e. the Company 

effectively held approximately 34.72% of the equity 

interest of ZHYQ JV upon Completion); and

(viii) the decline in the performance of Zhong Hai You 

Qi from a profit in Year 2019 (during which it was 

accounted for by the Group as an associate of the 

Company), to a loss in Year 2020 (during which ZHYQ 

JV, the surviving entity resulted from the Merger, was 

accounted for by the Group as a joint venture of the 

Company), mainly attributable to (1) the overhaul and 

upgrade carried out at the factory of ZHYQ JV in March 

2020, which resulted in the suspension of the operation 

of ZHYQ JV for the entire month of March in 2020; (2) 

the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which led to a 

slowdown in the economy and thus, a reduction in the 

demand for ZHYQ JV’s petrochemical products; and (3) 

the provision for impairment loss on inventory made by 

ZHYQ JV due to the decline in the prices of crude oil in 

Year 2020.

The basic loss per share attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of the Company was 13.78 HK cents for Year 2020 

(Year 2019: basic earnings per share of 0.11 HK cents 

(restated)).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

a. Rental income

Rental income for Year 2020 amounted to approximately 

H K$89,128,0 0 0 ( Ye a r  2019:  H K$107,568,0 0 0), 

representing a decrease of approximately 17.14%, 

which was mainly attributable to the decrease in the 

average occupancy rate of the rental properties of the 

Group from approximately 90% to approximately 80% 

in Year 2020.

b. Change in fair value of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss

The decrease in the loss in the fair value of the 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

from approximately HK$201,650,000 for Year 2019 to 

approximately HK$667,000 for Year 2020 was mainly 

attributable to (1) the amount of fair value loss made 

by the Group on its financial assets as at 31 December 

2020 being substantially less than that made on its 

financial assets as at 31 December 2019; and (2) the 

increase in the fair value of certain non-performing 

assets held by the Group as at 31 December 2020, as 

compared with their fair value as at 31 December 2019.
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� I � ü � × � ]� e� × 	 B � ¿ � f � & � _ 2019�Ë� � �Ò

181,733,000� ¥ � © � # � � � �2020� Ë � � � Ò

285,084,000�¥ �©�d�ô � � � _ �õ� I 
 « �   � õ

2020�Ë� � �À �@� ¦ � › � * � [ �Y� ; � ¹�× � ] �#

�� � f

d. �Å�&�S�•�L���®�!�&	B

2019� Ë � � � Å � & � S � • � L � � � ® � ! � f � & � Ò

7,091,000� ¥ � © � 
 � < � I � ® � ! � Å � & � ¦ � :

�� �— �® �* �Þ �" �®�!�€�̃�¦ �: �� �—�™�•�f �&

�Ò9,261,000� ¥ � © � ¿ � I � ® � ! � Å � & � • 	 �

� 0 	 � � È � i � · � P � ; � Ò 2,170,000�¥ �©�€�_
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Ã

�_� I�®� ! �Å �&� ¦ � : � � �— �P � ; 	 Í �  � d� (

�_ 2019� Ë � � � f � & � Ò7,091,000� ¥ � © � 7
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

c. Other income, gains and losses

The increase in other income, gains and losses from 

approximately HK$181,733,000 for Year 2019 to 

approximately HK$285,084,000 for Year 2020 was 

mainly due to the increase in interest income generated 

through advances by the Group during Year 2020.

d. Share of profit or loss of an associate 

The share of loss of an associate for Year 2019 in the 

amount of approximately HK$7,091,000 comprised of 

the Company’s share of loss of Cinda Jianrun Property 

Company Limited (“Cinda Jianrun”) in the amount 

of approximately HK$9,261,000 and the Company’s 

share of profit of Zhong Hai You Qi of approximately 

HK$2,170,000 (for the period from 1 January 2019 up 

to the completion of the Merger). For Year 2020, the 

share of profit of an associate was only contributed by 

the Company’s share of profit of Cinda Jianrun and the 

turnaround from a loss of approximately HK$7,091,000 

for Year 2019 to a profit of approximately HK$3,325,000 

for Year 2020 was mainly due to the increase in the fair 

value gain of Cinda Jianrun’s investments.

e. Share of profit or loss of a joint venture

The share of resul t of a jo int venture recorded 

a  t u r n a ro u n d f r o m a  p ro f i t  o f  a p p rox i m a te l y 

H K $10 8 ,822,0 0 0  f o r  Ye a r  2019  to  a  l o s s  o f 

approximately HK$404,061,000 for Year 2020, mainly 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

f. Loan receivables

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Carrying amounts under non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � * 
 ° �h � * �&�= 231,932 160,896

Carrying amounts under current assets � t 
 � � � � * 
 ° �h � * �&�= 1,207,369 1,198,099�� ��  ��

Total �< �X 1,439,301 1,358,995�� ��  ��

The increase in total loan receivables as at 31 

December 2020 was mainly attributable to the advance 

of short term loans to business partners and certain 

third parties for better returns during Year 2020.

g. Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

The increase in deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables from approximately HK$192,987,000 as at 

31 December 2019 to approximately HK$420,467,000 

as at 31 December 2020 was mainly attributable to (1) 

a deposit of approximately HK$107,273,000 paid by 

the Group during Year 2020 to acquire non-performing 

assets; (2) a deposit of approximately HK$95,000,000 

paid by the Group dur ing Year 2020 to acquire 

an investment; and (3) a deposit of approximately 

HK$2,400,000 paid by the Group during Year 2020 to 

acquire an asset management company in Hong Kong.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

h. Cash and bank balances

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Pledged bank deposits �ê �å �Õ � � �À �› 23,753 22,321

Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 769,767 190,247�� ��  ��

Total �< �X 793,520 212,568�� ��  ��

The increase in total cash and bank balances as 

at 31 December 2020 was mainly due to additional 

loans drawn down and the issue of senior note 

by the Company during Year 2020. The cash and 

bank balances (including pledged bank deposits) 

of the Group as at 31 December 2020 were mainly 

denominated in HK$, RMB and United States dollars 

(“US$”).

The Group conducted its business almost exclusively in 

RMB except that certain transactions were conducted 

in HK$ and US$. The conversion of RMB into HK$, US$ 

or other foreign currencies has been based on the rates 

set by the People’s Bank of China. The value of RMB 

against HK$, US$ and other foreign currencies may 

fluctuate and is affected by factors, such as changes 

in the PRC’s political and economic conditions. The 

Group has not adopted any financial instruments for 

hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly 

assess the foreign exchange risk it encounters so as 

to decide on the hedging policy required against the 

possible foreign exchange risk that may arise.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

ADJUSTMENTS ARISING FROM PRIOR YEAR 
PROVISIONAL ACCOUNTING

As stated in the Company’s annual report for Year 2019 
(“2019 Annual Report”), (i) the management of the Company 
has engaged an external valuer to perform the valuations 
of the enterprise value of TZ United East and the fair value 
of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of ZHYQ JV as 
at the date of completion of the Merger (i.e. 15 July 2019) 
to determine the gain on disposal of a subsidiary and the 
gain on bargain purchase from the Merger, respectively; (ii) 
the gain on bargain purchase from the Merger disclosed in 
the 2019 Annual Report was determined on a provisional 
basis as at 31 December 2019 as the Group was in the 
process of completing valuation to assess the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets and liabilities of ZHYQ JV; and (iii) 
the provisional gain on bargain purchase may be adjusted 
retrospectively upon the completion of the initial accounting 
for the acquisition for the additional interest in ZHYQ JV 
during the measurement period, which shall not exceed one 
year from the acquisition date.

Due to the then travel and other restrictions (including 
the 14-day quarantine policy implemented by the local 
government of Taizhou) in force in parts of China to combat 
the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Company’s independent 
valuer and auditor were unable to enter into the premises of 
ZHYQ JV located in Taizhou, the PRC, to conduct fieldwork, 
which is required for them to complete their fair value 
assessment of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of 
ZHYQ JV. As the Group was in the process of completing 
valuation to assess the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
and liabilities of ZHYQ JV during Year 2019 for the reasons 
mentioned above, only a provisional calculation (“Provisional 
Calculation”) of the net identifiable assets and liabilities 
of ZHYQ JV has been made as of 15 July 2019, being the 
completion date of the Merger. The Group completed the fair 
value assessment of the net identifiable assets and liabilities 
of ZHYQ JV in mid-July 2020 and the Company’s auditor 
has finished their audit on 29 March 2021. On completion of 
the fair value assessments, retrospective adjustments (“Prior 
Year Adjustments”) were made to the Provisional Calculation. 
Details of the Prior Year Adjustments are set out in Note 4 to 
the consolidated financial statements.
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ADJUSTMENTS ARISING FROM PRIOR YEAR 
PROVISIONAL ACCOUNTING (Continued)

The material difference between the Provisional Calculation 

and the finalised amount of the net identifiable assets and 

liabilities of ZHYQ JV was attributable to the delay in the 

process of inventory and fixed asset reconciliation conducted 

at ZHYQ JV as a result of the suspension of business travel 

by the Company’s valuer and auditor to Taizhou.

The Prior Year Adjustments are made in accordance with 

paragraph 45 of HKFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations. 

The gain on bargain purchase from the Merger was 

determined on a provisional basis as at 31 December 2019. 

The Group has finalised the fair value assessment of the 

net identifiable assets and liabilities of ZHYQ JV during Year 

2020 and as a result, the gain on bargain purchase from 

the Merger was restated from HK$242.7 million to HK$177.4 

million in the profit or loss for the comparative period during 

Year 2020 and the Prior Year Adjustments are made. The 

Board is of the view that the accounting for the Merger are 

made in accordance with the relevant HKFRSs and is not 

aware of any non-compliance with the relevant accounting 

standard. The Board and the Audit Committee are of 

the view that the Prior Year Adjustments are appropriate 

and have been properly made because they are made in 

accordance with applicable accounting standards.
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ADJUSTMENTS ARISING FROM PRIOR YEAR 
PROVISIONAL ACCOUNTING (Continued)

(iii) engaged internal valuation specialists to assist in the 

assessment of the methodologies applied and the key 

assumptions and estimates adopted in the valuation of 

TZ United East and the identifiable assets and liabilities 

of ZHYQ JV;

(iv) checked the arithmetical accuracy of the amount of 

gain on disposal of a subsidiary and gain on bargain 

purchase from the Merger; and

(v) assessed the adequacy o f  the d isc losu res o f 

the Merger in the Group’s consolidated f inancial 

statements.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements and the finalised 

calculation of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of 

ZHYQ JV during Year 2020. The Company has engaged an 

external valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal 

and Advisory Limited, to per form the provisional and 

f inalised valuations of the fair value of net identif iable 

assets and liabilities of ZHYQ JV for Year 2019 and Year 

2020 respectively. As set out on page 95 of this report, the 

Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued an opinion 

that the Group’s consolidated financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and have been properly 

prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance. The Board and the Company’s auditor do 

not consider the Prior Year Adjustments are made due to 
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy under 

which the Group keeps its investment costs under control 

and manages the returns of its investments efficiently. The 

Group has guidelines in place to monitor and control its 
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WORKING CAPITAL AND BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total borrowings 

amounted to approximately HK$3,172,884,000 in aggregate. 

The composition of these borrowings is summarised below:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� ��

Short term borrowings �õ � ‚ �> 
 r 217,848 261,941

Long term borrowings �—� ‚ �> 
 r 1,571,112 672,991

Senior note � ´ � ‹ �C �½ 151,461 —

Convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N 1,232,463 1,170,351�� ��  ��

Total borrowings �> 
 r �< �X 3,172,884 2,105,283

Cash and bank balances (including pledged 

bank deposits)

�$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q�€� 
 �< �Š�ê�å �Õ

�� �À �›�• 793,520 212,568�� ��  ��

Net borrowings �> 
 r � � �X 2,379,364 1,892,715�� ��  ��

Interests for all borrowings of the Group for Year 2020 were 

charged at fixed and floating rates ranging from 5.35% per 

annum to 12% per annum (Year 2019: 3% to 12%).

Out of the long term and short term borrowings of the Group 

which remained outstanding as at 31 December 2020, 

nil (31 December 2019: HK$130,000,000), approximately 

HK$1,691,363,000 (31 December 2019: HK$804,932,000) 

and approximately HK$97,597,000 (31 December 2019: 

nil) were denominated in HK$, RMB and US$ respectively, 

and approximately HK$587,886,000 (31 December 2019: 

HK$715,938,000) car r ied f loat ing interest rates and 

approximately HK$1,201,074,000 (31 December 2019: 

HK$218,994,000) carried f ixed interest rates. As at 31 

December 2020, the Company also had outstanding senior 

note and convertible bonds due in December 2021 and July 

2022 respectively, which were of the aggregate principal 

amount of US$19,800,000 and HK$1,150,000,000 with 

interest payable at 7.5% and 7% per annum respectively.
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W O R K I N G  C A P I TA L  A N D  B O R R O W I N G S 
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and bank 
ba la nc e s ( i nc l ud ing p l e dge d ba nk de pos i t s)  we re 
approx imate ly HK$793,520,000 (31 December 2019: 
HK$212,568,000) in aggregate, out of which approximately 
5.6%, approximately 92.5% and approximately 1.9% were 
denominated in HK$, RMB and US$ respectively. As at 
31 December 2020, the Group’s net borrowings (interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior note and 
convertible bonds net of pledged bank deposits and cash 
and bank balances) were approximately HK$2,379,364,000 
(31 December 2019: HK$1,892,715,000), which comprised (1) 
a bank borrowing in the principal amount of approximately 
RMB495,000,000 (31 December 2019: RMB525,000,000) 
repayable by instalments with the last instalment due in 
2026; (2) a loan in the principal amount of approximately 
RMB670,000,000 (31 December 2019: nil) due in December 
2023; (3) a loan in the principal amount of approximately 
RMB120,000,000 (31 December 2019: RMB120,000,000) 
due in December 2021; (4) a loan in the principal amount 
of approximately RMB123,000,000 (31 December 2019: 
Nil) due in May 2022; (5) loans in the aggregate principal 
amount of approximately RMB28,128,000 (31 December 
2019: RMB76,219,000) repayable on demand; (6) loans 
in the aggregate pr inc ipa l amount of approx imate ly 
US$12,512,000 (31 December 2019: nil) due in June 2022; 
(7) convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of 
HK$1,150,000,000 (31 December 2019: HK$1,150,000,000) 
due in July 2022; and (8) senior note in the aggregate 
principal amount of US$19,800,000 (31 December 2019: nil) 
due in December 2021, and the Group’s net current assets 
were approximately HK$3,221,138,000 (31 December 2019: 
HK$2,284,982,000 (restated)). In addition, the Group had 
fully utilised its banking facilities as at 31 December 2020 (31 
December 2019: unutilised banking facilities of approximately 
HK$80,000,000). There is generally no material seasonality 
of the borrowing requirements of the Group. Based on the 
foregoing information, the Board is confident that the Group 
has adequate working capital to meet its daily operations 
and to finance its future expansion. Notwithstanding this, the 
Board will seek to dispose of the Group’s short and medium 
term investments to replenish the Group’s funds in order to 
further enhance the Group’s working capital to a stronger 
level.
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W O R K I N G  C A P I TA L  A N D  B O R R O W I N G S 
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio (calculated as 

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, senior note 

and convertible bonds issued by the Company over equity 

attributable to owners of the Company) and the current ratio 

(calculated as current assets over current liabilities) of the 

Group were 48% (31 December 2019: 32%) and 5.2x (31 

December 2019: 4.5x (restated)) respectively. These ratios 

are key performance indicators used by the management of 

the Group to measure the Group’s level of leverage to ensure 

the Group has the liquidity to meet its financial obligations at 

all times. Both ratios have been maintained at good levels.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group pledged cer tain 

investment properties and leasehold land and buildings 

w i t h  a g g re g a te  c a r r y i n g  va l u e s  o f  a p p rox i m a te l y 

HK$2,542,850,000 (31 December 2019: HK$2,408,486,000) 

and HK$198,800,000 (31 December 2019: HK$241,800,000) 

respectively to secure general banking facilities and other 

payable granted to an independent third party.

At 31 December 2020, bank deposits of approximately 

HK$23,753,000 (31 December 2019: HK$22,321,000) were 

pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to a 

joint venture of the Group.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital expenditures in 2021 are expected to 

be settled by cash through internal resources of the Group. 

Details of the capital commitments of the Group as at 31 

December 2020 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated 

financial statements. Other than those as disclosed, the 

management of the Group does not expect there to be any 

plans for material investments or capital assets in 2021 with 

reference to the current situation as at the date of this annual 

report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group did not have 

any material contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the shareholders’ funds of the 

Group decreased by approximately HK$62,450,000 to 

approximately HK$6,559,754,000 (31 December 2019: 

HK$6,622,204,000 (restated)), representing a decline of 

approximately 0.9%. The decrease was mainly due to (1) 

the increase in revaluation loss of leasehold properties in 

Year 2020; and (2) the loss attributable to the owners of the 

Company in Year 2020, which were partially offset by the 

increase in foreign exchange translation.
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ISSUE OF SENIOR NOTE (Continued)

On 18 December 2020, the Company issued the Senior 

Note in the aggregate principal amount of US$19,800,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$154,440,000) to the 

Investor. The Board considered that the issue of the Senior 

Note represented an opportunity to obtain funding for the 

Group. The net proceeds, after deducting issuance costs, 

received by the Company from the issue of the Senior Note 

amounting to approximately US$19,300,000 (equivalent 

to approximately HK$150,540,000), would be used by the 

Group as its general working capital. As at the date of this 

report, the net proceeds from the issue of the Senior Note 

have been fully utilised by the Group as intended.

Fur ther details of the Senior Note are set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2020.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

Employee and remuneration policies

The Group had in aggregate 104 employees in Hong Kong 

and the PRC as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 

2019: 96). The Group’s overal l staf f costs amounted 

to approximately HK$66,788,000 for Year 2020 (Year 

2019: HK$60,992,000). The employees of the Group are 

remunerated according to their respective job nature, market 

conditions, individual performance and qualifications. Other 

staff benefits include annual bonus and retirement benefits. 

The Directors’ remuneration is determined based on their 

qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities, the 

Company’s remuneration policy and the prevailing market 

conditions.

The Group encourages sustainable training of its employees 

through coaching and further studies. In-house training was 

provided to eligible employees during Year 2020, including 

training on updates of accounting standards and market 

updates.

The Group has not experienced any significant problem 

with its employees or disruption to its operations due to 

labour discipline nor has it experienced any difficulty in the 

recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group 

has maintained a good relationship with its employees. 

Certain senior management and staff have been working for 

the Group for many years.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Company aims to maximise the interests of i ts 

shareholders and at the same time maintaining a strong 

and healthy financial position, so as to prepare the Group 

for investment opportunities that may arise from time to 

time and its sustainable development in the future. In 

deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining 

the dividend amount, the Board will take into account the 

Group’s earnings performance, financial position, investment 

requirements and future prospects. In addition, the Board 

will also take into account any restrictive covenants imposed 

by banks and other funding facilities granted to the Group 

from time to time and any other factors the Board may deem 

appropriate and/or relevant.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a 

final dividend for Year 2020 (Year 2019: Nil).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) 

as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) 

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as its own code 

of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All 

Directors have confirmed that, following specific enquiry by 

the Company, they complied with the required standards set 

out in the Model Code throughout Year 2020.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During Year 2020, neither the Company nor any of its 

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s listed securities.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would l ike to express my 
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Executive Directors

Huang Jiajue (CEO)

Mr. Huang, aged 50, was appointed as an executive Director 

on 29 January 2019 and as the chief executive officer of the 

Company (“CEO”) on 2 September 2019. Mr. Huang is also a 

member of the remuneration committee of the Company and 

is one of the authorised representatives of the Company. 

Mr. Huang is a deputy chairman and an executive director 

of Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited (“Zhuguang 

Holdings”), a company the shares of which are listed on 

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1176), 

which is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning of the 

Listing Rules) whose interest in the ordinary shares of the 

Company (“Shares”) falls to be disclosed to the Company 

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Mr. Huang 

obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration 

from the Sun Yat-Sen University in the PRC. He has over 20 

years of financial management experience in the property 

development industry in the PRC.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Luo Zhihai

Mr. Luo, aged 58, was appointed as an executive Director 

on 29 January 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Luo 

worked in China Construction Bank, Huajian International 

(Macau) Co., Ltd., China Cinda and Guangdong Yuecai 

Asset Management Co., Ltd.. He has served successively 

as the head of Xiaohuayuan Office of Meixian Sub-branch 

of China Construction Bank, deputy general manager of 

the international business department of Meizhou Branch 

of China Construction Bank, general manager of the 

international business department of Zhuhai Branch of 

China Construction Bank, managing director of Huajian 

International (Macau) Co., Ltd., the head of the entity 

depar tment, the investment banking depar tment, the 

marketing department and the business department of China 

Cinda Guangzhou Office and deputy managing director of 

Guangdong Yuecai Asset Management Co., Ltd.. Mr. Luo 

received his Bachelor’s Degree in engineering from South 

China University of Technology in 1983. He has accumulated 

more than 30 years of experiences in banking, investment 

banking, real estate investment and non-performing financial 

assets, especially with extensive practical experiences in the 

assets management industry. Meanwhile, Mr. Luo has a high 

reputation in the PRC’s local assets management industry.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Tang Lunfei

Mr. Tang, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director 

on 11 January 2021. He obtained his Bachelor of Economics 

from the Chongqing Institute of Technology of the PRC 

in June 2000 and his Master of National Economics from 

the Sichuan University of the PRC in June 2003. Mr. Tang 

has over 16 years of experience in the financial industry. 

He joined China Cinda Asset Management Corporation 

(currently known as China Cinda Asset Management Co., 

Ltd. (“China Cinda”), a company the shares of which are 

listed on the Stock Exchange) (Stock codes: 01359 and 

04607 (Preference Shares)), as the business manager of its 

Chengdu office from July 2003 to April 2005. Subsequently, 

he worked at the Financial Stability Bureau of The People’s 

Bank of China from May 2005 to June 2006, where he was 

responsible for resolving the risks associated with securities 

companies. Mr. Tang then joined Cinda Securities Company 

Limited from June 2006 to June 2012 with his last position 

as the business director. From June 2012 to July 2019, he 

worked at China Cinda with his last position as the chief 

and specialised approver of various departments of the 

company. Since July 2019, Mr. Tang has been serving 

as the chief risk and compliance officer of China Cinda 

(HK) Holdings Company Limited (“Cinda HK”), which is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of China Cinda. Both China Cinda 

and Cinda HK are substantial Shareholders (within the 

meaning of the Listing Rules) whose interests in the Shares 

fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of 

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. With effect from 

13 May 2020, Mr. Tang has been appointed as an executive 

director of Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited 

(“Zhongchang”), a company the shares of which are listed on 

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 859).
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Non-executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (alias Zhu Qing Yi) (Chairman)

Mr. Chu, aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive 
Director and the chairman of the Board on 29 January 2019. 
Mr. Chu is also a member and the committee chairman of 
the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chu is the 
chairman and an executive director of Zhuguang Holdings, 
a company the shares of which are listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1176), which is 
a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing 
Rules) whose interest in the Shares falls to be disclosed 
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 
3 of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Chu has over 20 years of 
extensive experience in corporate management and property 
development in the PRC.

Chen Zhiwei

Mr. Chen, aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive 
Director on 29 January 2019. Mr. Chen is the chairman and 
an executive director of Zhongchang, a company the shares 
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
(Stock code: 859). Mr. Chen is the assistant general manager 
and managing director of the investment department of 
Cinda HK, responsible for managing Cinda HK’s investment 
and f inancing businesses. Cinda HK is a substantial 
Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing Rules), whose 
interest in the Shares falls to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO. Mr. Chen graduated from Tsinghua University with a 
bachelor’s degree in Economics in 2004. He then graduated 
from the National University of Singapore with a master’s 
degree in Science (Estate Management) in 2009. Mr. Chen 
was the executive assistant to the chairman of TIG Group 
in Singapore between 2007 and 2010, responsible for TIG 
Group’s private equity investment business in the Greater 
China region. Between 2005 and 2007, Mr. Chen was a 
research scholar at the National University of Singapore. 
Mr. Chen has over 10 years of investment and research 
experience in finance industry. Mr. Chen is also a non-
executive director of the following companies, the shares of 
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange: (i) 
China Fortune Financial Group Limited (Stock code: 290); (ii) 
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Zhang Lu

Mr. Zhang, aged 68, was appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director on 4 May 2000. He is also the 

chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company 

and a member of the audit committee and the nomination 

committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from the 

Sichuan International Studies University in 1979. He was the 

General Manager of CITIC Central Tanshi Money Brokering 

Company Limited, which is a joint venture of CITIC Trust Co., 

Ltd. engaged in the money brokering business for financial 

institutions. From 1987 to 2000, Mr. Zhang was the executive 

vice president and treasurer of CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited, 

responsible for both the Treasury and International Business. 

From 1974 to 1987, he worked for Bank of China and CITIC 

Industrial Bank. Mr. Zhang has engaged in the banking 

sector for over 35 years.

Liang Qing

Mr. Liang, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director on 28 February 2014. He is also a member 

of the audit committee and the remuneration committee 

of the Company. Mr. Liang is also currently an executive 

director and an independent non-executive director of 

Jiangxi Copper Company Limited (“Jiangxi Copper”) (Stock 

code: 358) and Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited (“Sinotruk”) 

(Stock code: 3808) respectively. The H shares of Jiangxi 

Copper and Sinotruk are listed on the Main Board of the 

Stock Exchange. Mr. Liang graduated from the Beijing Open 

University (formerly known as Beijing Radio and Television 

University) in 1985, where he studied Chinese language and 

literature. Mr. Liang was a director and the general manager 

of China Minmetal H.K. (Holdings) Limited and has now 

retired. Mr. Liang has abundant experience in international 

trading and investment.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Hung Muk Ming

Mr. Hung, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director on 23 December 2004. He is also the 

chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a 

member of the nomination committee of the Company. 

Mr. Hung is a Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) and 

is a Fellow CPA of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. He is also a fellow member of the 

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow 



PROFILE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 	÷ 	 t �M �# � [ �p� 
 � §

Annual Report 2020 �Z�g�Z�g �Ë �Ë �� 37

�î�;

� î � ‹ � [ � $ � Ë 64�K�d�� 2019� Ë � � � ‰ � ‚ � ‰ � I � ®
� ! 
 B � � � < 
 R� d� � � ª � M � # � I 
 « �   � µ � H � Å � ˜� d
�
 �< �� �A �Å�e�[ �b �� �U �Å�e�, �ˆ �M �# �Å �¿
�,
� �Å�f�î�‹�[�€�‚�ê��	Ì�¾�}�ª
� 
º 
¬�e
�B � { �¼ �ú � [ �¬ � ª�e	 Ì �6�û 
 � �ô� ‚ �e �¼ �ú � [
� Å � ô � ‚ 
 � � � 
 �� i� X� d � Ë � þ � • � ‚ 	 Î� d� î � ‹ � [
�€ �õ �• 
7 �� �£ �Õ �� �? �� �² �± �� �” �• �Å �˜ � 

�< 	 Ì 
 � �Å�¿�2 � � �Å �Ä � ‚ �µ �H � � � � �½ �Å� ˜ � ˆ
�—�e�< �¾ �# �¿�Z 	t �± �Õ �� � � �—�f �î �‹ � [ �€
� Ü � h 
 Y � 8 � ã � , � d � q � Å� e� ï � Œ
 Y � 8 � � � Ö� Z� d
�q �Ð� f �¾ �ô �5�¿ 
 � �~ �ð � • 
7 � • �_ �Å 
? �–
 °
� f� f � ¾ � H � ê � – � D� e� 6 � � � e � ¾ � ö � ª � # � � � e 
  
�8 �Õ � � � � � 6 �~ � , � ˆ �M �# �¼� · �¾ � � � f� î � ‹ � [
� $ � ‚ � ? � � � ² � ô � 8 � ³ � � � X � 6 
 l 
 � 
 � � 6 � —� e� ?
� � � ² �M �# �6 � � � ª �X �6 
 � � 6 �—�d�ø �¿� • � † � }
�ª�e �ì � Ì �} �ª �e�? �� 	 Ì �¾ �} �ª 
 � � ] �¤ 	÷ �ç
�˜�ç �. �¬ �ª �f

�Ó�Q�À

� Ó � ‹ � [ � $ � Ë 56�K�d �õ 2016�Ë5�Ü1� Ú �  � - � �
� ‘ � I �®�! � f �Ó �‹ � [ �$ �‰ �I �®�! �Y �I �• �S �¤



PROFILE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

38

�·�²�ƒ

� · � ‹ � [ �$ �Ë 66�K�d�õ 2015�Ë� � � ] � I 
« �   �¿
�� 2019� Ë � � � ‰ � ‚ � ‰ � I � ®� ! 
 B � � � < 
 R� d� ± � M
� i �0 � · � ˆ � ³ � � �¿ � ´ �ë � ˆ � * � f � · � ‹ � [ �u �‰ 	 �
�È �� 	 � � i � · �Þ �" �®�!�€�˜	 � �È �� 	 ��™�•�€�I �®�!
�˜
œ
Ÿ�¢�Œ���¹�Þ�•�n�®�!�•�¿�•	��0	��€	�
�È�•� i � · �Þ �" �®�!�€� I �®�! � · �@ 	� �È � � 	 � �5
�Þ51%�p �Æ �̃�®�!�•�̃�è �+�6 �ô �©�f�· �‹ �[
�- �8 �õ �Â �u �ˆ �ª 	ë �i �· �ˆ �8 
Y �8�d�( �_ 
{
� ³ � � � t � · �Å � ¦ � } � ª � ˆ � ª �B � { � ª � �� f � · � ‹ � [
� u � € � ¯ � • 
 7 � i � 0 � · � ˆ � p � … � Þ � " � ® � !� €� S 
 œ
�p �…�õ �L� t �Ô�ô� � � j�9� ˜ �®� !�€�p �…�þ � î� j
0386�•�e	 � �ê� • � • � i � ·�e� j 	 � � • �× � i � · 
 � 
«
�   �®� ! �Ä � ‚ �M �# 
 j � � � ˆ � * � f � · � ‹ � [ � ¯ �M �#
�¿� i � · � ˆ �8 � � �8 �Þ �C 40�Ë�Y �¾ � � � f

�ÿ �A

�ÿ �A �‹ � [ �$ �Ë 53�K�d�� 2020� Ë � � � ‰ � ‚ � ‰ � I
�®�! 
B �� �< 
R�d�± �M 
? �– �8 
� �± �Å�f �� �/



PROFILE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 	÷ 	 t �M �# � [ �p� 
 � §

Annual Report 2020 �Z�g�Z�g �Ë �Ë �� 39

�N	���

�N�‹�[�d 47�K�d���‰�‚�‰�I�®�!	Ì
��<�9�e
�®�! 	d �ã�¿ 
¬ �Æ �þ �Œ�d�� 2019�Ë7�Ü17�Ú	Î
� [ �Ö�f �õ � � � ] � I �®� ! �Ã�d�N �‹ � [ �‰ �; �Ä �Ç
�N 
« � �€
› �p�•�Þ �" �® �!�€�p �… �þ �î�j 0231�•
� ˜ 	 Ì 
 � �< �9�d�¿	 . � ˆ
 › �p�€�p�…�þ� î� j 1176�•

�€� I �‰�ô � � �p � �� €� › �È � � � j� 9 � • �Æ� •�d�õ �p �…
� • � ¹ � Þ � ì � ½ � Ç � N� ¿ � ‚ � ¬ 
 â � 7 � K XV� Å � K2�¿
3�± �Å 
² �£ �I�®�! �Þ �£ �˜ �Æ 	B�•�˜ 	Ì 
 � �< �9
�¿ �®�! 	d �ã�d� j � � �G 
œ �®�! � i �‰ �p �…�õ �L
� t �Ô �ô � � � j � 9 � ˜ �®� ! � f �¾ �u �€ � ‚ �S 
œ �Ò�®
� * �®� ! � ¿�S 
œ� I � • � n �®� ! � õ � • 
 7 
 } � + �& � �
� 8 
 � � ˜ �®� ! � ˜ � / �© 	 Ì 
 � �œ� f �N � ‹ � [ � ¹ �Þ �C
15�Ë �6 � � �¿ �2 � � �¾ � � � f �¾ �€ �õ 1997�Ë2�Ü
�� 2010�Ë 4�Ü �õ � ¯ � 6 �Õ �Q �8 � 6 � � � ª � + 
 � �Ô
� ‚ � � � f �N � ‹ � [ �5 �Þ �æ � r �å �ø �# � } � ª 
  �8 � ª
�B �{�d�( �‰ �0 �¥ �6 �� �ª �®�6 �� �	 �6 �p �¿ �æ
�r 
B �8 �6 �� �ª �®�6 �6�p�f

	}�Ÿ

	}�‹ �[�d 38�K�d�� 2020�Ë 6�Ü� � �‰� ‚ �‰� I�®
� ! �< 
R �? �#�d�± �M 
« �   � [ � b � � �U �q � � �A �M
�#� ˆ � * � f � - �8 �õ � • �† � } � ª�d�_ 
 { � , � ª � ª � {
�q �, �ª �B �{ �ª ���f �€ �‹ �� �‚ �� �õ �? �� �² �9
�À �‰�p�6�e�? � � � ² �A � ´ � l �® �B�d
 } �+ �À �u

 »� e� , � � � A 
 � � ~ � � � A � ] � ¥ � M � # 
 � � ˆ � * � f � Ø
� � � ® � � � � � � � ] 	 . � ˆ 
 › � p� €� ‰ � S 
 œ � p � … � õ � L
� t � Ô � ô � � � j � 9 � Y � ®� !� €� p � … � þ � î� j 1176�•�•�$
� ‰ � ô � � � p � �� €� › � È � � � j � 9 � • � Æ� •� d� ò � I � õ � p
� … � • � Y � Æ 	 B 
 ² � ì � ½ � Ç � N � ¿ � ‚ � ¬ 
 â � 7 � KXV
� Å � K2�¿ 3�± �Å �Y 
â �Ö �£ � I �®�! �Þ �£�d�‹ � �
�Ä�‚��
«� �<
R�l�€�[�b���U�•�Ð�•�<�¾�#�e
� , 
 � � • � Ð � < � ¾ � #� e � ³ � � � Ô 
 � � ‰� p� 6 � ‰� p � R
� ³ � � � • �Ð �< �¾ �#�e� * �8 �® � * � � 
 ï � è �+ �—� f
�$ �R � ‚ �? � � � ² � ¡ �L �‰�p�e�? � � � ² � , � ª �6 �#
�+�e�? � � � ² �g � � � · �¿ �X �6 � , � � �‰�p�6 
 � �ô
�‚ �e�ì �Ì �}�ª �B�{ �¼ �ú�[ �¼ �5 �¬ �ª 
� � f

Ng Hoi Leung, Leo

Mr. Ng, aged 47, has been appointed as the ch ief 
financial officer, the company secretary and an authorised 
representative of the Company with effect from 17 July 
2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ng was the financial 
controller of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited 
(Stock code: 0231), and the financial controller and the 
company secretary of Zhuguang Holdings (Stock code: 
1176), which is a substantial Shareholder (within the meaning 
of the Listing Rules) and whose interest in the Shares 
falls to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions 
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, both being 
companies the shares of which are listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange. He was also the chief financial officer 
of a real estate company and a company whose subsidiary 
was engaged in the media business in the PRC. Mr. Ng has 
over 15 years of accounting and audit experience. He had 
worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers, an accounting firm 
from February 1997 to April 2010. Mr. Ng holds a Master of 
Commerce from the Macquarie University in Australia and 
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a member of the Certified Practising 
Accountants of Australia.

Weng Jian

Mr. Weng, aged 38, has been appointed as the executive 
ass is tant of the Company s ince June 2020 and is 
responsib le for human resources and administrat ive 
management of the Group. He graduated from Sun Yat-
sen University with a bachelor degree in Law and a master 
degree in Law. He previously worked in the Guangdong 
Provincial Supervisory Commission and the Of f ice of 
the Guangdong Provincial Government, where he was 
engaged in the management of anti-corruption, legal policy 
and comprehensive administration. After resigning from 
public office, he joined Zhuguang Holdings, a company 
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1176), which is a substantial 
Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) whose 
interest in the Shares falls to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO, and successively served as its general manager of 
the Group President Office (Human Resources Center), 
general manager of the Legal Affairs Center, member of 
the Investment Decision Committee, general manager of 
the Investment Center and chairman of the industrial real 
estate sector. He is also a member of the Guangdong Youth 
Federation, a member of the Guangdong Law Society, a 
deputy director of the Legal Committee of Guangdong 
Three Olds Reform Association and a practical instructor for 
postgraduates of the Jinan University.
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The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of 

its businesses and the communities with which it engages. 

The Group pursues this business approach by managing its 

business prudently and executing management decisions 

with due care and attention.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group has maintained a continuous dialogue with 

its stakeholders that include its customers, employees, 

regulators and the public. The Group seeks to balance 

the views and interests of these various stakeholders 

through constructive conversations with a view to charting 

a course for the long-term prosperity of the Group and the 

communities.

Customers

Customer feedback plays an important role in the operation 

of the Group. Various channels, such as telephone hotlines 

and customer service front desks, have been established to 

maintain interactive communications between the Group and 

its customers.

Employees

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone 

of a company. The Group treasures its loyal and industrious 

staff members. In addition, it has adopted non-discriminatory 

hiring and employment practices and it strives to provide a 

safe and healthy workplace for its employees.

Government & Public

Tough efforts have been exerted to ensure compliance with 

the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in which the 

Group operates. The public at large is also an important 

stakeholder of the Group. A stable and prosperous 

community is important to the steady growth and long-term 

future prospects of the Group.
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Workplace Quality

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 104 staff 

members (31 December 2019: 96). Total employee costs for 

Year 2020, including Directors’ emoluments, amounted to 

approximately HK$66,788,000 (Year 2019: HK$60,992,000).

The quality of its employees is crucial for the Group to 

maintain a competitive position in the market. With this 

in mind, the Group seeks to attract and retain talented 

individuals who are committed to achieving goals and 

objectives of the Group and provides a work environment 

that nurtures values such as fair play, respect and integrity. 

The Group values career development of its staf f and 

provides ongoing training to them according to the needs 

of the Group. The Group offers competitive compensation 

packages to its employees, who are rewarded according to 

their performance. The Group reviews its salary structure, 

working conditions, bonuses and incentive systems annually. 

The Group’s employees are entitled to benefits such as 

medical cover, provident funds and share options scheme.

The Group is committed to providing a healthy and safe 

workplace for all its employees and complying with all 

applicable health and safety laws and regulations. Health 

and safety considerations are incorporated into the design, 

operations and maintenance of the premises of the Group. 

Employees are provided with appropriate job skills and safety 

training and are educated with regard to their responsibilities 

for achieving the health and safety objectives of the Group. 

The Group also communicates with its employees on 

occupational health and safety issues.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining 

a standard of corporate governance that is consistent with 

market practices. The Company complied with all mandatory 

provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code 

(“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules 

throughout Year 2020, except for code provision E.1.2 of the 

CG Code.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the 

Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of 

the Company. Mr. Chu Hing Tsung, the Chairman, did not 

attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 

12 June 2020 due to his prior engagement. The Chairman 

will endeavor to attend all future annual general meetings of 

the Company unless unexpected or special circumstances 

preventing him from doing so.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Group’s 

corporate governance practices to ensure compliance.

The following summarises the Company’s key corporate 

governance practices.
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Board of Directors

Board Composition

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s long-

term strategies, set ting business development goals, 

assessing the results of management policies, monitoring 

management’s performance and ensuring the existence 

of an effective internal control system. The Board is led by 

Mr. Chu Hing Tsung, who is the Chairman. The Chairman, 

with the support of the company secretary (“Company 

Secretary”) of the Company, is responsible for ensuring that 

the Directors receive adequate and complete information in 

a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues arising at 

the Board meetings and that all key and appropriate issues 

are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

The management, led by Mr. Huang Jiajue who is the CEO, 

focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies 

approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of 

the Group’s day-to-day management and operations. The 

CEO is also responsible for developing strategic plans and 

formulating the organisational structure, control systems, 

internal procedures and processes for the Board’s approval.

The independent non-execut ive D i rectors ser ve the 

important function of ensuring and monitoring the basis of 

an effective corporate governance framework of the Group.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and 

the CEO is clearly established and set out in writing. The 

roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separated and are 

performed by different persons to avoid concentrations of 

authorities to one single person.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises three 

executive Directors, namely, Mr. Huang Jiajue, Mr. Luo 

Zhihai and Mr. Tang Lunfei (who has been appointed with 

effect from 11 January 2021), two non-executive Directors, 

namely, Mr. Chu Hing Tsung and Mr. Chen Zhiwei, and three 

independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liang 

Qing, Mr. Zhang Lu and Mr. Hung Muk Ming. Mr. Gao Jian 

Min has resigned as a non-executive Director with effect 

from 1 January 2020 and Mr. Ma Yilin has resigned as an 

executive Director with effect from 11 January 2021.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 31 

to 36 of this annual report. The number of the independent 

non-executive Directors represents no less than one-third of 

the Board members.

Members of the Board possess the appropriate expertise 

and skills to discharge their duties.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The Company’s Directors, Mr. Tang Lunfei and Mr. Chen 

Zhiwei are also directors and/or senior officers of Cinda HK. 

Mr. Chu Hing Tsung, the Chairman, and Mr. Huang Jiajue, 

the CEO, are also directors and shareholders of Zhuguang 

Holdings. Cinda HK and Zhuguang Holdings are substantial 

Shareholders (within the meaning of the Listing Rules). 

Save for the aforesaid, there is no relationship between the 

members of the Board, in terms of financial, business, family 

or other material/relevant relationship.

To assist the Board in discharging its duties and to fulfil 

the requirements of the CG Code, three standing Board 

commit tees were set up under the Board: the audit 

committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination 

commit tee. The Board wi l l set up an ad hoc Board 

committee as and when necessary to handle specific issues 

and report back to the Board.

The Board considers that each independent non-executive 

Director is independent in character and judgment and 

meets the specific independence criteria as required by 

the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each 

independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation 

confirming his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 

Listing Rules.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and 

regulatory matters. There are established procedures for 

Directors to obtain independent professional advice, at the 

expense of the Company, in the furtherance of their duties.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial 

Shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) or a 

Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical 

Board meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by a written 

resolution. Independent non-executive Directors with no 

conflict of interest will be present at Board meetings dealing 

with such conflict issues.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

During Year 2020, 5 Board meetings were held and the 

attendance of each Director is set out below:

Name of Directors Number of meeting attended/held Attendance rate
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Executive Directors
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Huang Jiajue 5/5 100%


» �3 � �

Luo Zhihai 5/5 100%
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Ma Yilin  

(Resigned with effect from 11 January 2021)

0/5 0%
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Non-executive Directors
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Chu Hing Tsung 1/5 20%
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Chen Zhiwei 4/5 80%
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Independent non-executive Directors

�ù�m�¢ 
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Liang Qing 4/5 80%
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Zhang Lu 4/5 80%
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Hung Muk Ming 4/5 80%
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

According to the Articles of Association, the Board has the 

power to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a 

casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. The Director 

so appointed shall hold office until the next general meeting 

(in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next 

annual general meeting (in the case of new addition to the 

Board) following his appointment and shall then be eligible 

for re-election. In other cases, all Directors, including the 

Chairman and the CEO, shall retire by rotation at least once 

every three years at annual general meetings and be eligible 

for re-election.

Change in Board Members

After the end of the reporting period, Mr. Ma Yilin has 

resigned as, and Mr. Tang Lunfei has been appointed as, an 

executive Director with effect from 11 January 2021.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the Board diversity policy in August 

2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve and 

maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the 

effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered that diversity of Board members 

can be achieved through consideration of a number of 

aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 

and educat ional background, ethnic i t y, profess ional 

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board 

appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates 

will be considered against objective criteria, having due 

regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board has developed measurable object ives to 

implement the Board diversity policy whereby selection of 

candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives 

as set out above, and the ultimate decision will be based on 

merit and contribution that the selected candidate will bring 

to the Board.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

An analysis of the Board diversity of the Company as at 31 

December 2020 based on a range of diversity perspectives 

is set out below:
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy was approved and adopted by a 

resolution of the Board passed on 28 December 2018. It 

sets out the criteria and procedures to be adopted when 

considering candidates to be appointed or re-appointed as 

Directors.

Recruitment for the Board is the key role of the nomination 

committee of the Company. Nevertheless, the ultimate 

responsibilities for the selection and appointment of Directors 

rest with the entire Board.

The nomination committee of the Company will select from 

a broad range of candidates and as far as feasible consider 

those who are outside the Board’s circle of contacts in 

accordance with the Company’s Board diversity policy. The 

nomination committee of the Company will consider the 

potential contribution a candidate can bring to the Board in 

terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and 

gender diversity. It will also consider succession planning for 

Directors to ensure the long term success of the Company.

Corporate Governance Committee

The CG Code recommends listed companies to set up a 

corporate governance committee to look after issues relating 

to corporate governance. However, the Directors consider 

that it is more appropriate and efficient for the Company 

to retain in the Board the function of overseeing corporate 

governance issues. The Directors will continuously review 

and improve the Company’s and the Group’s corporate 

governance practices to ensure that business activities and 

decision-making processes of the Group are regulated in a 

proper and prudent manner.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Corporate Governance Committee (Continued)

During Year 2020 and up to the date of this report, the 

corporate governance duties performed by the Board were 

mainly set out below:

— developing and reviewing the Company’s policies 

and practices on corporate governance and making 

recommendations;

— reviewing and monitoring the continuous professional 

development and training of the Directors and senior 

management;

— reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code 

and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;

— reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and 

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements; and

— developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of 

conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 

employees and Directors.

Securities Dealing by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) 

as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own 

code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. 

All Directors have confirmed that, following specific enquiry 

by the Company, they complied with the required standards 

set out in the Model Code throughout Year 2020.

The Company has also adopted codes of conduct regarding 

securities transactions by relevant employees (as defined in 

the CG Code) on terms no less exacting than the required 

standards set out in the Model Code.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit commit tee (“Audit 

Committee”) in 1999. The composition and professional 

qualif ications of the members of the Audit Committee 
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During Year 2020, four Audit Committee meetings were held 
and the attendance of each member is set out below:

Name of Directors Number of meetings attended/held Attendance rate
�è �+ � ‘ �¤ � � � © � 6 � D � ã � p � J� Œ � Å � 6 � D � ã � p � � �© � �
   

Hung Muk Ming
�s �Ý�ü 4/4 100%
Liang Qing

Ñ � ¡ 4/4 100%
Zhang Lu

u - ¨ 4/4 100%

Remuneration Committee

The Company establ ished a remuneration commit tee 
(“Remuneration Committee”) in 2005 and adopted written 
terms of reference which conform to the provisions of the CG 
Code. The terms of reference were revised on 15 February 
2012. The written terms of reference are set out in detail 
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. 
During Year 2020 and as at the date of this report, the 
Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director 
namely, Mr. Huang Jiajue and two independent non-
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

3. Share option

Share options to subscribe for Shares are granted to 
employees from time to time at the discretion of the 
Board in order to retain valuable employees and to 
motivate future performance of the employees.

Share options granted to individual employee are 
determined with reference to his position, performance 
and ability to contribute to the overall success of the 
Group.

However, the Group does not have any share option 
scheme in force for the time being.

4. Other benefits

The Group offers other customary and/or mandatory 
benefits to employees, such as statutory retirement 
scheme, employee compensation, medical insurance, 
paid annual leaves and child education allowance, 
with reference to the prevailing practices in relevant 
jurisdictions.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to review the 
Company’s human resources matters and remuneration 
policies. During Year 2020, no Remuneration Committee 
meetings was held.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and made 
recommendation to the Board on the approval of the 
payment of the Director’s fees to the executive and 
non-executive Directors for Year 2020 af ter taking into 
consideration the results of the Group, the performance of 
the Directors, the senior management and the employees 
and the prevailing market practices.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest 
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to 
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in Notes 9 and 
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company es tab l ished a nominat ion commi t tee 
(“Nomination Committee”) on 15 February 2012 and adopted 
written terms of reference for the Nomination Committee. 
The written terms of reference are set out in detail on the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. During 
Year 2020 and as at the date of this report, the Nomination 
Committee comprises the Chairman, Mr. Chu Hing Tsung 
(committee chairman), who is a non-executive Director, and 
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang 
Lu and Mr. Hung Muk Ming.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for all matters 
relating to the appointment of Directors either to fill a casual 
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board. Pursuant 
to the Articles of Association, any Director appointed to fill 
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next general 
meeting of the Company or as an addition to the existing 
Board shall hold office only until the next annual general 
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting. Every Director shall be subject 
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years 
and shall be eligible for re-election in accordance with the 
Articles of Association.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying 

sui tably qual i f ied candidates for appointment to the 

Board and making recommendations to the Board for its 

consideration. The process for selecting and recommending 

candidates for directorship includes the consideration 

of referrals and the engagement of external recruitment 

professionals. The selection criteria are based mainly on 

the assessment of the candidates’ characters, professional 

qualifications and experience relevant to the Company’s 

business.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing 

the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 

knowledge and experience) of the Board periodically, 

assessing the independence of the independent non-

executive Directors and making recommendation to the 

Board on the appointment and re-appointment of the 

Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

During Year 2020, no Nomination Committee meeting was 

held to review the Board structure and the diversity of Board 

members.
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Directors’ and Of f icers’ L iab i l i t y Insurance and 

Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to 

indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions 

against them.

Induction and Training

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, 

is provided with a Director’s induction package to ensure 

that he has a proper understanding of his duties and 

responsibilities. The Director’s induction package includes an 

overview of the Group’s business operation and governance 

policies, the Director’s responsibilities and duties, relevant 

regulatory requirements and br i teat
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Induction and Training (Continued)

The training attended by the Directors during Year 2020 is 

summarised below.

Type of training (Note 1) Training matters (Note 2)

Name of Directors �è �+ � ‘ �¤ 
C 	Å �Ù � Ì�€�• 
W 1�• 
C 	Å �+ 
 °�€�• 
W 2�•
    

Executive Directors 
B� � �è �+

Huang Jiajue 
» �3 � � a, b i, ii, iii, iv

Luo Zhihai � ¯ � } 	 � a, b i, ii, iii, iv

Ma Yilin (Resigned with effect 

from 11 January 2021)

	õ+I �
�€�õ 2021�Ë1�Ü11

�Ú�Ø �‚�•

a, b i, ii, iv

Non-executive Directors �¢ 
B� � �è �+

Chu Hing Tsung �á �EB* a, b i, ii, iv

Chen Zhiwei �Ó � › 
 � a, b i, ii, iii, iv

Independent non-

executive Directors

�ù�m�¢ 
B� � �è �+

Liang Qing 
Ñ � ¡ a, b i, ii, iii, iv

Zhang Lu 
u - ¨ a, b i, ii, iv

Hung Muk Ming �s �Ý�ü a, b i, ii, iii
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Board of Directors (Continued)

Induction and Training (Continued)

Note 1:

a: attending seminar or training session

b: reading newspapers, journals and updates re lating to 

the economy, general business or Directors’ duties and 

responsibilities, etc.

Note 2:

i: corporate governance 

ii: regulatory

iii: finance and accounting

iv: managerial

The Company also received confirmation from the Company 

Secretary that he took no less than 15 hours of relevant 

professional training during Year 2020.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company has 

effective risk management and control systems. The Board 

evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least annually. 

A review of the effectiveness of the risk management and 

internal control systems of the Group for Year 2020 was 

conducted.

Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Company’s r isk management and internal control 

systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather 

than eliminate risks, and can only provide reasonable and 

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 

loss. The Company has employed a bottom-up approach 

for the identification, assessment and mitigation of risks at 

business unit level and across functional areas.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal 

Control Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management 

and internal control systems include the establishment of 

a risk register to track and document identified risks, the 

assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and 

continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the 

ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their 

effectiveness.

An ongoing risk assessment approach is adopted by the 

Company for identifying and assessing new risks. The 

identified risks will be recorded in the risk register which will 

be reviewed regularly. After considering the control measures 

against the risks identified, a risk matrix is adopted to 

determine the risk rating (L=low risk, M=medium risk, H=high 

risk) after evaluation of each risk identified by the likelihood 

and the impact of the risk event.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)

Process Used to Ident i f y, Evaluate and Manage 

Significant Risks
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Risk Management and Internal Control (Continued)

Inside Information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination 

of inside information. In order to ensure that the market and 

Shareholders are fully and promptly informed about the 

material developments in the Group’s business, the Board 

has adopted an inside information disclosure policy regarding 

the procedures of proper information disclosure. Release of 

inside information is subject to the approval of the Board. 

Unless duly authorised, all staff members of the Group shall 

not communicate inside information to any external parties 

and shall not respond to market speculation and rumours. In 

addition, all external presentation materials or publications 

must be pre-vetted before release.

Report to Audit Committee

The Consulting Firm reports directly to the Audit Committee 

and the Audit Committee is satisfied that there has been no 

major deficiency noted in the areas of the Company’s risk 

management and internal control systems being reviewed 

after implementation of the measures recommended by 

the Consulting Firm to rectify the internal control defects 

reported by it. Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the 

Board considered the risk management and internal control 

systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Convening General Meeting on Request (Continued)

In accordance wi th Sect ion 566 of the Companies 

Ordinance, the Directors are required to call a general 

meeting if the Company has received requests to do so 

from members of the Company representing at least 5% of 

the total voting rights of all the members of the Company 

having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests 

must state the general nature of the business to be dealt 

with at the meeting, and may include the text of a resolution 

that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved 

at the meeting. Such requests may be sent to the Company 

in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office 

of the Company at Suite 4901, 49th Floor, Office Tower, 

Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong 

for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: 

info@silvergrant.com.hk); and must be authenticated by the 

person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 

567 of the Companies Ordinance, the Directors must call 

a meeting within 21 days after the date on which they 

become subject to the requirement under Section 566 of 

the Companies Ordinance and such meeting must be held 

on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice 

convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not, within 21 days from the date of 

the deposit of the requisition, proceed duly to convene 

an extraordinary general meeting on a day not more than 

28 days after the date on which the notice convening the 

extraordinary general meeting is given, the Shareholder(s) 

concerned, or any of them representing more than one-

half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves 

convene an extraordinary general meeting, provided that the 

extraordinary general meeting so convened shall not be held 

after the expiration of 3 months from the said date.

T h e  ex t r a o r d i n a r y  g e n e r a l  m e e t i n g  c o n v e n e d  by 

Shareholders shall be convened in the same manner, as 

nearly as possible, as that in which general meetings are to 

be convened by the Directors.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Proposing Director for Election at General Meetings

In respect of proposing a person for election as a Director at 

general meetings, please refer to the procedures available on 

the website of the Company at http://www.silvergrant.com.hk.

Constitutional Documents

During Year 2020, there was no change in the Company’s 

constitutional documents.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of 

transparency in communicating with Shareholders and 

investors at large. In order to enhance the transparency 

of Shareholders’ voting in a general meeting, separate 

resolutions are proposed at a general meeting on each 

substantial ly separate issue, including the election of 

individual Directors and all resolutions are voted on by poll. 

The Company will engage an external scrutineer to count 

the votes. The poll voting results will be published on the 

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange at a later 

time on the same business day. In addition, the requirement 

for resolutions to be voted by poll is stated in the circular 

or the annual report to be despatched to Shareholders. 

Moreover, the chairman of the meeting will explain to 

Shareholders the described procedures for conducting a poll 

before voting at each general meeting.

The Company has maintained a website at http://www.

silvergrant.com.hk which enables Shareholders, investors 

and the general publ ic to have open access to the 

information of the Company. Financial information and 

all corporate communications of the Company are made 

available on the Company’s website and are updated 

regularly.

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board 

may write to the Company Secretary at Suite 4901, 49/F, 

Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, 

Hong Kong.

http://www.silvergrant.com.hk
http://www.silvergrant.com.hk
http://www.silvergrant.com.hk
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Business Review

The business review of the Group for Year 2020 is set out 

below:

Section in the 

Annual Report

Page No. of the 

Annual Report

� 1 � • � õ �Ë � � � ˜ �Å �… �Ë � � � ˜ �+ �p
�� �� �� ��

a. Fair view of the Company’s business CEO’s Statements

� � �A �< 
R � � �S

5-30
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� �Y�•�u �2 
V

b. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing 

the Company

Directors’ Report
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82-83
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c. Indication of likely future development in the Company’s 

business

CEO’s Statements
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R � � �S

10-11

�I�®�! �8 
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d. Analysis using financial key performance indicators Financial Highlights
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2
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e. Discussion on the Company’s environmental policies and 

performance

Environmental, Social and 

Governance

40-42
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f. An account of the Company’s key relationships with its 

employees, customers and suppliers and others that 

have a significant impact on the Company and on which 

the Company’s success depends

Directors’ Report
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93
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g. Discussion on the Company’s compliance with the relevant 

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on 

the Company
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81
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Senior Note

On 8 December 2020, the Company as the issuer, Mr. 

Chu Hing Tsung (“Mr. Chu”), a non-executive Director and 

the chairman of the Board, as the guarantor, CNCB (Hong 

Kong) Investment Limited (“Investor”) as the investor and 

CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited as the arranger, entered 

into a subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”), 
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Senior Note (Continued)

On 18 December 2020, the Company issued the Senior 

Note in the aggregate principal amount of US$19,800,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$154,440,000) to the 

Investor. The Board considered that the issue of the Senior 

Note represented an opportunity to obtain funding for the 

Group. The net proceeds, after deducting issuance costs, 

received by the Company from the issue of the Senior Note 

amounting to approximately US$19,300,000 (equivalent 

to approximately HK$150,540,000), would be used by the 

Group as its general working capital. As at the date of this 

report, the net proceeds from the issue of the Senior Note 

have been fully utilised by the Group as intended.

Fur ther details of the Senior Note are set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2020.

Issue of Convertible Bonds

On 20 May 2019, the Company entered into a placing 

agreement (“Placing Agreement”) with CMB International 

Capital Limited (“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the 

Company conditionally agreed to place through the Placing 

Agent, on a best effort basis, 7% senior unsecured and 

guaranteed convertible bonds (“Convertible Bonds”) of 

the Company due 2022 of an aggregate principal amount 

of up to HK$200,000,000, to placees who and whose 

subsidiaries or associates are independent third parties 

(within the meaning of the Listing Rules) of the Company, 

at the conversion price (“Conversion Price”) of HK$2.33 per 

ordinary share with no par value (“Conversion Share”) of the 

Company (“Placing”).

On 22 May 2019, the Company entered into a subscription 

agreement ( “J IC Subscr ipt ion Agreement ” ) w i th J IC 

(Hong Kong) Holding Limited (“JIC”) (a placee procured 

by the Placing Agent, who and whose ultimate beneficial 

owner(s) are independent third parties (within the meaning 

of the Listing Rules)), in relation to JIC’s subscription for 

the Convertible Bonds with a principal amount of up to 

HK$200,000,000 (“JIC Subscription”).
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Principal terms of the Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The Conversion Price of HK$2.33 per Conversion Share 

represents (i) a premium of approximately 39% to the 

closing price of HK$1.68 per Share as quoted on the Stock 

Exchange on 20 May 2019, being the date of the Placing 

Agreement and the Connected Subscription Agreements; 

and (ii) a premium of approximately 40% to the average 

closing price of HK$1.66 per Share as quoted on the Stock 

Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days prior 

to the date of the Placing Agreement and the Connected 

Subscription Agreements.

A bondholder of the Convertible bonds can only exercise 

his/her/its conversion rights on the conditions that (i) no 

obligation will arise on the bondholder to make a general 

offer to the Shareholders for all securities of the Company 

under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code upon exercising of 

the conversion rights; and (ii) no Listing Rules, including the 

minimum public float requirements of the Company under 

Listing Rules, will be breached as a result of an exercise of 

the conversion rights.

Unless previously redeemed, conver ted, purchased or 

cancelled, the Company will redeem all of the Convertible 

Bonds on the Maturity Date at such amount equivalent 

to 116.5% of the principal amount of the outstanding 

Convertible Bonds (inclusive of interests received up to the 

Maturity Date).

The Convertible Bonds constitute direct, unsubordinated, 

unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Company 

and shall at all times rank pari passu and without any 

preference or priority among themselves and pari passu 

with all other present and future direct, unsubordinated, 

unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Company.
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Dilutive impact of the conversion of the Convertible 

Bonds

As at the date of this report, none of the Convertible Bonds 

has been converted.

Assuming there is ful l conversion of the Conver tible 

Bonds at the Conversion Price of HK$2.33 per Share, 

the net subscription price for each Conversion Share is 

approximately HK$2.32 per Share and an aggregate of 

493,562,227 Shares shall be allotted and issued (among 

which 85,836,909 Shares will be issued under the Placing 

and 407,725,318 Shares will be issued under the Connected 

Subscriptions), representing approximately 21.4% of the total 

number of Shares in issue as at the date of this report and 

approximately 17.6% of the total number of Shares in issue 

as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Conversion 

Shares (assuming no other change in the issued share 

capital of the Company). Such allotment and issue of the 

Conversion Shares will result in the respective shareholdings 

of the Shareholders being diluted by approximately 17.6%.
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Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Dilutive impact of the conversion of the Convertible 

Bonds (Continued)

Set out below is the dilution effect on the equity interest 

of the substantial Shareholders (within the meaning of 

the Listing Rules) if there had been full conversion of the 

outstanding Convertible Bonds as at 31 December 2020:

Name of Shareholders As at 31 December 2020

Upon full conversion of the

Convertible Bonds under the

Placing

Upon full conversion of the

Convertible Bonds under the

Connected Subscriptions

Upon full conversion of the

Convertible Bonds under the

Placing and the Connected

Subscriptions

�p ���¤ �H �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú

� ì � ½ 	 ã 
 / � + 
 °

�Œ�&�3 �l�� � l �p 
À �N ��

� ì �½ �ë � ¹ �© �… �+ 
 °

�Œ�&�3 �l�� � l �p 
À �N ��

� ì � ½ 	 ã 
 / � + 
 ° � ¿ � ë � ¹ � © � … � + 
 °

�Œ�&�3 �l�� � l �p 
À �N ��

Number of

Shares held

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

Shares held

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

Shares held

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

Shares held

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

�Ô �5 �p �…�p�f

�? �Ò �5 �p

�õ�± �â �Ô �5 �p �…�p�f

�? �Ò �5 �p

�õ�± �â �Ô �5 �p �…�p�f

�? �Ò �5 �p

�õ�± �â �Ô �5 �p �…�p�f

�? �Ò �5 �p

�õ�± �â
     

Zhuguang Holdings

	 . � ˆ 
 › �p 681,240,022 29.56% 681,240,022 28.5% 681,240,022 25.1% 681,240,022 24.3%

Regent Star

�K �4 438,056,000 19.01% 438,056,000 18.3% 631,189,047 23.3% 631,189,047 22.6%

Note: Zhuguang Holdings owns 681,240,022 Shares through 

its wholly-owned subsidiary, Splendid Reach Limited. 

Zhuguang Holdings is owned as to 67.08% by Rong De 

Investments Limited, and Mr. Chu, the Chairman and a non-

executive Director, holds 34.06% equity interest in Rong De 

Investments Limited.
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Splendid Reach Limited� ¹ �Þ 681,240,022

� p � p � …� f 	 . � ˆ 
 › � p � _ � D � C � ³ � � � Þ � " � ®

� ! � ¹ � Þ 67.08% �p �Æ�d �þ �ô �© �R �¢ 
B ��

� è � + � á � ‹ � [ � õ � D � C � ³ � � � Þ � " � ®� ! � • � 5 � Þ

34.06%�Y�p� I �Æ	B�f



DIRECTORS�§ REPORT �è �+ �6 � � �S

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited �Õ �� 
7 �ç 
› �p 
« �  �Þ �" �®�!80

Business Review (Continued)

Issue of Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Dilutive impact of the conversion of the Convertible 

Bonds (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total net assets 

of approximately HK$7,383,993,000 and total net current 

assets of approximately HK$3,221,138,000. Based on the 

financial and liquidity positions of the Group and to the best 

knowledge and belief of the Company, the Company expects 

that it will be able to meet its redemption obligations under 

the Convertible Bonds.

An analysis of the Company’s share price at which it would 

be equally financially advantageous for the holders of the 

Convertible Bonds to convert or redeem the Convertible 

Bonds based on their implied internal rate of return at a 

range of dates in the future is set out below:

Share price

�p � �

(HK$)

�€�¥ �©�•
   

30 June 2021 2021�Ë 6�Ü30�Ú �Ê�p2.9591 per Share

31 December 2021 2021�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �Ê�p2.8775 per Share

3 July 2022 (i.e. the Maturity Date, on 

which the Company will redeem all of 

the Convertible Bonds at such amount 

equivalent to 116.5% of the principal 

amount of the outstanding Convertible 

Bonds, inclusive of interests received 

up to the Maturity Date, unless any of 

such Convertible Bonds have already 

been previously redeemed, converted, 

purchased or cancelled)

2022�Ë7�Ü3�Ú�€�C�Q� ‚�Ú�d	ð�¢�Š�õ � ‹ �Ã �Ù

�«�e�7 � l�e�…
o�Ð 
W�V�d� I�®� ! 
Z�õ�…�Ú

�2 �́�…�õ�  �J �� �4 �� �l �p 
À �N �I�– �X�€�


� < � Ú � � � Q� ‚� Ú� ß� ×� _ � ˜� ; � ¹� •� ˜ 116.5%�˜

�– �X �Ù�«�Œ�Å �� �l �p 
À �N�•

�Ê �p2.7960 per Share

Detai ls of the Placing, the JIC Subscr iption and the 

Connected Subscriptions are set out in the announcements 

of the Company dated 20 May 2019, 22 May 2019 and 27 

June 2019, and the circular of the Company dated 10 June 

2019.
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Business Review (Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong with its 

shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. 

The Company’s subsidiaries were incorporated in the 

British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s 

operations are mainly carr ied out by the Company’s 

subsidiaries in the PRC and through cer tain proper ty 

investments in Hong Kong.

The Group’s principal business activities are property leasing 

and investments in the PRC and Hong Kong which are highly 

regulated businesses. To engage in investments (both in the 

PRC and Hong Kong) and financial services, the Group must 

obtain relevant permits from government authorities before 

the commencement of the business. Set out below is a 

summary of certain aspects of the PRC and Hong Kong legal 

and regulatory provisions relating to the Group’s operations 

and business:

• Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong);

• �÷ 
 Í � ³ � � 
? �– �9 �– �M�#� r � � � l � , (Interim Measures for 

the Supervision and Administration of Privately Offered 

Investment Funds*); and

• � ÷ 
 Í � ³ � � 
 ? � – 
 Í 
 « � � � ‰ � M � # � l � , (Measures for the 

Administration of the Fundraising of Privately Offered 

Investment Funds*);

If there is any non-compliance with the above rules and 

regulations, it will affect the Group’s operations, development 

and financial performance. During Year 2020, the Group 

complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong 

Kong, the British Virgin Islands and the PRC that have a 

significant impact on the Group.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only * �õ �Ö�¤�H 
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�8
� �2
V �€�ƒ�•

�,���~ �•�7�Y�m�Â

� I �®� ! � õ � 0 � ¥ 
W� � �Ó �m�d� I � p �…�õ �L � t �Ô

�ô � � � j �9� f� I �®�! �˜ �• �n �®�! �õ �õ �n �ˆ �~

� Ê � ¥� e � 0 � ¥ � ¿ � • 
 7 
 W � � � Ó � m� f� I 
 « �   � ˜ � �

�6 �ô � � �_ � I �®�! � ˜ � • 
7 �• �n �®�! �¿ �0 �¥ �ð

� • � J �8 � ³ � � �®� ! 
 } � +� f

� I 
 « �   �Y �ô � � � 8 
 � �‰ 
 } �+ �õ �0 �¥ �¿� • 
7 � ˜

� J � 8 	 a � # � ¿ � ³ � �� d� 8 
 � � a 	 ÷ � � � 9 � M� f� ‰ 
 }



DIRECTORS�§ REPORT �è �+ �6 � � �S

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited �Õ �� 
7 �ç 
› �p 
« �  �Þ �" �®�!82

Key Risk Factors

The fo l lowing paragraphs l is t out the key r isks and 

uncertainties facing the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list 

and there may be other risks and uncertainties in addition 

to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this annual 

report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice 

for anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and 

investors are advised to make their own judgment or consult 

their own investment advisors before making any investment 

in the securities of the Company.

Operational Risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors 

distinctive to direct investment, property investment and 

property related businesses. Default on the part of the 

Group’s buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and 

inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and 

systems or other external factors may have various levels 

of negative impact on the Group’s results of operations. 

Additionally, accidents may happen despite systems and 

policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to 

financial loss, litigation or damage in reputation.

Policy Risks

The Group’s principal operating activities are in the mainland 

China. The mainland market operates a system of planned 

economy. New laws and regulations are launched from 

time to time to regulate and/or promote economic activities. 

The enactment of any new regulatory policies may have 

various levels of negative impact on the Group’s results of 

operations.

�ô���,�̂ �ª	o

�ø�h � • � � � I 
 « �   �& �Á �Y �ô � � � , � ˆ �¿� ” � ü �æ

� ª 	 o � f � ä � ˆ � J 	 • � 	 � } � Ô � Þ � ª 	 o� i	 ð� h � • � ô

� � � Í � š � .� d� u � � 	 • � À � ¯ � I � ü � , � ˆ � ¿� ” � ü � æ

�ª 	o � f �ä � .�d� I �Ë � � � ” �Á � ‚ � � � [ �1 � ³ � � � I

�®� ! �Ç �N � * � � � ‚ � � � � �D �Ð � � � �� f � ³ � � � k� ¯

� ³ � � � I �®� ! �Ç �N� ˜ �Ã�d�Ð� � � � � : �Ù �Ð �D � �

�I �³ �� �¥ 
* �Y�� ���f

� � � 6 � , � ˆ

� I 
« �   �Y� � �6 �a �Q � \ 
Ÿ � ³ � ��e�® � * � ³ � � �¿

�®�*�´�ë�8
��µ�G	$�Þ�Y�,�ˆ�ª	o�Ô�B�¤�f

� 8 � � � I 
 « �   �Y 
o � •� e	 a �Ò�¿ 
 � � + � Ì � 8 
 � � «

�� �Y �0 �ª �� �‰�e�« �Å �t �û�e�[ �‰ �¿ �û �U �Ì

� ”� � �Ð �0 �¬�d�Ð � I � ü � . � � � ª 	 o �Á � I 
 « �   �Y

���6��	•�ô�Ó�”�•�û ���Y���&�B�¤�f�$�.�d

�C �4 � I 
 « �   �Š�S � ›�Y�# � Í � � � . �Y �û �U �q �A


��d�� �. �¥ �Í �� 	• �ï �[�d �ª �þ �Ï �ç 	Ì �A �&

�0�e
a �¤ �Ð �J � ‘ �a �&� f

�A 
 � � , � ˆ

� I 
 « �   � ô � � � õ � • 
 7 �« �® 
 } �+ �¾� � � z 
 � � f � «

�®�9 � � 
® � \ � � �Œ �¾ �ö �û �U� f � - �Y � , � � � ¿ � •

�Æ
Z �” �Û 
ª �� �* �‰�� �· �¿ �J�Ð �| �¸ �¾ �ö �z


 � � f � - � �� ( � ‚ � � � - � Y � • � Œ � A 
 � 
 Z � �	 • � 6 � Á

�I
«� �Y���6�8�6
m�8�”�•�û�����&�B�¤�f



DIRECTORS�§ REPORT �è �+ �6 � � �S

Annual Report 2020 �Z�g�Z�g �Ë �Ë �� 83

Key Risk Factors (Continued)

Past Performance and Forward Looking Statements

The performance and the results of operation of the Group 

as set out in this annual report are historical in nature and 

past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. 

This annual report may contain forward-looking statements 

and opinions that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual 

resul ts may a lso d i f fer mater ia l ly f rom expectat ions 

discussed in such forward-looking statements and opinions. 

Neither the Group nor the Directors, employees or agents of 

the Group assume any obligations or liabilities in the event 

that any of the forward-looking statements or opinions does 

not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.

Fixed Assets

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued 

at 31 December 2020. The def ic i t on revaluation of 

the leaseho ld land and bu i ld ings of approx imate ly 

HK$35,779,000 has been debited to the asset revaluation 

reserve.

The Group revalued all of its investment properties at 

31 December 2020. The net decrease in fair value of 

investment properties, which has been debited directly to 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, amounted to 

approximately HK$13,555,000.

Details of the valuation and movements of the investment 

properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group 

during Year 2020 are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the 

consolidated financial statements respectively.

Details of the major investment properties of the Group at 31 

December 2020 are set out in the section under “Summary 

of Investment Properties” of this annual report.
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Charitable Donations

No material donation was made to charitable organisations 

by the Group during Year 2020.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company 

during Year 2020 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

The Company’s reserves avai lable for distr ibution to 

Shareholders as at 31 December 2020 comprised the 

retained profits of approximately HK$319,000,000.

Equity Linked Agreements

Save as d isc losed in the sect ion headed “ Issue of 

Convertible Bonds” above, no equity linked agreements were 

entered into by the Group during Year 2020 or subsisted at 

the end of Year 2020.

Directors

The Directors during Year 2020 and up to the date of this 

report are:

Executive Directors

Huang Jiajue (Chief Executive Officer)

Luo Zhihai

Ma Yilin (resigned with effect from 11 January 2021)

Tang Lunfei (appointed with effect from 11 January 2021)
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Chu Hing Tsung (Chairman)

Chen Zhiwei

Gao Jian Min (resigned with effect from 1 January 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Liang Qing

Zhang Lu

Hung Muk Ming

Each Director has been appointed for a specific term, 

and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in 

accordance with the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the provisions of the Ar tic les of 

Association, Mr. Huang Jiajue, Mr. Tang Lunfei, Mr. Chen 

Zhiwei and Mr. Hung Muk Ming shall retire by rotation at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting, and they, being eligible, 

will offer themselves for re-election. The remaining Directors 

shall remain in office.
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Directors of Subsidiaries

Other than the Directors named in the section headed 
“Directors”, the persons who have served on the respective 
boards of directors of the subsidiaries of the Company 
during Year 2020 and up to the date of this report included 
Mr. Huang Jiajue, Mr. Luo Zhihai, Mr. Wang Ping, Mr. Tang 
Junhong, Mr. Chen Yongcun and Mr. Ng Hoi Leung Leo.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting has a service contract which is not 
determinable by the Group within one year without payment 
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in Information of Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there were 
changes in the information required to be disclosed in 
accordance with paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) 
of the Listing Rules in the course of the Directors’ term of 
office.

With ef fect from 15 January 2021, Mr. Chen Zhiwei, a 

non-executive Director, resigned as the chief executive 

officer of Zhongchang while he would remain as an executive 

director of Zhongchang. He has been appointed as the 

chairman of the board of directors of Zhongchang with effect 

from 15 January 2021.

Save as the aforesaid, the Company has not been advised 
by the Directors of any change in the information required 
to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of 
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since its last update to the 
Shareholders.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and 
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares 
and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2020, save as disclosed below, no other 

Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any 

interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares 

or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company 

under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 

Code:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Directors Capacity

Number of

Shares interested

Approximate

percentage of

issued Shares (Note 1)

�è �+ �¤ �H � � �…

�Ô � ¹ �Þ �Æ 	B � ˜

�p �…�p�f

�Ò �&�Š�ï � �

�p �…�õ�±�â�€�• 
W 1�•
    

Mr. Chu Hing Tsung 

(“Mr. Chu”)

Interest of controlled 

corporations (Note 2)

681,240,022 29.56%

�á �EB* �‹ �[�€�̃�á �‹ �[�™�• �a 
 › �S � , �   �Æ	B�€�• 
W 2�•

Mr. Huang Jiajue Beneficial owner 5,690,000 0.25%


» �3 � � � ‹ � [ �¼ 	B �¹ �Þ�[

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 

(i.e. 2,304,849,611 Shares) has been used for the calculation 

of the approximate percentage of shareholdings in the 

Company.

2. Mr. Chu directly holds 34.06% of the issued shares of Rong 

De Investments Limited (“Rong De”), which in turn holds 

67.08% of the issued shares of Zhuguang Holdings, which 

in turn holds 100% of the issued shares of Splendid Reach 

Limited (“Splendid Reach”), the beneficial owner of such 

681,240,022 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Chu, Rong De and 

Zhuguang Holdings are deemed to be interested in such 

681,240,022 Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during Year 2020 or at the end of Year 2020 was 

the Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries 

or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable 

the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 

of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 

body corporate, and neither the Directors nor the chief 

executive of the Company nor any of their spouse or children 

under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the 

securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements 
or Contracts of Significance

Other than as disclosed in the sections headed “Issue of 

Senior Note” and “Issue of Convertible Bonds” above, no 

transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 

to which the Company, its parent company or any of its 

subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which 

a Director or his connected entities had a material interest, 

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of Year 

2020 or at any time during Year 2020.

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning 

the management and administration of the whole or any part 

of the Company’s business were entered into during Year 

2020 or subsisted at the end of Year 2020.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the 

statutes, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified 

out of the assets of the Company against all losses or 

liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the 

execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation 

thereon. The Company has arranged appropriate liability 

insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers in respect 

of legal actions against them during Year 2020 and such 

permitted indemnity provision is still in force as at the date of 

this report.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short 
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of 
the Company

As at 31 December 2020, save as disclosed below, so far 

as it is known to the Directors or the chief executive of the 

Company, no other persons, other than a Director or the 

chief executive of the Company, had any interests or short 

positions in the Shares and underlying Shares which would 

fall to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange 

under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO and were 

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 

336 of the SFO:

Long position in the Shares:

Name of substantial Shareholders
� ô � � � p � �� ¤ � H

Capacity
� � �…

Number of
Shares

interested
� ¹ �Þ �Æ 	B � ˜

�p �…�p�f

Approximate
percentage

of issued Shares

(Note 1)
�Ò �&�Š�ï � �

�p �…�˜�õ�±�â
�€�• 
W 1�•

    

China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. 
(“China Cinda”)

Interest of controlled corporations 
(Note 2)

438,056,000 19.01%

�•
7 � ¦ � : � � � * �M�# �p �…�Þ� "�®� !�€� ˜� •
7 � ¦ � :�™�• �a 
 › �S � , �   �Æ	B�€�• 
W 2�•��  �� ��

China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited 
(“Cinda HK”)
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short 
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of 
the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 

(i.e. 2,304,849,611 Shares) has been used for the calculation 

of the approximate percentage of shareholdings in the 

Company.

2. China Cinda directly holds 100% of the issued shares of 

Cinda HK, which in turn holds 100% of the issued shares of 

Regent Star. Therefore, China Cinda and Cinda HK are taken 

to be interested in the number of Shares held by Regent Star 

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. Mr. Liao Tengjia directly holds 36% of the issued shares of 

Rong De, which in turn holds 67.08% of the issued shares of 

Zhuguang Holdings, which in turn holds 100% issued shares 

of Splendid Reach. Therefore, Mr. Liao Tengjia, Rong De and 

Zhuguang Holdings are taken to be interested in the number 

of Shares held by Splendid Reach pursuant to Part XV of the 

SFO.

Long position in the underlying Shares

Name of substantial Shareholders
� ô � � � p � �� ¤ � H

Capacity
� 	 � 


Number of
underlying

Shares interested
� ¹ �Þ �Æ 	B � ˜

�´ �ë �p �…�p�f

Approximate
percentage of
issued Shares

(Note 1)
�Ò �&�Š�ï � �

�p �…�˜�õ�±�â
�€�• 
W 1�•

    

China Cinda
�•
7 �¦ �:

Interest of controlled corporations 
(Note 2)

193,133,047 (Note 3)
�€�• 
W 3�•

8.38%

�a 
 › �S � , �   �Æ	B�€�• 
W 2�•

Cinda HK
� ¦ � : �0 �¥

Interest of a controlled corporation 
(Note 2)

193,133,047 (Note 3)
�€�• 
W 3�•

8.38%

�a 
 › �S � , �   �Æ	B�€�• 
W 2�•

Regent Star Beneficial owner (Note 2) 193,133,047 (Note 3) 8.38%
�K �4 �¼ 	B �¹ �Þ�[�€�• 
W 2�• �€�• 
W 3�•
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short 
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of 
the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. The total number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 
2020 (i.e. 2,304,849,611 Shares) has been used for the 
calculation of the approximate percentage of shareholdings in 
the Company.

2. China Cinda directly holds 100% of the issued shares of 
Cinda HK, which in turn holds 100% of the issued shares 
of Regent Star, the beneficial owner of such 193,133,047 
underlying Shares. Therefore, China Cinda and Cinda HK are 
deemed to be interested in the underlying Shares held by 
Regent Star pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. These represent unlisted physically settled derivatives of the 
Company.

Annual Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent 
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The 
Company considers all of the independent non-executive 
Directors to be independent.

Connected Transaction

There were no connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions of the Company that were not 
exempt from the annual reporting requirement in Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules during Year 2020 and the related 
party transactions as set out in note 39 to the consolidated 
f i nanc ia l  s ta tements d id not  cons t i tu te connec ted 
transactions or continuing connected transactions under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that 
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements 
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Buy-Back , Sa les o r Redempt ion o f  L i s ted 
Securities

During Year 2020, neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries bought back, sold or redeemed any of its listed 
securities.
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Emolument Policy
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers 
and Suppliers

The Group recognises i ts employees as one of the 

significant assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue 

establishing a caring environment for its employees which 

emphasises the personal development of its employees. The 

Group organises various social and recreational activities, 

including annual dinner and birthday parties, to strengthen 

the bonding among its employees and promote their sense 

of belonging. During Year 2020, there was no material non-

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had a 

significant impact on the Group relating to the compensation 

and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, 

rest periods, equal opportunity, anti-discrimination, and 

other benefits and welfare with respect to its employees.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain 

good relationships with its tenants in relation to its property 

leasing business by continuous interaction with them and 

being responsive to their demands. The Group has also 

established procedures for handling the complaints from its 

tenants to ensure the complaints are dealt with in a prompt 

and timely manner. Because of its business nature, the 

Group does not rely on any major tenants and no credit 

terms are granted to them.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationships 

with its suppliers and business partners to ensure the 

stability of it business. The Group reinforces the business 

relationships with its suppliers and business partners by 

ongoing communication with them in a proactive and effective 

manner so as to ensure the timely delivery of services to 

the Group and a wide range of potential investments will be 

available to the Group at all times.

Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company (“Annual 
General Meeting”) will be held at Meeting Room No. 2, 
13/F., Zhuguang Xincheng International Centre, Block B, 
No. 3 Qingyi Street, Race Course Road, Tianhe District, 
Guangzhou, The People’s Republic of China on Thursday, 10 
June 2021 at 2:30 p.m.
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Closure of Register of Members

To ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and 
vote at the Annual General Meeting, the register of members 
of the Company will be closed from Monday, 7 June 2021 to 
Thursday, 10 June 2021, both days inclusive, during which 
period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be 
eligible to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, all 
duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 
share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar 
of the Company, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not 
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 4 June 2021.

Auditor

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as an 
auditor of the Company with effect from 6 February 2020. 
Messrs. Ernst & Young has been appointed as the new 
auditor of the Company by the Board with ef fect from 
6 February 2020 to fill the casual vacancy following the 
resignation of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting 
to re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditor of the 
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Chu Hing Tsung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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To the members of 

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 

of Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out 

on pages 106 to 273, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have 

been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 

Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibil ities under those standards are fur ther 

described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(the “Code”), and we have ful f i l led our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, 

our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 

provided in that context.

We have fulf i l led the responsibil i t ies described in the 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report, including in 

relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 

the performance of procedures designed to respond to our 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit 

procedures, including the procedures performed to address 

the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on 

the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
�ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
°

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
�¢ �A � ˜�2 � � �½ � � � ˆ �# �ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
 °

  
Valuation of investment properties and leasehold land and buildings under property, plant and 
equipment
�³ �� �J �8 �¿�J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê �h 	a �# �z �®�¿�} �Á�˜�� �=

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had investment 
properties and leasehold land and buildings under 
property, plant and equipment, which were stated 
at fair value, with an aggregate carrying amount of 
approximately HK$2,860 million. The carrying amount 
of the investment properties and leasehold land 
and buildings under property, plant and equipment 
represented approximately 25% of the total assets of 
the Group as at 31 December 2020.
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The Group engaged external valuers to determine the 
fair value of the investment properties and leasehold 
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Key audit matter
�ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
°

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
�¢ �A � ˜�2 � � �½ � � � ˆ �# �ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
 °

  
Recoverability assessment of amounts due from an associate and a joint venture and loan 
receivables

Y � � �Ð �×�S� • �L � � �®� ! �¿�S� • �¥ � � �† �8 � ›�ø �¿ �Ð �× 
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had amounts 
due from an associate and a joint venture and loan 
receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of 
approximately HK$3,054 million, representing 27% 
of the total assets of the Group. The reversal of 
expected credit losses recognised as at 31 December 
2020 were approximately HK$6.4 million.
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Management appl ied the genera l approach in 
assessing the associated credit risks and exposures 
and engaged an external valuer in determining the 
allowance for expected credit losses.
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We identified this as a key audit matter because the 
aggregate carrying amount of the amounts due from 
an associate and a joint venture and loan receivables 
was s ign i f i can t  to the Group and sub jec t i ve 
judgements were made by management and external 
valuer.
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Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 20, 
21 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The following procedures were performed to address 
the identified key audit matter:
�¢�A �̂ �#�Š�Æ�9 �ë �Ÿ �2 ���+ 
° �̃ �û �• �½�h�j

• We obtained and reviewed the expected credit 
loss calculations prepared by the external valuer 
engaged by the Group.

 �¢ �A �_ 
 { � ( �2 �a  
 n 
 « �   � Ì � � � ˜ � . �Å � � � = � ª �Ô
�Ü �¡ � ˜ �k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f �& � � �Q�, � f

• We assessed the external valuer qualification, 
experience and expertise and considered its 
objectivity and independence.
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• We involved our internal valuation specialists 
to  a s s i s t  u s  i n  t h e  a s s e s s m e n t  o f  t h e 
methodologies applied and the key assumptions 
and estimates adopted in the expected credit 
loss calculations.
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• We a l so as se s sed the adequacy o f  the 
disclosures of the recoverability assessment 
of amounts due from an associate and a joint 
venture and loan receivables in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Key audit matter
�ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
°

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
�¢ �A � ˜�2 � � �½ � � � ˆ �# �ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
 °

  
Accounting for the Merger
�¥ �; �˜ �6 �� �ˆ �#

On 15 July 2019, Zhong Hai You Qi (Taizhou) 
Pe t rochemica l  Company L im i ted ( “ZHYQ” ),  a 
33%-owned associate of the Group, absorbed and 
merged with Taizhou United East Petrochemical 
Company Limited (“TZ United East”), a 68.07%-owned 
subsidiary of the Group, and China Offshore Bitumen 
(Taizhou) Company Limited (“COBT”), an independent 
third party of the Group (the “Merger”).
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Following the completion of the Merger, TZ United 
East and COBT were dissolved and deregistered. The 
Group’s interest in ZHYQ, being the surviving entity 
(the “Merged Enterprise”), through a 68.07% non-
wholly-owned subsidiary, has been increased from 
33% to 51% (Group’s effective interest increased 
from 22.46% to 34.72% after Merger) and the Merged 
Enterprise is accounted for as investment in a joint 
venture by the Group using the equity method.
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Management of the Company has engaged an 
external valuer to per form the valuations of the 
enterprise value of TZ United East and the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the Merged 
Enterprise as at the date of completion of the Merger 
to determine the gain on disposal of a subsidiary 
and the gain on bargain purchase from the Merger, 
respectively.
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The following procedures were performed to address 
the identified key audit matter:
�¢�A �̂ �#�Š�Æ�9 �ë �Ÿ �2 ���+ 
° �̃ �û �• �½�h�j

• We obtained and reviewed the agreements in 
connection with the Merger and the signed 
valuation reports prepared by the external valuer 
engaged by the Company for the valuation 
of the enterprise value of TZ United East and 
the purchase price allocation of the Merged 
Enterprise.
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• We assessed the external valuer’s qualification, 
experience and expertise and considered its 
objectivity and independence.
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• We involved our internal valuation specialists 
to  a s s i s t  u s  i n  t h e  a s s e s s m e n t  o f  t h e 
methodologies applied and the key assumptions 
and estimates adopted in the valuation of TZ 
United East and the identif iable assets and 
liabilities of the Merged Enterprise.
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• We checked the arithmetical accuracy of the 
amount of the gain on disposal of a subsidiary 
and that of the gain on bargain purchase from 
the Merger.
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• We a l so as se s sed the adequacy o f  the 
disclosures of the Merger in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Key audit matter
�ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
°

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
�¢ �A � ˜�2 � � �½ � � � ˆ �# �ë �Ÿ �2 � � �+ 
 °

  
Accounting for the Merger  (Continued)
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The gain on bargain purchase from the Merger 
was determined on a provisional basis as at 31 
December 2019. The Group has finalised the fair 
value assessment of the net identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the Merged Enterprise during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 and as a result, the gain 
on bargain purchase from the Merger was restated 
from HK$242.7 million to HK$177.4 million in the 
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 
2019. Retrospective adjustments were made and the 
financial effect of adjustments are detailed in note 4 
to the consolidated financial statements.
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The accounting for the Merger is identif ied as a 
key audit matter given the fair value assessment 
of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
Merged Enterprise was finalised in the year ended 31 
December 2020, the magnitude of the amount and 
significant management judgement being required to 
determine the enterprise value of TZ United East and 
purchase price allocation of the Merged Enterprise.
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The nature and financial effect of the Merger are 
disclosed in notes 1, 2.4, 3, 4, 12 and 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 

information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 

not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 

the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 

a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated 
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued 

by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated 
financial statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 

directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of 

the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit 

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 

the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in 

accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 

of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncer tainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 

of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 

statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the 

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement 

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

�è�p�ª�1�2���]�¥	Ì
����Œ�Õ�Ä�˜�ª�‚
�€�ƒ�•  

�h  
Y � � � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�Y�Æ� � � • � � �Ù � Ì�e
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Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, 

we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 

current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 

independent auditor’s report is Lok Man Ho.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��   ��

Continuing operations �5 �ƒ �¾� � �8 
 �

Rental income 	a �–�× � ] 6 89,128 107,568

Direct operating expenses �\ 
Ÿ �¾�� 
š �Õ (9,016) (6,419)�� ��   ��

80,112 101,149

Dividend income from listed and 

unlisted securities

�j�9�¿ �¢�j�9 �Ç �N�p �¹ �×

�] 6 116 85

Other income, gains and losses � I � ü �× � ]� e�× 	B �¿ � f �& 6 285,084 181,733

Change in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 � � �

� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � * � ˜ �®

� ª �= � 
 
 � (667) (201,650)

Change in fair value of derivative 

financial instruments

�� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H �˜ �®�ª �= �



� 39,630 4,562

Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of 

financial assets, net

�–�D�� �* �¯�=�a�« �J�€�¯�=�•

� � �X 6,352 (20,984)

Administrative expenses � � �A
 l � \ (224,170) (219,664)

Change in fair value of investment 

properties

�³ � � �J �8 �˜ �®�ª �= � 
 
 �

(13,555) 18,103

Finance costs 	 Ì 
 � 
 l � \ 8 (216,675) (133,746)

Share of profit/(loss) of: �Å�&�h�• �̃�P�; �J�€�f �&�•�j

— an associate — �S� • �L � � �®� ! 3,325 (7,091)

— a joint venture — �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 (404,061) 108,822�� ��   ��

Loss before taxation from continuing 

operations

�8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜ 	ð �ü

�Ã�f �& 7 (444,509) (168,681)

Taxation � ü 
 ° 11 3,401 (10,570)�� ��   ��

Loss for the year from continuing 

operations

�Ë�«�8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜

� f �& (441,108) (179,251)

Discontinued operation �Š�^�ß �¾�� �8 
�

Profit for the year from a discontinued 

operation

�Ë�«�8� ��Š�^�ß �¾���8 
 �

� ˜ �P � ; 12 — 251,996�� ��   ��

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (441,108) 72,745�� ��   ��
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(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��   ��

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of 

the Company:

�I�®�! �¹ �Þ�[ �Ð�&�€�f �&�•�J

�P �;�j

— from continuing operations — �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� (317,641) (169,601)

— from a discontinued operation — �8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� — 172,077�� ��   ��

(317,641) 2,476�� ��   ��

(Loss)/profit attributable to non-

controlling interests:

� ¢ 
 › � p � Æ	 B � Ð� &� €� f � &� •� J

�P �;�j

— from continuing operations — �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� (123,467) (9,650)

— from a discontinued operation — �8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� — 79,919�� ��   ��

(123,467) 70,269�� ��   ��

(441,108) 72,745�� ��   ��

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 

COMPANY (in HK cents)

�I�®�! �w �· �Æ 	B �5 �Þ�[  

�Ð �& �Ê�p�€�f �&�•�J �®�;

�€�ø �¥ �� �• �j�•

14

For (loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f �&�•�J �P �;

— Basic — 
 ? � I (13.78) 0.11

— Diluted — �Å � [ (13.78) 0.11�� ��   ��

For loss from continuing operations �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜ �f �&

— Basic — 
 ? � I (13.78) (7.36)

— Diluted — �Å � [ (13.78) (7.36)�� ��   ��
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(Restated)
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(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��   ��

NON-CURRENT ASSETS �¢ � t 
 � � � � *

Investment properties � ³ � � � J �8 15 2,624,229 2,486,340

Property, plant and equipment �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê 16 250,921 313,832

Right-of-use assets �4 � \ �Æ� � � * 17 54,216 —

Interests in an associate �S� • �L � � �®� ! �Æ	B 20 85,569 77,050

Interests in a joint venture �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �Æ	B 21 3,033,385 3,128,851

Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› 21 969,951 1,164,952

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �

� �� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � * 22 2,780 2,780

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � › 23 231,932 160,896�� ��   ��

Total non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � * �< �= 7,252,983 7,334,701�� ��   ��

CURRENT ASSETS � t 
 � � � � *

Trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › 24 7,317 8,735

Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables

�2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü �Ð

�× � › 25 420,467 192,987

Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› 21 59,528 30,134

Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › 20 584,989 488,563

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � › 23 1,207,369 1,198,099

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �

� �� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � * 22 875,206 807,507

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H 30 37,483 —

Pledged bank deposits �Š�ê�å �Õ �� �À �› 26 23,753 22,321

Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 26 769,767 190,247�� ��   ��

Total current assets � t 
 � � � � * �< �= 3,985,879 2,938,593�� ��   ��

CURRENT LIABILITIES �t 
 � � � 
À

Accrued charges, rental deposits 

and other payables

�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿

�I �ü �Ð�ù�› 27 287,160 282,820

Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings

���¹ �Õ ���¿ �I �ü 
r �›

28 369,309 261,941

Taxation payable �Ð�ù �ü 
° 108,272 106,703

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H 30 — 2,147�� ��   ��

Total current liabilities �t 
� ��
À �< �X 764,741 653,611�� ��   ��
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(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��   ��

NET CURRENT ASSETS � � � t 
 � � � � * 3,221,138 2,284,982    ��

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

�� �* �< �= �¯ � t 
 � � � 
À

10,474,121 9,619,683    ��

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES �¢ �t 
 � � � 
À

Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings

���¹ �Õ ���¿ �I �ü 
r �›

28 1,571,112 672,991

Lease liabilities 	a �# ��
À 17 48,532 —

Deferred tax liabilities �È �· �ü 
° ��
À 31 238,021 251,996

Convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N 29 1,232,463 1,170,351�� ��   ��

Total non-current liabilities �¢ �t 
� ��
À �< �= 3,090,128 2,095,338�� ��   ��

Net assets � � � � � * 7,383,993 7,524,345�� ��   ��

EQUITY �p �Æ

Equity attributable to owners of 

the Company

� I�®� ! � ¹ �Þ� [ �Ð �&�p �Æ

Share capital �p� I 32 3,626,781 3,626,781

Reserves � · �ê 33 2,932,973 2,995,423�� ��   ��

6,559,754 6,622,204

Non-controlling interests � ¢ 
 › � p � Æ	 B 824,239 902,141�� ��   ��

Total equity �p �Æ�< �= 7,383,993 7,524,345�� ��   ��

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors 

on 29 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Huang Jiajue Luo Zhihai


» �3 � � � ¯ � } 	 �

Director �è �+ Director �è �+
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(Restated)
�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©

�� ��   ��

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES

�¾� � �8 
 � � * � [ � ˜ �$ �– � t 
Ž

Loss before tax from continuing 
operations

�8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜ 	ð �ü
�Ã�f �& (444,509) (168,681)

Profit before tax from a discontinued 
operation

�8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� 	ð �ü
�Ã�P� ; 12 — 357,986

Adjustments for: �� �Æ�j
Share of results of an associate �Å �&�S� • �L � � �®� ! �8 �6 5 (3,325) 7,091
Share of results of a joint venture �Å �&�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �8 �6 5 404,061 (108,822)
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment
�J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê �± ��

16 11,376 122,260
Depreciation of right-of-use assets �4 � \ �Æ� � � * �± � � 17 2,784 —
Amortisation of land use rights �z �®�4 � \ �Æ �Å�V 18 — 2,077
Finance costs 	 Ì 
 � 
 l � \ 216,675 173,837
Dividend income from listed and 

unlisted securities
�j�9�¿ �¢�j�9 �Ç �N�p �¹

� × � ] 6 (116) (85)
Interest income �; � ¹ �× � ] (280,466) (181,023)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary from 

the Merger
�_�¥ �; �þ�� 
 / �S 
œ�• �n  

�®�! �Y �× 	B 35 — (248,431)
Gain on bargain purchase from the 

Merger
�¥ �;�˜ �D �� �…
o�× 	B

35 — (177,436)
Net loss on disposal of items of 

property, plant and equipment
�� 
 / �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê  


°�f�˜ �f �& �� �X 6 24 3
Change in fair value of investment 

properties
�³ � � �J �8 �˜ �®�ª �= � 
 
 �

7, 15 13,555 (18,103)
Change in fair value of financial 

assets at fair value through profit 
or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �
� �� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � *  
�®� ª �= � 
 
 � 7 667 201,561

Change in fair value of derivative 
financial instruments

�� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H �˜ �®�ª �=
� 
 
 � 7 (39,630) (4,562)

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment 
of financial assets, net

�–�D �� �*�€�̄�= �a �«�•�J  
� ¯ �= � � �X 7 (6,352) 20,984

Write-off of loan and other 
receivables


r �› �¿ � I �ü �× �› �Û �V
62,510 54,107�� ��   ��

(62,746) 32,763
Decrease in inventories �À �¬ � ¯ �Ç — 39,823
Increase in financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
�#�� �ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I � 



 � � �� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � * (16,797) (239,172)
Decrease in trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › � ¯ �Ç 1,418 48,137
Decrease in deposits, prepayments 

and other receivables
�2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü �Ð�×

� › � ¯ �Ç 71,576 44,613
Decrease in trade and bills payables �Ð�ù �* � › �¿ �C �½ �¯ �Ç — (3,946)
(Decrease)/increase in accrued 

charges, rental deposits and other 
payables

�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿ �I

�ü �Ð�ù�›�€�̄�Ç�•�J �#� �
(5,009) 31,439�� ��   ��
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(Restated)
�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©

�� ��   ��

Cash used in operations �¾���8 
 � �Ô�\ �˜ �$ �– (11,558) (46,343)

Dividend received �Š�× �p � ¹ 116 85

Interest paid �Š�ù �; �¹ (157,221) (106,527)

Tax refund/(paid) �‰	×�«�J�€�Š�ù�•�ü �› 640 (38,381)�� ��   ��

Net cash flows used in operating 

activities

�¾���8 
 � �Ô�\ �˜ � � �$ �–  

� t 
 Ž (168,023) (191,166)�� ��   ��

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES

�³ � � �8 
 � �Ô 
{ �$ �– � t 
Ž

Settlement of construction costs 

payable

�Õ�ù�Ð�ù�� �¿ �Ó �I

— (195,799)

Purchase of items of property, plant 

and equipment

�…�]�J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê  


°�f (3,252) (5,874)

Interest received �Š�× � ; � ¹ 276,604 129,905

Disposal of subsidiaries �� 
/ �• �n�®�! 35 — (12,129)

Advance to an associate � ¦ �Õ�S� • �L � � �®� ! (64,178) (105,167)

(Advance to)/repayment from a joint 

venture

�€�£�S�•�¥ � � �† �8 � ¦ � ›� •�J

� 8� ��S� •� ¥ � � � † � 8 � ” � › (92,700) 196,585

Advance of loan receivables � ¦ �Õ �Ð�× 
 r � › (198,872) (1,110,330)

Receipt of loan receivables �×�_ �Ð�× 
r � › 123,752 593,214

Deposit paid for acquisition of an 

equity investment

�× �…�p �Æ�³ �� �˜ �Š�ù �2 �–

(249,695) (66,745)

Proceeds from disposal of property, 

plant and equipment

�� 
 / �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê  

�Ô
 { � › 
 ° 19,798 —

Decrease in restricted bank balances �9 �M�Ò�y
� �q �¯ �Ç — 40,056

(Increase)/decrease in pledged 

deposits

�ê �å �À �›�€�#���•�J �̄�Ç

(1,432) 300,111�� ��   ��

Net cash flows used in investing 

activities

� ³ � � �8 
 � �Ô� \ � � �$ �– � t 
Ž

(189,975) (236,173)�� ��   ��



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

114

(Restated)
�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
� • 
W �w�¥�© �w�¥ �©

�� ��   ��

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES

�D � � �8 
 � �Ô 
{ �$ �– � t 
Ž

Proceeds from the issue of Convertible 

Bonds

�ï � � � � � l �p 
À �N�Ô
{ �› 
°

— 1,150,000

Other loans raised �I �ü 
r � › �D � � 1,056,271 468,750

Senior note raised � ´ � ‹ �C �½�D � � 151,461 —

Repayment of other loans �µ �” � I �ü 
r � › (121,382) (296,336)

New bank loans �- �Õ �� 
 r � › 50,000 688,036

Repayment of bank loans �µ �” �Õ �� 
 r � › (180,000) (1,856,620)
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1. Corporate And Group Information

Silver Grant International Holdings Group Limited 

(the “Company”) is a public limited liability company 

incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”). The registered office and principal place 

of business of the Company are located at Suite 4901, 

49th Floor, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour 

Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and is 

engaged in property investment and securities trading. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 

as the “Group”) are principally engaged in property 

leasing and investments. The trading of petrochemical 

products and the prov is ion of sub-contrac t ing 

service in the mainland (the “Mainland China”) of the 

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) carried out 

by a subsidiary of the Group in the prior years were 

discontinued during the year ended 31 December 2019 

(note 12).

1. �®�!�¿
«� ���Ø

�Õ��
7�ç
›�p
«� �Þ�"�®�!�€�̃�I�®�!�™�•

�‰�S�• �õ �0 �¥ 
W� � �Ó �m�Y�®� :�Þ �"�®

� !�d� I �p �…�õ �0 �¥ �L �¥� t�ø�Ô�Þ �" �®

�!�€�̃�L �t �Ô�™�•�j �9�f�I �®�! 
W �� �l �+
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1. �®�!�¿
«� ���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�•�n�®�!���Ø

�I�®� ! �Y�ô � � � • �n�®�! � 	 
 ‹ �½�h� j

1. Corporate And Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are 

as follows:

Company name
Place of incorporation/
registration and operations

Nominal value of issued and 
paid-up/ registered capital

Equity interest attributable 
to the Company Principal activities

�®�! �¤ �H 
W�� �J � î 	¾�¿ �¾�� �Ô�¯ �® �Š� ï � � �¿ �® � � � J 
W� � �p� I �& �= �I�®�! �Ð �&�p�I �Æ 	B �ô � � � 8 
 �
Direct Indirect

� \ 
Ÿ 
œ
Ÿ
�� �� ��   ��

Twin Sparkle Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% — Property holding and 
investment


p �þ �, �Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 2�¥ �© �5 �Þ�J �8 �¿ � ³ � �

Real China Development Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% — Property holding and 
investment

	� �{ �ï �• �Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 2�¥ �© �5 �Þ�J �8 �¿ � ³ � �

Likesway Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% — Investment holding 
�; �Û�þ �Þ �"�®�! � 0 � ¥ 2�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

Noda International Investment (Guangzhou) 
Co., Limited#@^

PRC/Mainland China RMB400,000,000 — 100% Investment 

�U �: 
7 �ç �³ ���€�? �È�•�Þ �" �®�! #@ �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ400,000,000 �© � ³ � �

Silver Grant International Assets Investment 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 100% — Investment holding 

�Õ �þ 
7 �ç�� �* �³ ���Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 100�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

Hongda International Investment (Guangzhou) 
Co., Limited#@^

PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 — 100% Investment 

�> �: 
7 �ç �³ ���€�? �È�•�Þ �" �®�! #@ �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ500,000,000 �© � ³ � �

Silver Grant International Investment 
Management Limited

Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% — Investment holding 

�Õ �þ 
7 �ç� � � * �M�# �Þ � "�®� ! � 0 � ¥ 1,000�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

Beijing Longda Tianhong Technology Co., 
Limited#@^

PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100% Technology development, 
consulting services

�� �/ 
¤ �: �Â�>�Å �¦ �Þ �" �®�! #@ �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ10,000,000 �© �¦ �” 
š �ï �e�T �� �� 
�

Beijing Runda International Investment 
Management Co., Limited#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 — 100% Investment 

� � � / �—� : 
7 �ç � ³ � � �M�# �Þ � "�®� ! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ500,000,000 �© � ³ � �
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Company name
Place of incorporation/
registration and operations

Nominal value of issued and 
paid-up/ registered capital

Equity interest attributable 
to the Company Principal activities

�®�! �¤ �H 
W�� �J � î 	¾�¿ �¾�� �Ô�¯ �® �Š� ï � � �¿ �® � � � J 
W� � �p� I �& �= �I�®�! �Ð �&�p�I �Æ 	B �ô � � � 8 
 �
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Company name
Place of incorporation/
registration and operations

Nominal value of issued and 
paid-up/ registered capital

Equity interest attributable 
to the Company Principal activities

�®�! �¤ �H 
W�� �J � î 	¾�¿ �¾�� �Ô�¯ �® �Š� ï � � �¿ �® � � � J 
W� � �p� I �& �= �I�®�! �Ð �&�p�I �Æ 	B �ô � � � 8 
 �
Direct Indirect

� \ 
Ÿ 
œ
Ÿ
�� �� ��   ��

Ju Fu San Yan Jing Investment Company 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 — 100% Investment holding 

�6�E�g �; �œ �³ ���Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 2�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

Beijing Tongda Jufu Technology Co., 
Limited#@^

PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100% Technology development, 
consulting services

�� �/ �· �: �6�E �Å �¦ �Þ �" �®�! #@ �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ10,000,000 �© �¦ �” 
š �ï �e�T �� �� 
�

Jing Yin International Investment Consulting 
Co. Limited#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 — 100% Investment

�/ �Õ
7 �ç �³ �� �T ���€�� �/�•�Þ �" �®�! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ100,000,000 �© � ³ � �

Beihai Mao Yuan Investment Co. Limited#^ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 — 100% Investment
�� 	� �ñ �©�³ ���Þ �" �®�! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ50,000,000 �© � ³ � �

Si lver Grant International Petrochemical 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 — 100% Investment holding 

�Õ �� 
7 �ç�i �· �Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 100�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

Beijing Yuan Da Tian Hua Technology Co. 
Limited#@^

PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100% Technology development, 
consulting services

�� �/ �Ã �: �Â �· �Å �¦ �Þ �" �®�! #@ �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ10,000,000 �© �¦ �” 
š �ï �e�T �� �� 
�

Y inj ian Energy Trading (Guangzhou) Co. 
Limited#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 — 100% Trading 

�Õ � � 	 • �U
q�ø�€�? �È� •�Þ � " �®� ! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ500,000,000 �© 
q�ø

Ta izhou Y in j ian Energy Investment Co. 
Limited#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 — 100% Environmental 
conservation and 
renewable energy 
investment

	� �È�Õ �� 	• �U �³ ���Þ �" �®�! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ100,000,000 �© �� �¤ �­ ���¿�Ž�[ 	• �U �³ ��

Tai Zhou Dong Thai Petrochemical Company 
Limited (“TZ Dong Thai”)#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB1,664,089,268 — 68.07% Investment holding and 
investment

	� �È�� 	� �i �· �Þ �" �®�!�€�̃	� �È�� 	��™�• # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ1,664,089,268�© � ³ � � 
 › � p �¿ � ³ � �

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1. �®�!�¿
«� ���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�•�n�®�!���Ø �€�ƒ�•
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Company name
Place of incorporation/
registration and operations

Nominal value of issued and 
paid-up/ registered capital

Equity interest attributable 
to the Company Principal activities

�®�! �¤ �H 
W�� �J � î 	¾�¿ �¾�� �Ô�¯ �® �Š� ï � � �¿ �® � � � J 
W� � �p� I �& �= �I�®�! �Ð �&�p�I �Æ 	B �ô � � � 8 
 �
Direct Indirect

� \ 
Ÿ 
œ
Ÿ
�� �� ��   ��

Konson Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 70% Investment holding 
�¥ �. �³ �� �Þ �" �®�! � 0 � ¥ 100�¥ �© �³ � � 
 › �p

East Gate (Beijing) Property Management 
Co., Ltd (formerly known as Beijing East 
Gate Development Co., Ltd. (“Beijing East 
Gate”)#@^

PRC/Mainland China US$100,413,500 — 100% Property development 
and investment

� � � ��€� � � /� •�J �8 �M�# �Þ �" �®� !�€�Ã �H � � � / � � � �
�Ä �8 �Þ �"�®�!�•�€�̃�� �/ �� ���™�• #@

�•
7 �J�•
7�« �® 100,413,500 �Õ �© �J �8� ï � • �¿ �³ � �

Be i j ing Ju Fu Real Estate Development 
Company Limited (“Beijing Ju Fu”)#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB105,000,000 — 99.05% Property development 
and investment

�� �/ �6�E �Ò�® �* 
š �ï �Þ �" �®�!�€�̃�� �/ �6�E�™�• # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ105,000,000 �© �J �8� ï � • �¿ �³ � �

X i n  J i a n g  Z h o n g  Q i n g  L u a n  C h u a n g 
Technology Company Limited#^

PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 — 60% Investment holding 

� - � › � •� ¡ �L �ô �Å � ¦ �Þ � " �®� ! # �•
7 �J�•
7�« �® �[ �O�Æ5,000,000 �© �³ � � 
 › �p

# Registered as domestic limited liability companies under 

the PRC law

@ Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under 

the PRC law

^ The English names of these companies represent the 

best effort made by management of the Company to 

directly translate their Chinese names as they did not 

register any official English names.

* Registered as limited partnership companies under the 

PRC law.

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1. �®�!�¿
«� ���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�•�n�®�!���Ø �€�ƒ�•

# �ì �½�•
7�,�� 
W���‰�«���Þ�"�®�! �f

@ � ì � ½ � • 
 7 � , � � 
 W � � � ‰ � . � � � Œ � � � ¹ � Þ

�®�! �f

^  � _ � õ � ( � J 
W � � � ‚ � � �œ �Ù �õ �Ö�¤ �H�d

� � 
 � �®� ! �Y �õ �Ö�¤ �H �W �I �®� ! �M �#
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{ � f

* �ì �½�•
7�,��
W���‰�Þ�"�¥�«�†�8�f



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

120

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) On 15 July 2019, Zhong Hai You Qi (Tai Zhou) 

Petrochemical Company Limited (“ZHYQ”), an 

associate of the Company, absorbed and merged 

with TZ United East, an indirect non-wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Company, and China 

Offshore Bitumen (Taizhou) Co., Ltd. (“COBT”), 

an independent third party (the “Merger”). Upon 

completion of the Merger, ZHYQ became the 

surviving entity (the “Merged Enterprise”), TZ 

United East and COBT were dissolved and 

deregistered, and the Company owned 51% of the 

equity interest in the Merged Enterprise through 

its indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary, TZ Dong 

Thai, and the Merged Enterprise is accounted for 

as a joint venture of the Company using equity 

method.

Following the completion of the Merger, the 

Group discontinued the operation in its trading 

of petrochemical products and provision of sub-

contracting service. Further details are included in 

note 12 to the financial statements.

(ii) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the 

Company which, in the opinion of the directors, 

principally affected the results for the reporting 

year or formed a substantial portion of the net 

assets of the Group. To give details of other 

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, 

result in particulars of excessive length.

1. �®�!�¿
«� ���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�•�n�®�!���Ø �€�ƒ�•

(i) �õ 2019�Ë7�Ü15� Ú� d � I � ® � ! � Y � L

� � � ® � ! � • 	 � � 0 	 �� €	 � � È� •� i � · � Þ

�" �®�!�€�̃�• 	� �0 	� �È �i �·�™�•�V�×

�¥ � ; � I �® � ! �Y 
œ 
Ÿ �¢ �Œ � � � ¹ �Þ

� • �n �® � ! 	 � �È � � � L �¿ �ù �m �K �g

� Ù � • 	 � � Ž � ¡� €	 � � È� •� Þ � " � ª � ‚ � ®

�!�€�̃�• 	� �Ž �¡�™�•�€�̃�¥ �;�™�•�f �¥ �;

�• �Ó ���d �• 	� �0 	� �È �i �· �‰ �À

�ƒ �®�!�€�̃�¾ �¥ �; �† �8�™�•�d	� �È ��

�L�¿�•	� �Ž�¡�Æ�Š���s �¿
W�V�d

� þ � I � ® � ! � À � @ � I 
 œ 
 Ÿ � ¢ � Œ � � � ¹

�Þ � • � n �® � ! 	 � �È � � 	 � � ¹ �Þ �¾ �¥

� ; �† �8 � ˜ 51%�Æ	B�d�ª�þ�¾�¥ �;

� † �8 �ø �Æ 	B � , � � �‰ � I �® � ! �Y �¥
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(ii) � j � Œ � 1 � • � è � + � © � ‰ � ô � � � B � ¤ � I


 « �   � I � � � S � Ë � � � 8 � 6 � Ð � ô � Ó � I


 « �   � � � � � * �  � } �Å �± �Y � I �® � !
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2.1 �Ü�¡ 
?�_

� I 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � Š � ì � ½ � 0 � ¥ � 6 � � � ª � ® � 6

�€� ˜� 0 �¥ �6 � � � ª �®�6�™� •�o �1 �Y �0 �¥ 	 Ì 
 �

� � �S�_�Æ�€� ˜�0 �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �S�_�Æ�™�•�€� 
 �<

�Ô�Þ�0 �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �S�_�Æ�e�0 �¥ �6 � � � _

� Æ� €� ˜� 0 � ¥ � 6 � � � _ � Æ� ™� •� ¿ � � � Q� •� e � 0 � ¥

�®�© �6 �� �a �Æ�¿�0 �¥�®�! 
â �7 �Ü �¡ � f

	ð �³ �� �J �8�e�J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê 
° �h

�˜	a �# �z �® �¿�} �Á�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I

� 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B �˜ �–�D �� �* �¿�� � [ �–�D

� ˆ�H �J �2 �®�ª �= � � 
Ž � .�d� I � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 �

� � � Œ � J � 2 � Ý � & � Ó � I � Õ � 7 � Ü � ¡ � f 	 ð � $

�Þ �8 �ü � .� d� I 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�ø �¥ �© �O � •�d

�ò�Ô�Þ�–�X� i�«�Æ�� �ð
Ÿ�•�w�� �p�€�w

�¥ �©�•�f

�]�¥�]�* 
? �_

�] �¥ 	Ì 
� �� �Œ�
 �< �I�®�! �¿ �I �• �n�®

� ! � Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë�� �Y 	Ì 
 �
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Ÿ�Ð 
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Ÿ
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 �< 
 � �ô � Ì �¼ � �� •� f �…� I
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 � �Y� � � 
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 � �Y

	 • � b � Y � $ � Þ � Æ � ;� •� B � ¤ � � 
 � � « � � � Û� d
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› �S �Æ�f

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Repor ting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in 

Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 

They have been prepared under the h is tor ica l 

cost convention, except for investment properties, 

leasehold land and buildings under property, plant and 

equipment, financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss and derivative financial instruments, which have 

been measured at fair value. These financial statements 

are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are 

rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except 

when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The conso l ida ted f inanc ia l  s ta tements inc lude 

the f inancial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2020. A 

subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), 

directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights 

that give the Group the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee).
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less 

than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 

investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 

an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote 

holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; 

and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting 

rights.

The f inancial statements of the subsidiar ies are 

prepared for the same repor t ing per iod as the 

Company, using consistent accounting policies. The 

results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 

on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 

consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

P ro f i t  o r  l o s s  a n d e ac h c o m p o n e n t  o f  o th e r 

comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 

of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling 

interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets 

and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 

relating to transactions between members of the Group 

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an 

investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of 

control described above. A change in the ownership 
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2.2 C h a n g e s  i n  A c c o u n t i n g  P o l i c i e s  a n d 
Disclosures (Continued)

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 

2018  ( th e “C o nc e p tu a l  Fra m ewo r k ” )  se ts 

ou t a comprehens ive set of  concepts fo r 

f inancial reporting and standard setting, and 

provides guidance for preparers of f inancial 

statements in developing consistent accounting 

po l i c i e s a nd as s i s ta nce to  a l l  pa r t i e s  to 

understand and interpret the standards. The 

Conceptual Framework includes new chapters 

o n  m e a s u re m e n t  a n d re p o r t i n g  f i n a n c i a l 

performance, new guidance on the derecognition 

of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions 

and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It 

also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence 

and measurement uncer ta in t y in f inanc ia l 

reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a 

standard, and none of the concepts contained 

therein override the concepts or requirements in 

any standard. The Conceptual Framework did 

not have any significant impact on the financial 

position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 C h a n g e s  i n  A c c o u n t i n g  P o l i c i e s  a n d 
Disclosures (Continued)

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide 

addi t iona l gu idance on the def in i t ion of a 

business. The amendments clarify that for an 

integrated set of activities and assets to be 

considered a business, it must include, at a 

minimum, an input and a substantive process 

that together significantly contribute to the ability 

to create output. A business can exist without 

including all of the inputs and processes needed 

to create outputs. The amendments remove the 

assessment of whether market participants are 

capable of acquiring the business and continue 

to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on 

whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive 

processes together significantly contribute to the 

ability to create outputs. The amendments have 

also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus 

on goods or services provided to customers, 

investment income or other income from ordinary 

activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide 

guidance to assess whether an acquired process 

is substantive and introduce an optional fair 

value concentration test to permit a simplified 

assessment of whether an acquired set of 

activities and assets is not a business. The Group 

has applied the amendments prospectively to 

transactions or other events that occurred on or 

after 1 January 2020. The amendments did not 

have any impact on the financial position and 

performance of the Group.
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2.2 C h a n g e s  i n  A c c o u n t i n g  P o l i c i e s  a n d 
Disclosures (Continued)

(e) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide 

a new definition of material. The new definition 

states that information is material if omitting, 
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are 

expected to be applicable to the Group is described 

below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a 

reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation 

and Presentation of Financial Statements with a 

reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly 

changing its requirements. The amendments also add 

to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle 

for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to 

determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The 

exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent 

liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or 

HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather 

than assumed in a business combination, an entity 

applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK 

(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual 

Framework. Fur thermore, the amendments clarify 

that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition 

at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt 

the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. 

Since the amendments apply prospectively to business 

combinations for which the acquisition date is on or 

after the date of first application, the Group will not 

be af fected by these amendments on the date of 

transition.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 

4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the 

previous amendments which affect financial reporting 

when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced 

with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments 

provide a practical expedient to allow the effective 

interest rate to be updated without adjusting the 

carrying amount when accounting for changes in the 

basis for determining the contractual cash flows of 

financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct 

consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform 

and the new basis for determining the contractual 

cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous 

basis immediately preceding the change. In addition, 

the amendments permit changes required by the 

interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge 

designations and hedge documentation without the 

hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains 

or losses that could arise on transition are dealt 

with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 

to measure and recognise hedge inef fectiveness. 

The amendments also provide a temporary relief 

to ent i t ies f rom hav ing to meet the separate ly 

identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated 

as a risk component. The relief allows an entity, 

upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the 

separately identifiable requirement is met, provided 

the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component 

to become separately identifiable within the next 24 

months. Furthermore, the amendments require an 
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) 

address an inconsistency between the requirements 

in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with 

the sale or contribution of assets between an investor 

and its associate or joint venture. The amendments 

require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale 

or contribution of assets between an investor and its 

associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For 

a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a 

business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction 

is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to 

the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that 

associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be 

applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective 

date of the amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 

(2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 

and a new mandatory effective date will be determined 

after the completion of a broader review of accounting 

for associates and jo int ventures. However, the 

amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements 

for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. 

The amendments specify that if an entity’s right to 

defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity 

complying with specified conditions, the entity has a 

right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the 

reporting period if it complies with those conditions at 

that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by 

the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to 

defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also 

clarify the situations that are considered a settlement 

of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 

shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application 

is permitted. The amendments are not expected to 

have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from 

deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment any proceeds from sel l ing i tems 

produced while bringing that asset to the location and 

condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 

in the manner intended by management. Instead, an 

entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such 

items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendments are ef fective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be 

applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant 

and equipment made available for use on or after 

the beginning of the earliest period presented in the 

financial statements in which the entity first applies 

the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The 

amendments are not expected to have any significant 

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose 

of assessing whether a contract is onerous under 

HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises 

the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that 

relate directly to a contract include both the incremental 

costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and 

materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate 

directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g. an allocation of 

the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant 

and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as 

contract management and supervision costs). General 

and administrative costs do not relate directly to a 

contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly 

chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to 

contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its 

obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting 

period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier 

application is permitted. Any cumulative ef fect of 

initially applying the amendments shall be recognised 

as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of 

initial application without restating the comparative 

information. The amendments are not expected to 

have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Ef fect ive Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 sets 

out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative 

Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. 

Details of the amendments that are expected to be 

applicable to the Group are as follows:

• HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees 

that an entity includes when assessing whether 

the terms of a new or modified financial liability 

are substantially different from the terms of the 

original financial liability. These fees include only 

those paid or received between the borrower 

and the lender, including fees paid or received by 

either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. 

An entity applies the amendment to financial 

liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or 

after the beginning of the annual reporting period 

in which the entity first applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier 

application is permitted. The amendment is not 

expected to have a significant impact on the 

Group’s financial statements.

• HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of 

payments from the lessor relating to leasehold 

i m p rove m e n ts  i n  I l l u s t r a t i ve  E x a m p l e  13 

accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential 

confusion regarding the treatment of lease 

incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a 

long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 

equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to 

exercise significant influence. Significant influence is 

the power to participate in the financial and operating 

policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or 

joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby 

the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 

have rights to the net assets of a joint venture. Joint 

control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 

of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 

about the relevant activities require the unanimous 

consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint 

ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of 

financial position at the Group’s share of net assets 

under the equity method of accounting, less any 

impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into 

line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

(Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results 

and other comprehensive income of associates 

and joint ventures is included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and consolidated other 

comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when 

there has been a change recognised directly in the 

equity of the associates or joint venture, the Group 

recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions 

between the Group and its associates or joint ventures 

are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments 

in the associates and joint ventures, except where 

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment 

of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the 

acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as 

part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint 

ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment 

in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest 

is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues 

to be accounted for under the equity method. In all 

other cases, upon loss of significant influence over 

the associate or joint control over the joint venture, 

the Group measures and recognises any retained 

investment at its fair value. Any difference between the 

carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon 

loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair 

value of the retained investment and proceeds from 

disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

(Continued)

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture 

is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in 

accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the 

acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 

measured at the acquisition date fair value which is 

the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the 

Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by 

the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 

the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange 

for contro l of the acquiree. For each business 

combination, the Group elects whether to measure 

the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are 

present ownership interests and entitle their holders 

to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business 

when the acquired set of activities and assets includes 

an input and a substantive process that together 

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 

financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classif ication and designation in accordance with 

the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 

pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 

includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 

host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the 

previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 

acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset 

or liability is measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent 

consideration that is c lassi f ied as equity is not 

remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted 

for within equity.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess 

of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests and 

any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 

interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this 

consideration and other items is lower than the fair 

value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after 

reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on 

bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwi l l  has been a l located to a cash-

generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and 

part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 

goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 

included in the carrying amount of the operation when 

determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill 

disposed of in these circumstances is measured based 

on the relative value of the operation disposed of and 

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures i ts investment proper t ies, 

leasehold land and buildings under property, plant and 

equipment, financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss and derivative financial instruments at fair value 

at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the 

price that (t th)1.2 ( (u)-10.6 (g)9.9 (u)-14.6 a)-11-15.2 ((e)-15.3 (p)-67 (e)-16.4 (s i40.3 (t r.5 (e f)-20.2d o)3.5 (f, f)-.3 o e)-14.3 (d o)34 (l )]TJ
0.0(n)-9.1 (c (s)-14.6 (s)-9.3 (e)-3.2 (ts )0.5 ( (r l)-9.3 (p11.2 (s)-8.3 (n)-108
0.146 Tw 0 -.556 Td
[(th)-10.6  f)-20.o ta)-1.7 (t)0.9.1 (c)-7 (tr)-15TJ
0f(r)-14.6 ( a l )]TJ
0(a)-12.3 (l i)0.5 ba)-12.3 l)-7.4 (l )]TJ
0(t r)-0.8 s a]TJ
0y(n th)-10.6(n)-9.1 (c (r)-40.1 (t8.3 ((e)-15.3 (r)-14.6 (i)-12.7 lt r.5 (ey ta)-1.7 (t)0.9.1 (c)-7 (tr)-1-12.3 (l)12 (h r)-)-0.8 s9.3 (o)-10.6 (n d)-9.3 (-11-15.2 ()-6.8 (a)-)2.52 (i2-20.2d o61 (men)-8.7 (d146 Tw 0 -1.556 Td
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when 

annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than inventories, investment properties, deferred tax 

assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount 

is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 

value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, 

and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 

asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or groups 

of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying 

amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 

are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or 

loss in the period in which it arises in those expense 

categories consistent with the function of the impaired 

asset.

An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit 

or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset 

is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 

impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with 

the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting 

period as to whether there is an indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no 

longer exist or may have decreased. If such an 

indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset 

other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been 

a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount 

higher than the carrying amount that would have been 

determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had 

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss 

is credited to profit or loss in the period in which 

it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 

loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant 

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that 

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management 

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 

Group;

or
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following 

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the 

same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or a joint venture 

of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary 

or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures 

of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity 

and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan 

for the benefit of employees of either the 

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by 

a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant 

influence over the entity or is a member of 

the key management personnel of the entity 

(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of 

which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the Group or to the 

parent of the Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

(Continued)

Construct ion in progress represents a bui ld ing 

under construction, which is stated at cost less any 

impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost 

compr ises the direct costs of construction and 

capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds 

during the period of construction. Construction in 

progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of 

property, plant and equipment when completed and 

ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment proper t ies are interests in land and 

buildings (including the leasehold property held as a 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for the leasehold land inc luded in 

investment properties and property, plant and 

equipment measured at fair value and revalued 

amount, respectively, the Group’s land use rights 

are separately disclosed in the statement of 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

L e a s e  l i a b i l i t i e s  a r e  r e c o g n i s e d  a t  t h e 

commencement date of the lease at the present 

value of lease payments to be made over the 

lease term. The lease payments include fixed 

payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 

less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 

payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 

amounts expected to be paid under residual value 

guarantees. The lease payments also include the 

exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 

cer ta in to be exerc ised by the Group and 

payments of penalties for termination of a lease, 

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the 

option to terminate the lease. The variable lease 

payments that do not depend on an index or a 

rate are recognised as an expense in the period 

in which the event or condition that triggers the 

payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, 

the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 

at the lease commencement date because the 

interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 

determinable. After the commencement date, the 

amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 

the accretion of interest and reduced for the 

lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 

amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there 

is a modification, a change in the lease term, 

a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to 

future lease payments resulting from a change in 

an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an 

option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group had no lease liabilities as at 1 January 

2019 and 31 December 2019.

(c) Short-term leases

T h e G ro u p a p p l i e s  t h e  s h o r t- te r m l e a s e 

recognition exemption to its short-term leases 

of of f ice premises (that is those leases that 

have a lease term of 12 months or less from 

the commencement date and do not contain 

a purchase option). Lease payments on short-

term leases are recognised as an expense on a 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in wh ich the Group does not t rans fe r 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of an asset are classified as operating 

leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease 

components, the Group allocates the consideration in 

the contract to each component on a relative stand-

alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted 

for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is 

included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss 

due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred 

in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 

added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised over the lease term on the same basis as 

rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as 

revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset 

to the lessee, are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, 

as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair 

value through profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 

financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the 

Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) 

when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset 

have expired, or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive 

cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a 

“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the 

Group has transferred substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has 

neither transferred nor retained substantially 

all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive 

cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, 

it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of 

the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 

transferred control of the asset, the Group continues 

to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 

Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group 

also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 

asset and the associated liability are measured on a 

basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 

guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 

the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 

and the maximum amount of the consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when 

internal or external information indicates that the 

Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 

amounts in full before taking into account any credit 

enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is 

written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to 

impairment under the general approach and they are 

classified within the following stages for measurement 

of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract 

assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed 

below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credi t 

risk has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition and for which the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal 

to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk 

has increased signif icantly since initial 

recognition but that are not credit-impaired 

f inancial assets and for which the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal 

to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired 

at the repor ting date (but that are not 

purchased or originated credit-impaired) 

and fo r wh ich the loss a l lowance is 

measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

ECLs
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

depends on their classification as follows:

Financial l iabi l i t ies at amor tised cost ( loans and 

borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans, borrowings 

and senior note are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method 

unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses 

are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 

derecognised as well as through the effective interest 

rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 

discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits 

characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability 

in the statement of financial position, net of transaction 

costs. If the conversion option of convertible bonds 

exhibits characteristics of an embedded derivative, 

it is separated from its liability component. On initial 

recognition, the derivative component of the convertible 

bonds is measured at fair value and presented as 

part of derivative financial instruments. Any excess 

of proceeds over the amount initial ly recognised 

as the derivative component is recognised as the 

liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned 

between the liability and derivative components of the 

convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds 

to the liability and derivative components when the 

instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the 

transaction costs relating to the liability component is 

recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion 

relating to the derivative component is recognised 

immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of 

convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. The derivative financial 

instruments are measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 

flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand and demand deposits, and short term highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of 

generally within three months when acquired, less bank 

overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an 

integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of 

financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits 

and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not 

restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that a future outflow 

of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 

provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount 

recognised for a provision is the present value at the 

end of the reporting period of the future expenditures 

expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising 

from the passage of time is included in finance costs in 

the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax 

assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward 

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 

utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the 

deductible temporary dif ferences arises from 

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 

and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences 

associated with interests in subsidiaries and joint 

ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 

and taxable profit will be available against which 

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 

at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 

taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 

deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that 

it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will 

be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 

to be recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 

tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 

on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 

if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right 

to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities 

and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on either the same taxable entity or different 

taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax 

liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 

future period in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 

recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value 

where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be 

complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 

item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis 

over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended 

to compensate, are expensed.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised 

when or as control of goods or services is transferred 

to the customers at an amount that ref lects the 

consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 

in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a 

variable amount, the amount of consideration is 

estimated to which the Group wil l be entitled in 

exchange for transferring the goods or services to the 

customer. The variable consideration is estimated at 

contract inception and constrained until it is highly 

probable that a significant revenue reversal in the 

amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur 

when the associated uncertainty with the variable 

consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component 

which provides the customer with a significant benefit 

of financing the transfer of goods or services to the 

customer for more than one year, revenue is measured 

at the present value of the amount receivable, 

discounted using the discount rate that would be 

reflected in a separate financing transaction between 

the Group and the customer at contract inception. 

When the contract contains a financing component 

which provides the Group with a significant financial 

benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised 

under the contract includes the interest expense 

accreted on the contract liability under the effective 

interest method. For a contract where the period 

between the payment by the customer and the transfer 

of the promised goods or services is one year or less, 

the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of 

a significant financing component, using the practical 

expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis 

over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that 

do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised 

as income in the accounting period in which they are 

incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using 

the effective interest method by applying the rate that 

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts 

over the expected life of the financial instrument to the 

net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ 

right to receive payment has been established, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of 

the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory 

Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Mandator y Prov ident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are 

eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions 

are made based on a percentage of the employees’ 

basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they 

become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held 

separately from those of the Group in an independently 

administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions 

vest fully with the employees when contributed into 

the MPF Scheme. Where employees leave the scheme 

prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions, 

the amount of forfeited contributions cannot be used to 

reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which 

operate in Mainland China are required to participate 

in a central pension scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) 

operated by the local municipal government. The 

subs id ia r ies are requ i red to contr ibu te cer ta in 

percentages of their payroll costs to the Pension 

Scheme. The only obl igation of the Group with 

respect to the Pension Scheme is to pay the ongoing 

contr ibu t ions under the Pens ion Scheme. The 

contributions are charged to profit or loss as they 

become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

Pension Scheme.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of 

time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The 

capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when 

the assets are substantially ready for their intended 

use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 

the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs 

consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 

in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 

dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional 

currency and items included in the financial statements 

of each entity are measured using that functional 
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 

transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 

value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a 

non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in 

line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change 

in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on 

the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in 

other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or 

loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition 

of the related asset, expense or income on the 

derecogni t ion of a non-monetary asset or non-

monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, 

the date of initial transaction is the date on which the 

Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset 

or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 

consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts 

in advance, the Group determines the transaction 

date for each payment or receipt of the advance 

consideration.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

176

2.4 �ô���6���A
��?�� �€�ƒ�•  

�.�Æ�€�ƒ�•

�ð �• 	� �. �• �n �®�!�e�L �� �®�! �¿ �¥ ��

�†�8�˜��	•�¬�Æ�i�‰�¥�©�ø�.�˜�¬�Æ�f

�õ � � �S� ‚ �K�d� � 
 � �¼� � � ˜ � � � * �~ � �
À

�2 � � �S� ‚ �K � ˜ 
Ò� � � l �Q�‰�¥ �©�d� I �&

	B�Œ�Æ�2�Ë�«�;� i � � �Æ
Ò�� � l �Q�‰�¥

�©�f�Ô�* �[ �Y 
Ò �3 �¨ �X �õ�I �ü �Œ�&�×

�] �½ �©�d�( �] ���] 
Ò �3 �· �ê �f �� 
/ 	�

� . �8 
 � �Û�d�Þ�ë � � 
 ° 	 � � . �8 
 � �Y � I �ü

�Œ�&�× �] �Å�±�õ �& 	B�Œ�•�½ �©�f

�× �… 	 � � . �8 
 � � * � [ �Y � ‚ � � 
  � ‘ �¿ �×

� … � Ô � ¬ � ç � � � * � ¿ � � 
 À � * � & � = � Y � ‚ � �

� ® � ª � = � � � Æ � — � … � * 	 � � . � 8 
 � � Y � � � *

�¿ ��
À�d�( �2 �× �9 
Ò�� �l �Q�f

�1 � ] �¥ �$ �– � t 
Ž �Œ�þ� 
�d	 � � . � • �n �®

� ! � ˜ �$ �– � t 
Ž �2 �$ �– � t 
Ž�Ú� ‚ �Y�G � \


Ò�� �l �Q�‰�¥ �©�f	� �. �• �n�®�! �õ �Æ

�H�Ë� � � * � [ � ˜ �¾
 l � Ì �$ �– � t 
Ž�d�Æ�2

�Ë�« �Y�� �Æ�;�i 
Ò�� �l �Q�‰�¥ �©�f

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The func t iona l  cu r renc ies o f  ce r ta in ove rseas 

subsidiaries, an associate and a joint venture are 

currencies other than Hong Kong dollars. As at the 

end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities 

of these enti t ies are translated into Hong Kong 

dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end 

of the reporting period and their statements of profit 

or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the 

weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 

resulting exchange dif ferences are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, 

the component of other comprehensive income relating 

to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 

profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign 

operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition 

are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of 

cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries 

are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 

rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which 

arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong 

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the 

year.
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements 

requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

their accompanying disclosures and the disclosure 

of contingent l iabi l i t ies. Uncer tainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 

that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the 

future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting 

po l i c ies, management has made the fo l low ing 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, 

which have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial proper ty 

leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group 

has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms 

and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease 

term not constituting a major part of the economic 

l i fe of the commercial proper ty and the present 

value of the minimum lease payments not amounting 

to substantially all the fair value of the commercial 

property, that it retains substantially all the significant 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these 

properties which are leased out and accounts for the 

contracts as operating leases.
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and 

owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies 

as an investment property, and has developed criteria 

in making that judgement. Investment property is a 

property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 

or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a 

property generates cash flows largely independently of 

the other assets held by the Group. Some properties 

comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for 

capital appreciation and another portion that is held for 

use in the production or supply of goods or services 

or for administrative purposes. If these portions could 

be sold separately or leased out separately under a 

finance lease, the Group accounts for these portions 

separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, 

the property is an investment property only if an 

insignificant portion is held for use in the production 

or supply of goods or services or for administrative 

purposes. Judgement is made on an indiv idual 

property basis to determine whether ancillary services 

are so significant that a property does not qualify as an 

investment property.
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred taxation arising 

from investment properties that are measured using 

the fair value model, the directors of the Company have 

reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios 

and concluded that the Group’s investment properties 

of HK$2,624,229,000 (2019: HK$2,486,340,000), 

representing properties for residential or commercial 

use, are held under a business model whose objective 

is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 

embodied in the investment properties over time, 

rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the 

Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, 

the directors of the Company have determined that 

the presumption that the carrying amounts of these 

investment properties measured using the fair value 

model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. 

Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to these 

investment proper ties has been measured based 

on the tax consequences of recovering the carrying 

amounts entirely through use.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 

described below.
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provis ion for ECL for amounts due from an 

associate and a joint venture and loan receivables 

(Continued)

In relation to the valuation of amounts due from an 

associate and a joint venture, in addition to the above, 

the management has exercised judgement in estimating 

the timing and future cash flow to be recovered with 

reference to the timing of the collection of receivable 

from the associate and joint venture, in order to 

determine the recoverability of the amounts due from 

the associate and joint venture.

The carrying amounts and the accumulated ECLs of 

amounts due from an associate and a joint venture and 

loan receivables are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

When the fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss recorded in the consolidated 

statement of financial position cannot be derived from 

active markets, the fair value is determined using a 

variety of valuation techniques that include the use 

of mathematical models. The inputs to these models 

are taken from observable markets where possible, 

but where this is not feasible, estimation is required 

in establishing fair values. The estimates include 

considerations of cer tain unobservable inputs as 

detailed in note 41 to the financial statements. Changes 

in assumptions about these factors could affect the 

reported fair value of financial assets at fair value 
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3. Signi f icant Account ing Judgements and 
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Purchase price allocation of the Merger

Upon completion of the Merger on 15 July 2019, 

TZ Uni ted East and COBT were d issolved and 

deregistered. The Group’s interest in ZHYQ, being 

the surviving entity (the “Merged Enterprise”), through 

a 68.07% non-wholly-owned subsidiary, has been 

increased from 33% to 51% (Group’s effective interest 

increased from 22.46% to 34.72% after Merger) and the 

Merged Enterprise is accounted for as investment in a 

joint venture by the Group using the equity method.

Management of the Company has engaged an external 

valuer to perform the valuations of the enterprise 

value of TZ United East and the fair value of the 

net identifiable assets and liabilities of the Merged 

Enterprise as at the date of completion of the Merger 

to determine the gain on disposal of a subsidiary and 

the gain on the bargain purchase from the Merger, 

respectively.

The assessment of the fair value of the enterprise value 

of TZ United East and the net identifiable assets and 

liabilities of the Merged Enterprise and allocation of 

the purchase price required significant management 

judgement and estimation.

The Group recognised a gain on disposal of a 

subsidiary and a gain on bargain purchase from 

the Merger of approximately HK$248,431,000 and 

HK$177,436,000 (restated), respectively, for the year 

ended 31 December 2019. The gain on bargain 

purchase from the Merger was determined on a 

provisional basis as at 31 December 2019 and the 

Group has finalised the fair value assessment of the 

net identifiable assets and liabilities of the Merged 

Enterprise during the year ended 31 December 2020, 

details of which are set out in notes 4 and 35 to the 

financial statements.
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4. A d j u s t m e n t s  A r i s i n g  Fr o m P r i o r  Ye a r 
Provisional Accounting

Dur ing the year ended 31 December 2020, the 

Group has f inalised the fair value assessment of 

the net identi f iable assets and l iabi l i t ies of the 

Merged Enterprise. On completion of the fair value 
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4. A d j u s t m e n t s  A r i s i n g  Fr o m P r i o r  Ye a r 
Provisional Accounting (Continued)

The effects of the adjustments arising from completion 

of the Merger described above on the financial position 

as at 31 December 2019 by line items presented in the 

consolidated statement of financial position were as 

follows:

(Originally 

stated) (Restated)

�€�J �¾ � �•�• �€�¾ � �•�•

31 December 

2019

Adjustment 

arising from 

completion of 

the Merger

31 December 

2019

2019�Ë

12�Ü31�Ú

�¥ � ; � • �Ó

�* � [ �Y� � �Æ

2019�Ë

12�Ü31�Ú

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� �� ��

Non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � *

Interests in a joint venture �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �Æ	B 3,223,521 (94,670) 3,128,851�� �� �� �� ��

Current liabilities � t 
 � � � 
À

Tax payable �Ð�ù �ü 
° (123,017) 16,314 (106,703)�� �� �� �� ��

Total effects on net assets �Á � � � � � * �Y �B �¤ �< �X 7,602,701 (78,356) 7,524,345�� �� �� �� ��

Equity �p �Æ

Retained profits � ­ 	5 �P� ; 2,709,954 (53,337) 2,656,617

Non-controlling interests � ¢ 
 › � p � Æ	 B 927,160 (25,019) 902,141�� �� �� �� ��

Total effects on total equity �Á �p �Æ�< �= �Y 

�B �¤ �< �X 7,602,701 (78,356) 7,524,345�� �� �� �� ��
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4. A d j u s t m e n t s  A r i s i n g  Fr o m P r i o r  Ye a r 
Provisional Accounting (Continued)

Impact on basic earnings per share:

2019

HK cents

�¥ � �
�� ��  

Basic earnings per share before adjustments �õ � � �Æ�Ã�Y�Ê �p 
? � I �®� ; 2.42

Adjustment arising from completion of the Merger �¥ � ; � • �Ó � * � [ �Y� � �Æ (2.31)�� �� ��

Restated basic earnings per share �¾ � �• �Ê �p 
? �I �®�; 0.11�� �� ��

Impact on diluted earnings per share:

Diluted earnings per share before adjustments �õ � � �Æ�Ã�Y�Ê �p �Å � [ �®� ; 2.42

Adjustment arising from completion of the Merger �¥ � ; � • �Ó � * � [ �Y� � �Æ (2.31)�� �� ��

Restated diluted earnings per share �¾ � � • �Ê �p �Å � [ �®� ; 0.11�� �� ��

5. Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into 

business units based on their products and has the 

following reporting segments:

(a) the investments segment represent ing the 

investments in f inancial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss and loan receivables;

(b) the property leasing segment representing holding 

of properties for rental income potential and/or for 

capital appreciation; and
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

(c) � i � 0 � · � ˆ � ± � Å � 8 � i � 0 � · � ˆ � * � Ü


q �ø �¿ �d �6 �~ � [ � * � i �0 � · � ˆ � *

�Ü � ´ �ë �Y �± � 
 � � 
 �� €�õ �Ú � � 2019

�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë � � �Š � ^ �ß� •� €� • 
W

12�•�f

�M�#�4�H�9�9�À�I
«� �¾���±�Å�8�6�d

�ø�©� * � � � � �U�± 	ã �Ô 
 � �¿ 
Y � � �Œ�$� f

� ± � Å � Œ � $ � 2 � � � O � � � ± � Å � P � ; � J� f � &


Y � ��d�C � � 
Ž �¾� � �Æ	ð �ü�Ã�P� ; � J� f

� &� f � ¾ � � � Æ 	 ð � ü � Ã � P � ; � J� f � & � ˜ � �


Ž �~ � I 
« �   	ð �ü�Ã�P� ; �J� f �& �«� Ï �S

�ç�d
 “ �Þ�ë � � 
Ž� ” � 
 �< �¢ 	a �# � ´ �ë �Y

	 Ì 
 � 
 l � \�e�Ð �& �L � � �®� ! �¿�S� •�¥ � �

� † �8 �8 �6�ø �¿ �† �8 
 š �Õ� f

� _ � õ � ô � � � � � 6 � Ô 
 � � k � ( � J � › � ‚ � 2 � a

�± �Å� � � * �¿ � �
À�d�B � ( � Ì �O � • �± �Å� �

�* �Ð��
À�f

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

(c) the petrochemical segment representing the 

trading of petrochemical products and provision of 

sub-contracting service related to the production 

of petrochemical products (discontinued during 

the year ended 31 December 2019) (note 12).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s 

operating segments separately for the purpose of 

making decisions about resources allocation and 

performance assessment. Segment performance is 

evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, 

which is a measure of adjusted profit / loss before 

tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured 

consistent ly wi th the Group’s prof i t / loss before 

tax except that non-lease-related f inance costs, 

share of results of an associate and a joint venture 

and corporate expenses are excluded from such 

measurement.

No segment assets or liabilities is presented as the 

chief operating decision maker does not regularly 

review segment assets and liabilities.
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�Ú�� 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë��

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

Investments

Property 

leasing Total

� ³ � � � J �8 	a �# �< � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�©
�� ��    

Revenue from continuing operations �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �Y �× 	B

— Rental income —	a �–�× � ] — 89,128 89,128

— Di vidend income from listed and 

unlisted securities

— �j�9�¿ �¢�j�9 �Ç �N�p �¹

� × � ] 116 — 116�� ��    

116 89,128 89,244
�� ��    

Segment profit �± �Å �P� ; 211,513 32,603 244,116
�� ��   

Other unallocated income, gains and 

losses

� I �ü �J �± 	ã �× � ]�e�× 	B �¿

� f �& 45,357

Corporate expenses �† �8 
š �Õ (119,470)

Finance costs (other than interest on 

lease liabilities)

	Ì 
� 
l �\�€	a �# ��
À �̃  

�; �¹ 	ð �.�• (213,776)

Share of profit or loss of: �Ð �&�h � • � ˜ �P � ; �Ð � f �&� j

— an associate — �S� • �L � � �®� ! 3,325

— a joint venture — �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 (404,061)�� ��    

Loss before taxation 	ð �ü �Ã�f �& (444,509)

Taxation � ü 
 ° 3,401�� ��    

Loss for the year �Ë�« �f �& (441,108)
�� ��    
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�Ú�� 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë��

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

Investments

Property 

leasing Unallocated Total

� ³ � � � J �8 	a �# �J �± 	ã �< � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�©
�� ��     

Other segment information: �I �ü �± �Å�� �Ø�j

Depreciation �± � � — 870 13,290 14,160

Change in fair value of 

financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I

� 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B �Y  

�–�D � � �* � ˜  

�®� ª �= � 
 
 � (667) — — (667)

Interest income from an 

associate

�8� ��S� • �L � � �®� !  

�Y � ; � ¹ �× � ] 22,497 — — 22,497

Interest income from a joint 

venture

�8���S�•�¥ �� �† �8  

�Y� ; � ¹ �× � ] 76,371 — — 76,371

Interest income from loan 

receivables

�Ð�× 
 r � › �Y � ; � ¹  

� × � ] 181,053 — — 181,053

Write-off of loan and other 

receivables


r �› �¿ � I �ü �Ð�× �›

�Û �V — — (62,510) (62,510)

Reversal of impairment loss 

on financial assets, net

�–�D � � �* � ¯ �= � f �&

�a �« � � �X 6,352 — — 6,352

Change in fair value of 

investment properties

�³ � � �J �8 �˜ �®�ª �=

� 
 
 � — (13,555) — (13,555)

Change in fair value of 

a derivative financial 

instrument

�� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H �˜  

�®� ª �= � 
 
 �

— — 39,630 39,630

Net loss on disposal of 

property, plant and 

equipment

�� 
 / �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿  

�£ �ê �Y� f �& � � �X

— (24) — (24)

Capital expenditures ���I 
š �Õ — 1,936 1,316 3,252

Interest in an associate �S� • �L � � �®� ! �Y  

�Æ	B — — 85,569 85,569

Interest in a joint venture �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �Y  

�Æ	B — — 3,033,385 3,033,385

Share of profit of an associate �Ð�&�S� • �L � � �®� !  

�Y �P� ; — — 3,325 3,325

Share of loss of a joint venture �Ð�&�S�•�¥ �� �† �8  

�Y� f �& — — (404,061) (404,061)�� ��     
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�Ú�� 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���€�¾� �•�•

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)

Continuing operations

Discontinued 

operation

�5 �ƒ �¾���8 
�

�Š�^�ß

�¾���8 
�

Investments

Property 

leasing

Total 

continuing 

operations Petrochemical Total

� ³ � � � J �8 	a �#

�5 �ƒ �¾��

�8 
 � �< �X � i �0 � · � ˆ � < � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��      

Revenue from continuing operations �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �Y �× 	B

— Rental income —	a �–�× � ] — 107,568 107,568 — 107,568

— Di vidend income from listed and unlisted securities — �j�9�¿ �¢�j�9 �Ç �N�p �¹ �× �] 85 — 85 — 85�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

85 107,568 107,653 — 107,653�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Revenue from a discontinued operation �8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� �Y �× 	B — — — 288,381 288,381�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

85 107,568 107,653 288,381 396,034
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Segment (loss)/profit �± �Å�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (54,232) 62,626 8,394 (28,699) (20,305)
�� �� �� ��

Other unallocated income, gains and losses � I � ü � J �± 	ã �× � ]� e�× 	B �¿ � f �& 3,470 909 4,379

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary from the Merger �_�¥ � ; �þ� � 
 / �S 
œ�• �n�®� ! �Y �× 	B — 248,431 248,431

Gain on bargain purchase from the Merger �¥ �;�˜ �D �� �…
o�× 	B — 177,436 177,436

Corporate expenses �† �8 
š �Õ (148,530) — (148,530)

Finance costs 	 Ì 
 � 
 l � \ (133,746) (40,091) (173,837)

Share of profit or loss of: �Ð �&�h � • � ˜ �P � ; �Ð � f �&� j

— an associate — �S� • �L � � �®� ! (7,091) — (7,091)

— a joint venture — �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 108,822 — 108,822�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

(Loss)/profit before taxation 	ð �ü �Ã�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (168,681) 357,986 189,305

Taxation � ü 
 ° (10,570) (105,990) (116,560)�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (179,251) 251,996 72,745
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�Ú�� 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���€�¾� �•�•

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)

Continuing operations

Discontinued 

operation

�5 �ƒ �¾���8 
�

�Š�^�ß

�¾���8 
�

Investments

Property 

leasing Unallocated

Total 

continuing 

operations Petrochemical Total

� ³ � � � J �8 	a �# �J �± 	ã

�5 �ƒ �¾��

�8 
 � �< �X � i �0 � · � ˆ � < � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��       

Other segment information: �I �ü �± �Å�� �Ø�j

Depreciation �± � � — 1,053 11,422 12,475 109,785 122,260

Amortisation of land use rights �z �®�4 � \ �Æ �Å�V — — — — 2,077 2,077

Other expenses �I �ü
 l � \ — — — — 30,645 30,645

Change in fair value of financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���] �& 	B

�Y �–�D �� �* �˜ �®�ª �= � 
 
 � (201,650) — — (201,650) 89 (201,561)

Interest income from an associate �8� ��S�• �L � � �®� ! �Y� ; � ¹ �× � ] 22,727 — — 22,727 — 22,727

Interest income from a joint venture �8� ��S�•�¥ � � �† �8 �Y� ; � ¹ �× � ] 19,943 — — 19,943 — 19,943

Interest income from loan receivables �Ð�× 
r � › �Y � ; � ¹ �× � ] 134,717 — — 134,717 — 134,717

Write-off of other receivables � I �ü �Ð�× � › �Û �V — — (54,107) (54,107) — (54,107)

Impairment loss on financial assets, net �–�D � � �* � ¯ �= � f �& � � �X (20,984) — — (20,984) — (20,984)

Change in fair value of investment properties �³ � � �J �8 �˜ �®�ª �= � 
 
 � — 18,103 — 18,103 — 18,103

Change in fair value of a derivative financial instrument� � � [ � –�D � ˆ�H � ˜ �®� � � ª �= � 
 
 � — — 4,562 4,562 — 4,562

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment �� 
 / �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê �Y�f �&  

� � �X — (3) — (3) — (3)

Capital expenditures ���I 
š �Õ — 85 5,330 5,415 196,258 201,673

Interest in an associate �S� • �L � � �®� ! �Y �Æ	B — — 77,050 77,050 — 77,050

Interest in a joint venture �S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �Y �Æ	B — — 3,128,851 3,128,851 — 3,128,851

Share of loss of an associate �Ð�&�S� • �L � � �®� ! � f �& — — (7,091) (7,091) — (7,091)

Share of profit of a joint venture �Ð�&�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �Y �P�; — — 108,822 108,822 — 108,822�� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�®
9���Ø

�8�� � . �Å �� �Ò�Y�× 	B

�ø�j�×	B���Ø�W
?�õ���Ò�Ô�¯�Y�®�Ã�f

�¢ � t 
 � � � � *

� ø � j � 5 � ƒ � ¾ � � � 8 
 � � Y � ¢ � t 
 � � � � * � �

�Ø�W
? �õ �� �* �Ô�¯ �Y �® �Ã�d�” �
 �< �ø

�®�ª �= � � 
Ž �ò� I � 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B�Y �–�D

� � � *�e�Ð�× 
 r � › �¿ �Ð�×�S� •�¥ � � �† �8

�›�f

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Geographical information

Revenue from external customers

2020 2019

Continuing

operations

Discontinued

operation

Continuing

operations

Discontinued

operation

� 5 � ƒ

�¾� � �8 
 �

�Š�^�ß

�¾� � �8 
 �

� 5 �ƒ

�¾���8 
�

�Š�^�ß

�¾���8 
�

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� �� �� ��

Hong Kong �0 � ¥ 116 — 620 —

PRC �•
7 89,128 — 107,033 288,381�� ��   �� ��

89,244 — 107,653 288,381�� ��   �� ��

The revenue information above is based on the 

locations of the customers.

Non-current assets

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Hong Kong �0 � ¥ 290,687 351,721

PRC �•
7 5,757,633 5,654,352�� ��  ��

6,048,320 6,006,073�� ��  ��

The non-current asset information of continuing 

operations above is based on the locations of the 

assets and excludes financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, loan receivables and an amount 

due from a joint venture.
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5. �¾���±�Å���Ø �€�ƒ�•

�ô�����Ò�Y���Ø

�õ� I �Ë � � �¿ �@ �»�Ë� ��d�8� � � 
 �H � . �Å

�� �Ò�Y�× �] �? �” 
 t �@�I 
« �  �5 �ƒ �¾��

�8 
 � �< �× � ] �Y 10%�Ð�ø �j�f

6. �×	B�e�I�ü�×�]�e�×	B�¿�f�&

�5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �̃ �× 	B �±�� �½�h�j

5. Operating Segment Information (Continued)

Information about major customers

During the current and prior years, no revenue from a 

single external customer amounted to 10% or more of 

the Group’s total revenue from continuing operations.

6. Revenue, Other Income, Gains and Losses

An analysis of revenue from continuing operations is as 

follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Revenue from other sources �I �ü �8 �U�× 	B

Gross rental income �<	a �–�× � ] 89,128 107,568

Dividend income from listed and 

unlisted securities

�j�9�¿ �¢�j�9 �Ç �N  

�p �¹ �× � ] 116 85�� ��  ��

89,244 107,653�� ��  ��
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6. �×	B�e�I�ü�×�]�e�×	B�¿�f�& �€�ƒ�•  

�5 �ƒ �¾�� �8 
� �̃ �I �ü �× �]�e�× 	B �¿ �f

�& �±�� �½�h�j

* � � � – � X � 8 � 1 � I 
 « �   � ¾� � � J � 8 	 a � # � 8


 � � � � • 
 7 � « � ® � ´ � ë � A � ´ � Ú � ë � � 
 { � ˜

� þ 
 h� f � ? � Ì �Þ �ë � � 
 � � þ 
 h � ˜ � J � : �Ó


â �• �Ð �Ð�Í �+ 
° � f

6. Revenue, Other Income, Gains and Losses 
(Continued)

An analysis of other income, gains and losses from 

continuing operations is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Interest income �; � ¹ �× � ]

— amount due from an associate — �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › 22,497 22,727

— amount due from a joint venture — �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› 76,371 19,943

— bank deposits — �Õ � � �À �› 545 2,750

— loan receivables — �Ð�× 
 r � › 181,053 134,717

Net foreign exchange loss @i �3 � f �& � � �X (810) (162)

Net loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment

�� 
/ �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê �˜ �f �&

� � �X (24) (3)

Government grants* �A � ´ �þ 
h * 631 875

Others �I �ü 4,821 886�� ��  ��

285,084 181,733�� ��  ��

* The amount represented grants received from relevant 

government authorities in Mainland China for the 

Group’s operation of property leasing business. There is 

no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to these 

grants.
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7. �5�ƒ�¾���8
��˜	ð�ü�Ã�f�&  

� I 
« �   �5 �ƒ �¾� ��8 
 �� ˜ 	ð �ü �Ã� f �& �W

�¾�Ô	ð�J�€���]�•�h �• �¢
°�j

* � Ú � �2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �ß �Ë ���d �0 �¥

� # � ¥ � ¤ � ¥ 
 ? � – � h � Y � ­ � 1 � 8 � � � Œ � ï

� ó � ˆ � � � þ 
 h 580,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j

�Ì�•�f �� �› 
° �Š �̄�� �A 
š �Õ�• �½ �©�d

�( �Š �~ �ˆ � � �¿ �Z �– �– �X �´ �ê�f �ä 
°

�þ �? �– � ( � Ì � J � : �Ó �Y 
â � • �Ð �Ð � Í �+


° � f

7. Loss Before Taxat ion From Cont inu ing 
Operations

The Group’s loss before taxation from continuing 

operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Auditor’s remuneration �è �p � ª �G �– 5,350 4,500
Change in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss
�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���]  

�& 	B �Y �–�D �� �* �˜ �®�ª �=  
� 
 
 � 667 201,650

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment

�J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê �± ��
11,376 12,475

Depreciation of right-of-use assets �4 � \ �Æ� � � * �± � � 2,784 —
Employee benefit expense including 

directors’ and chief executive 
officer’s remuneration:

�‡ �p�E �; 
š �Õ�€�
 �< �è �+�¿  
�� �A �< 
R�G �–�•�j

Wages and salaries* �ˆ�� �¿ �Z �– * 64,206 59,466
Pension scheme contributions 

(defined contribution scheme)
	× �~�–� � �Œ�6 �›  
�€�› �X �6 �› �� �Œ�• 2,582 1,526�� ��  ��

66,788 60,992�� ��  ��

Rental income under operating leases 
for investment properties, less 
outgoing of HK$9,016,000 (2019: 
HK$6,419,000)

�³ �� �J �8 �¾�� 	a �Ò�̃ 	a �–�× �]�d
� ¯ �Õ�V 9,016,000�¥ �©�€ 2019
�Ë�j 6,419,000�¥ �©�•

(80,112) (101,149)
Write-off of loan and other receivables 
 r � › �¿ � I �ü �Ð�× � › �Û �V 62,510 54,107
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment 

of financial assets, net
�–�D � � � *�€� ¯ �= �a �«� •�J � ¯ �= � �

�X (6,352) 20,984
Change in fair value of investment 

properties
�³ � � �J �8�®�ª �= � 
 
 �

13,555 (18,103)
Change in fair value of a derivative 

financial instrument
� � � [ � –�D � ˆ�H � ˜ �®� ª �= � 
 
 �

(39,630) (4,562)�� ��  ��

* Wage subsidy of HK$580,000 was granted from the 

Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic 

Fund in Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December 

2020 (2019: Nil). The amount was recognised in the 

administrative expenses and had been set-off against 

the amount of wages and salaries. There is no unfulfilled 

condition or contingency relating to this grant.
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8. 	Ì
�
l�\

�8�� �5 �ƒ �¾�� �8 
� �˜ 	Ì 
 � 
 l � \ �Y �±��

�½�h�j

9. �è�+�¿���A�<
R�G�–  

�I �Ë ���d�ì �½ �j �9 �• �Æ�e�0 �¥ �®�! 
â

� 7 � K383(1)(a)�e (b)�e (c)�¿ (f)
 â � ø � ¿ � ®

� !� €� Þ � £ � è � + � ; 	 B � � � Ø� •� • � 7 � K 2� Å � Þ

�£�d�Õ�ù �š�I �®�! �è �+�¿ �� �A �< 
R �Y

�Z �G�½�h�j

8. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations 

is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Interest on bank loans �Õ �� 
r � › � ; � ¹ 35,216 63,689

Interest on other loans �I �ü 
r � › � ; � ¹ 36,077 2,747

Interest on convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N�; �¹ 141,955 67,310

Interest on senior note � ´ � ‹ �C �½� ; � ¹ 528 —

Interest on lease liabilities 	a �# � �
À � ; � ¹ 2,899 —�� ��  ��

216,675 133,746�� ��  ��

9. Directors’ and Chief Execut ive Of f icer ’s 
Remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Company’s directors 

and the chief executive officer for the year, disclosed 

pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) 

and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and 

Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information 

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows.

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Fees �š �– 3,600 3,941

Other emoluments: �I �ü �G �–�j

Salaries, allowances and benefits  

in kind

�Z �–�e�u 
h�¿ �¼�J �E �;

9,425 6,374

Discretionary bonuses 	ä 
 ‹ �€ � Î 952 —

Pension scheme contributions 	× �~�–� � �Œ�6 �› 132 82�� ��  ��

10,509 6,456�� ��  ��

14,109 10,397�� ��  ��
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9.  �è�+�¿���A�<
R�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

(a) �ù�m�¢
B���è�+

� Ë � « � Õ � ù � š � I � ® � ! � ù � m � ¢ 
 B � �

�è �+�̃ �š �– �½�h�j

�õ �Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���d

� ( � Ì � I � ü � Ð � ù � ù � m � ¢ 
 B � � � è � +

�̃�G �–�€ 2019�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

9. Directors’ and Chief Execut ive Of f icer ’s 
Remuneration (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to the Company’s independent 

non-executive directors during the year were as 

follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Liang Qing 
Ñ � ¡ 400 400

Zhang Lu 
u - ¨ 400 400

Hung Muk Ming �s �Ý�ü 300 300�� ��  ��

1,100 1,100�� ��  ��

There were no other emoluments payable to the 

Company’s independent non-executive directors 

during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 

Nil).
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9.  �è�+�¿���A�<
R�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

(b) 
B���è�+�e�¢
B���è�+�¿���A�<
R

9. Directors’ and Chief Execut ive Of f icer ’s 
Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors 

and the chief executive officer
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9.  �è�+�¿���A�<
R�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

(b) 
B���è�+�e�¢
B���è�+�¿���A�<
R

�€�ƒ�•

9. Directors’ and Chief Execut ive Of f icer ’s 
Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors 

and the chief executive officer (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Pension 

scheme 

contributions

Total 

remuneration

�š �–

�Z �–�e�u 
h

�¿ �¼�J �E � ; 	ä 
 ‹ �€ � Î

	× �~�–

� � �Œ�6 � › �Z �G �< �X

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

2019 2019�Ë

Executive directors: 
B�� �è �+�j

Ma Yilin (note a) 	õ+I � 
�€�• 
W a�• 400 — — — 400

Gao Jian Min (note b) 	÷ � � �O�€�• 
W b�• 500 3,200 — 12 3,712

Huang Jiajue (note c) 
» �3 � ��€�• 
W c�• 555 2,085 — 31 2,671

Luo Zhihai (note d) � ¯ � } 	 � �€�• 
W d�• 555 1,089 — 39 1,683

Liu Tianni (note e) � � �Â �N�€�• 
W e�• — — — — — �� �� �� �� �� ��

2,010 6,374 — 82 8,466�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Non-executive directors: �¢ 
B�� �è �+�j

Gao Jian Min (note b) 	÷ � � �O�€�• 
W b�• — — — — —

Chu Hing Tsung (note f) �á �EB*�€�• 
W f�• 462 — — — 462

Chen Zhiwei (note f) �Ó � › 
 ��€�• 
W f�• 369 — — — 369

Luo Zhenhong (note g) � ¯ �È �ƒ�€�• 
W g�• — — — — —

Hui Xiao Bing (note g) � I �ƒ �6�€�• 
W g�• — — — — —

Chen Qiming (note g) �ÓIJ �ü�€�• 
W g�• — — — — — �� �� �� �� �� ��

831 — — — 831�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

2,841 6,374 — 82 9,297�� �� �� �� �� �� ��
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9.  �è�+�¿���A�<
R�G�– �€�ƒ�•  

(b) 
B���è�+�e�¢
B���è�+�¿���A�<
R

�€�ƒ�•

�• 
W�j

(a) 	 õ + I � 
 � ‹ � [ � õ 2021�Ë1�Ü11�Ú

�Ø �‚ �I�®�! 
B�� �è �+�f

(b) 	 ÷ � � � O � ‹ � [ � Š � _ � I � ® � ! 
 B � �

� è � + � � � ‚ � ‰ � I � ® � ! � ¢ 
 B � � � è

�+�d�( �õ2019 �Ë9�Ü2�Ú�Ø �‚ �I

� ® � ! � è � + � < � ¾ � # � ¿ � � � A � < 
 R

� � 
 � � f �¾�u �õ 2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�Ø

�‚ �I�®�! �¢ 
B�� �è �+�f

(c) 
 » � 3 � � � ‹ � [ � õ 2019�Ë1�Ü29�Ú

� � � ‰ � ‚ � ‰ � I � ® � ! 
 B � � � è � + � ¿

�õ 2019�Ë9�Ü2�Ú� � �‰� ‚ �‰� I�®

�! � � �A �< 
R�f

(d) � ¯ � } 	 � � ‹ � [ � õ 2019�Ë1�Ü29�Ú

�� �‰�‚ �‰�I�®�! 
B�� �è �+�f

(e) � � � Â � N � ‹ � [ � õ 2019�Ë1�Ü29�Ú

�Ø �‚ �I�®�! 
B�� �è �+�f

(f) � á � E B * � ‹ � [ � ¿ � Ó � › 
 � � ‹ � [ � õ

2019�Ë1�Ü29� Ú � � � ‰ � ‚ � ‰ � I � ®

� ! �¢ 
B� � �è �+� f

(g) � ¯ � È � ƒ � ‹ � [� e � I � ƒ � 6 � ‹ � [ � ¿

� Ó I J � ü � ‹ � [ � õ 2019�Ë1�Ü29�Ú

�Ø �‚ �I�®�! �¢ 
B�� �è �+�f

�õ �Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���d

� ? � Ì � I � ® � ! � Þ � ë � è � + � ó 
 Ý � Ð � •

� � � ó 
Ý � ‚ � � � Z �G � ˜ �Ä 
 °� f

9. Directors’ and Chief Execut ive Of f icer ’s 
Remuneration (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors 

and the chief executive officer (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Ma Yilin resigned as an executive director of 

the Company on 11 January 2021.

(b) Mr. Gao Jian Min has been re-designated from 

an executive director of the Company to a non-

executive director of the Company and has 

resigned as the managing director and the chief 

executive officer of the Company on 2 September 

2019. He resigned as a non-executive director of 

the Company on 1 January 2020.

(c) Mr. Huang Jiajue has been appointed as an 

executive director of the Company on 29 January 

2019. He has been appointed as the chief 

executive officer of the Company on 2 September 

2019.

(d) Mr. Luo Zhiha i has been appointed as an 

executive director of the Company on 29 January 

2019.

(e) Mr. Liu Tianni resigned as an executive director of 

the Company on 29 January 2019.

(f) Mr. Chu Hing Tsung and Mr. Chen Zhiwei have 

been appointed as non-executive directors of the 

Company on 29 January 2019.

(g) Mr. Luo Zhenhong, Mr. Hui Xiao Bing and Mr. 

Chen Qiming resigned as non-executive directors 

of the Company on 29 January 2019.

There was no arrangement under which a director 

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 

during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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10. �ž�¤�ð	÷�Z�‡�p

� õ � Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �ß �Ë ���d�ž �¤

� ð 	 ÷ � Z � ‡ � p � 
 � < � G � ¤� € 2019�Ë�j�g �¤�•

�è �+�d�¾
 �� ˜ �Z �G � 	 
 ‹ �1 �õ � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 �

� � � Œ � • 
 W9 � f � õ � Ú � � � � � Ë � �� d� I � q � g

�¤�€ 2019� Ë� j� G � ¤� •� ð 	 ÷ � Z � ¢ � è � + � ‡ � p

�˜ �Z �G � 	 
 ‹ �½�h� j

�Z �G �§�÷�h � • � Í � � � ˜ �¢ �è �+�ð	÷ �Z �‡

�p �p�f�½�h�j

10. Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year ended 

31 December 2020 included two (2019: three) directors, 

details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 to 

the consolidated financial statements. Details of the 

remuneration of the remaining three (2019: two) highest 

paid non-director employees for the year are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Salaries, allowances and benefits  

in kind

�Z �–�e�u 
h�¿ �¼�J �E �;

6,698 3,742

Discretionary bonuses 	ä 
 ‹ �€ � Î 770 —

Pension scheme contributions 	× �~�–� � �Œ�6 �› 95 29�� ��  ��

7,563 3,771�� ��  ��

The number of non-director highest paid employees 

whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as 

follows:

2020 2019
�� ��  ��

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001�¥ �© � � 1,500,000�¥ �© — 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001�¥ �© � � 2,000,000�¥ �© 1 —

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001�¥ �© � � 2,500,000�¥ �© — 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001�¥ �© � � 3,000,000�¥ �© 2 —�� ��  ��

3 2�� ��  ��
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11. �ü
°

� Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë ���d �_ �õ �I

�®�! �¿ �I �õ �0 �¥�˜ �• �n�®�! �} 
{ �ü 
�

�f�&�d�B�(�Ú�Þ�d�a�0�¥�;
{�ü�€ 2019

�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

�Ë�«�d�•
7�†�8�Ô
{�ü�€� �̃†�8�Ô
{�ü�™�•

�W�I�®�! �õ �•
7 �˜ �• �n �®�! �ø�� �� �Ð

� � � ü � P � ; � ì � ½ � G � \ � Y � ´ � ë � Ô 
 { � ü � ,

� 7 � � � Q� Ô
 {� ˜� ü 
 ° � Õ� �� f � ì � ½� •
 7 � †

�8 �Ô 
{ �ü �,�€�̃�† �8 �Ô 
{ �ü �,�™�•�¿ �† �8

�Ô
{ �ü �, �¼ �D�Z�Æ�d�Ú �� 2020�Ë12�Ü

31�Ú�ß �Ë ���d�I �®�! �õ �• 
7 �˜ �• �n �®

�! �˜�ü ���‰ 25%�€ 2019�Ë�j 25%�•�f

�� �I�®�! �õ �•
7 �˜ �• �n �®�! �× �_ �p �¹

�× � ] � ˜ �k �Ô�ü �2 5%�ü�� �� �Q�f

11. Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made 

as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong 

incurred tax losses during the year ended 31 December 

2020 (2019: Nil).

The taxation charge of the PRC Corporate Income 

Tax (“CIT”) for the year has been made based on 

the Group’s estimated assessable profits calculated 

in accordance with the relevant income tax laws 

applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. 

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax 

(“CIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the 

CIT Law, the tax rate of the Company’s subsidiaries 

in the PRC was 25% for the year ended 31 December 

2020 (2019: 25%).

The withholding tax arising from dividend income 

received from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC is 

calculated at 5%.

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Current: �C�‚�j

PRC CIT — charge for the year � •
7 �† �8 �Ô
 { �ü   

— �Ë�«�Õ�� 930 7,036

Deferred (Note 31) � È � ·  (� • 
W31) (4,331) 3,534 ��  ��

Total tax (credit)/charge for the year  

for continuing operations

�Ë�« �5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜�ü 
°  

�€�ê �5�•�J�Õ�� �< �X (3,401) 10,570�� ��  ��

Total tax charge for the year for  

a discontinued operation

�Ë�«�Š�^�ß �¾���8 
 � � ˜  

�ü 
° �Õ�� �< �X — 105,990�� ��  ��
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11. �ü
°�€�ƒ�•

�2 �I�®�! �¿ �I �} �Å�± �• �n �®�! 
W�� �Ô

�¯�! �, �Æ
� �˜ �, �› �ü �� �� �Q�˜ 	ð �ü�Ã

�P �; �J�€�f �&�•�G �\ �Ô 
{ �ü 
š �Õ �J�€�ê

� 5� •� ~ � 2 � ¼ � ç � ü � � � � � Q � ˜ � I � Ë � � � ü 
 °


š �Õ �J�€�ê �5�•�� �Æ�½�h�j

11. Taxation (Continued)

A reconci l iat ion of income tax expense/(credi t) 

applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rate 

for the jurisdictions in which the Company and most of 

its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) 

at the effective tax rate for the year are as follows:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� �� �� ��

Loss before tax from continuing 

operations

�8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� �˜

	ð �ü �Ã�f �& (444,509) (168,681)

Profit before tax from a 

discontinued operation

�8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
�

� ˜ 	ð �ü �Ã�P� ; — 357,986�� ��   �� ��

(444,509) 189,305�� ��   �� ��

Tax (credit)/charge at the PRC 

statutory income tax rate

�2 �•
7 �, �› �Ô
{ �ü

�� �� �Q�˜�ü 
°  

�€�ê �5�•�J�Õ�� (111,127) 25.0 47,326 25.0

Share of results of a joint 

venture

�Ð�&�S�•�¥ �� �† �8

� ˜ � 8 �6 101,015 (22.7) (27,206) (14.4)

Share of results of an associate �Ð�&�S� • �L � � �®� !  

� 8 � 6 (831) 0.2 1,773 0.9

Income not subject to tax �á 
² � � �ü �× � ] (20,813) 4.7 (2,132) (1.1)

Expenses not deductible  

for tax

�” � � �Ô �ü 
š �Õ

14,121 (3.2) 55,183 29.2

Tax losses not recognised �J �½ �© �ü 
° � f �& 14,234 (3.2) 41,616 22.0�� ��   �� ��

Tax (credit)/charge at the 

Group’s effective tax rate

�2 � I 
«�   �¼�ç�ü� � � �

�Q�̃�ü 
°�€�ê �5�•�J

�Õ�� (3,401) 0.8 116,560 61.6�� ��   �� ��

Tax (credit)/charge from 

continuing operations at 

effective tax rate

�2 �¼�ç�ü �� � � �Q�˜

�5 �ƒ �¾���8
� �ü 
°

�€�ê �5�•�J�Õ�� (3,401) 0.8 10,570 (6.3)�� ��   �� ��

Tax charge from a discontinued 

operation at effective tax rate

�2 �¼�ç�ü�� �� �Q�˜�Š

�^�ß �¾���8 
� �ü 
°

�Õ�� — — 105,990 29.6�� ��   �� ��



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

205

11. �ü
°�€�ƒ�•

�Ð �&�S�• �L � � �®� ! �¿�S�•�¥ � � �† �8 �ü


°�±�9�‰�g�€ 2019�Ë�j 16,795,000�¥�©�•

�¿�ü 
° �ê �5 70,590,000�¥�©�€ 2019�Ë�j

33,718,000�¥ �©�•�d�Š���] �] �¥�& 	B �Œ

� « � Y� ˜� Ð � & � S � • � L � � � ® � ! � ¿ � S � • � ¥ � �

�† �8 �& 	B�™�f
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12. �Š�^�ß�¾���8
� �€�ƒ�•

�Ú � � � I 
« �   �0 � � 	 � �È� � �L 
 › �S �Æ�…�Ú

�ß� 
 �< �¯ � ] �¥�& 	B�Œ�«�˜� I 
« �   �Š�^

� ß � ¾ � � � i � 0 � · � ˆ � * � Ü � ¿ � d � 6 � � � ˆ � �


� �̃ �8 �6 �1 �• �½�h�j

12. Discontinued Operation (Continued)

The results of the discontinued operation in the trading 

of petrochemical products and provision of sub-

contracting service of the Group, which have been 

included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

up to the date on which the Group lost control over TZ 

United East, are as follows:

(Restated)
�€�¾ � �•�•

From 
1 January 

2019 up 
to the date 
of disposal

�� 2019�Ë
1�Ü1�Ú	Î ��
�� 
/�˜�Ú�ß

HK$’000
�w�¥ �©

�� ��  

Revenue � × � ] 288,381
Cost of sales and services �V 
/�¿ �� 
� �Ó �I (236,505)
Other income, gains and losses � I � ü �× � ]� e�× 	B �¿ � f �& 909
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���] �&

	B �Y �–�D �� �* �˜ �®�ª �= � 
 
 � 89
Administrative and other expenses �� �A �¿ �I �ü
 l � \ (71,209)
Finance costs 	 Ì 
 � 
 l � \ (40,091)
Legal and professional fee incurred for the Merger �¥ � ; �Ô�* � [ �Y � , � ��¿
Y�8 
 l � \ (9,455)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary from the Merger �_�¥ � ; �þ� � 
 / �S 
œ�• �n�®� ! �Y

� × 	 B 248,431
Gain on bargain purchase from the Merger �¥ �;�˜ �D �� �…
o�× 	B 177,436�� �� ��

Profit before tax from the discontinued operation �Š�^�ß �¾� ��8 
 � � ˜ 	ð �ü �Ã�P� ; 357,986
Taxation from the discontinued operation �Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� �˜�ü 
° (105,990)�� �� ��

Profit for the year from the discontinued operation �8� ��Š�^�ß �¾���8 
 � � ˜�Ë�«  
�P � ; 251,996�� �� ��

Profit attributable to: �Ð�& �P�;�j
Owners of the Company �I�®�! �¹ �Þ�[ 172,077
Non-controlling interests � ¢ 
 › � p � Æ	 B 79,919�� �� ��

251,996�� �� ��



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

207

12. �Š�^�ß�¾���8
� �€�ƒ�•

�¥ �; �˜ �D �� �…
o�× 	B �W�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü

31�Ú�2 � r � › 
? �_ �> � ›� f� I 
« �   �Š �õ �Ú

�� 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë� � � • �Ó �Á �¥ � ;

�† �8 � ˜� � �Æ�9� � � * �¿ � �
À � � �X�Y�®� ª

� = 
 Y � �� d � ( � Á � × � … � ¥ � ; � † � 8 � X � . � Æ

	B �˜�r �› �– �X�* �� 	Û �Q�� �Æ�f

� i � 0 � · � ˆ � * �Ü �V 
 / �¿ �d �6 � � � ˆ � � 
 �

�Ô�* �[ �Y �$ �– �t �� �X �½�h�j

12. Discontinued Operation (Continued)

The gain on bargain purchase from the Merger was 

determined on a provisional basis as at 31 December 

2019. The Group has finalised the fair value assessment 

of the net identif iable assets and liabilities of the 

Merged Enterprise during the year ended 31 December 

2020 and retrospective adjustments were made to the 

provisional calculation regarding the acquisition of the 

additional interest in the Merged Enterprise. 

The net cash f lows incur red by the t rad ing of 

pet rochemica l p roduc ts and prov is ion of sub-

contracting service are as follows:

From 

1 January 

2019 up 

to the date 

of disposal

�� 2019�Ë

1�Ü1�Ú	Î ��

�� 
/�˜�Ú�ß

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

Operating activities �¾���8 
� 121,633

Investing activities � ³ � � �8 
 � (104,721)

Financing activities �D � � �8 
 � (66,389)�� �� ��

Net cash outflow � � �$ �– � t � � (49,477)�� �� ��

Earnings per share from the discontinued operation: �8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� �˜  

�Ê �p �®�;�j

Basic and diluted (Restated) 
? �I�¿ �Å �[�€�¾ � �•�• HK7.47 cents

7.47�¥ � ��� �� ��

12. �Š�^�ß�¾���8
� �€�ƒ�•

�Ú � � � I 
« �   �0 � � 	 � �È� � �L 
 › �S �Æ�…�Ú

�ß� 
 �< �¯ � ] �¥�& 	B�Œ�«�˜� I 
« �   �Š�^

� ß � ¾ � � � i � 0 � · � ˆ � * � Ü � ¿ � d � 6 � � � ˆ � �


� �̃ �8 �6 �1 �• �½�h�j
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12. �Š�^�ß�¾���8
� �€�ƒ�•

�Š�^�ß �¾� � �8 
 � � ˜�Ê �p 
? � I �®� ; �2 �ø

�h 
? �_ �� �Q�j

�_ �õ�I�®�! �  �J �7 �l �˜�� �l �p 
À �N �Á

�Ô�O�•�Ê�p
?�I�®�;�H�Þ�À�Å�[�B�¤�d

� ª �ä � ( � Ì � 1 �Ú � � 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë

� � � O � • � ˜ � Ê � p 
 ? � I � ® � ; � * � � � Å � [ � �

�Æ� f

13. �p�¹

� õ �Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë�� �« �( � Ì

� | �ù �Ð � � �D � | �ù �p � ¹�€ 2019�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

12. Discontinued Operation (Continued)

The calculation of the basic earnings per share from 

the discontinued operation is based on:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2019

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

Profit attributable to owners of the Company from the 

discontinued operation, used in the basic earnings 

per share calculation

�\ �ø �� �Q�Ê �p 
? �I �®�; �˜ �Š�^

�ß �¾���8 
� �˜ �I�®�!  

�¹ �Þ�[ �Ð �& �P�; 172,077�� �� ��

Number 

of shares

�p �…�p�f

2019

in thousand

�w�p
�� ��  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 

during the year used in the basic earnings per share 

calculation (note 14)

�\ �ø �� �Q�Ê �p 
? �I �®�; �˜�Ë�«

�Š� ï � � �w� · �p � � �Æ� ;� i �p  

�€�• 
W 14�• 2,304,850 �� ��

No adjustment for dilution has been made to the basic 

earnings per share presented for the year ended 31 

December 2019 as the Company’s convertible bonds 

outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic 

earnings per share presented.

13. Dividend

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 

31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
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14. �I�®�!�w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�Ê�p�€�f
�&�•�J�®�;

�Ë�«�€�f�&�•�J�P�;

�I�®�! �w�· �Æ	B �5 �Þ�[ �Ð �& �Y �Ê �p 
?

�I�¿ �Å �[�€�f �&�•�J�®�; �W�ì �½�h �• �p

�½ �� �Q�Ô
{�j

�_ �õ�I�®�! �  �J �7 �l �˜�� �l �p 
À �N �Á

�Ô �O �• �Ê �p 
? �I�€�f �&�•�J�® �; �– �X

� H � Þ � À � Å � [ � B � ¤� d � ª � ä � ( � Ì � 1 � Ú � �

2020�Ë�¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë � � �O �•

�̃�Ê �p 
? �I�€�f �&�•�J�®�; �– �X �* �� �Å

� [ � � �Æ� f

14. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share Attributable to 
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Company

For (loss)/profit for the year

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings 

per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 

the Company is based on the following data:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of Company used in 

the basic (loss)/earnings per share 

calculation:

�\ �ø �� �Q�Ê �p 
? �I�€�f �&�•�J�®

�; �˜ �I�®�! �w�· �Æ	B �5 �Þ�[

�Ð�&�€�f �&�•�J �P �;�j

From continuing operations �8���5 �ƒ �¾���8 
� (317,641) (169,601)

From discontinued operation �8���Š�^�ß �¾���8 
� — 172,077�� ��  ��

Total �< � � (317,641) 2,476�� ��  ��

Number of shares

�p �…�p�f

2020 2019

in thousand in thousand

�w�p �w�p
�� ��  ��

Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue during the year used 

in the basic (loss)/earnings per share 

calculation

�\ �ø �� �Q�Ê �p 
? �I  

�€�f �&�•�J�®�; �̃�Ë�«  

�Š� ï � � �w� · �p � � �Æ� ;� i �p

2,304,850 2,304,850�� ��  ��

No adjustment for dilution has been made to the basic 

(loss)/earnings per share amounts presented for the 

years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 as the 

Company’s convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-

dilutive effect on the basic (loss)/earnings per share 

amounts presented.

12. �Š�^�ß�¾���8
� �€�ƒ�•

�Š�^�ß �¾� � �8 
 � � ˜�Ê �p 
? � I �®� ; �2 �ø

�h 
? �_ �� �Q�j

�_ �õ�I�®�! �  �J �7 �l �˜�� �l �p 
À �N �Á

�Ô�O�•�Ê�p
?�I�®�;�H�Þ�À�Å�[�B�¤�d

� ª �ä � ( � Ì � 1 �Ú � � 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë

� � � O � • � ˜ � Ê � p 
 ? � I � ® � ; � * � � � Å � [ � �

�Æ� f

13. �p�¹

� õ �Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë�� �« �( � Ì

� | �ù �Ð � � �D � | �ù �p � ¹�€ 2019�Ë�j�Ì�•�f
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14. �I�®�!�w�·�Æ	B�5�Þ�[�Ð�&�Ê�p�€�f
�&�•�J�®�; �€�ƒ�•  

�8���5�ƒ�¾���8
�

�I�®�! �w�· �Æ 	B �5 �Þ�[ �Ð �&�8�� �5 �ƒ

� ¾ � � � 8 
 � � Y � Ê � p 
 ? � I � ¿ � Å � [ � f � & � W

�ì �½�h �• �p �½ �� �Q�Ô
{�j

� Ô � \ � ± � N � ~ � j � � � Ê � p 
 ? � I � ¿ � Å � [ � f

�& �Y �± �N�´ �• � f

�_ �õ�I�®�! �  �J �7 �l �˜�� �l �p 
À �N �Á

�Ô�O� • � 8� � � 5 � ƒ �¾� � � 8 
 � � ˜�Ê �p 
 ? � I

� f �& �– �X �H �Þ�À �Å � [ �B �¤�d� ª �ä � ( � Ì

� 1 � Ú � � 2020�Ë�¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë

� � � O � • � ˜ � Ê � p 
 ? � I � f � & � – � X � * � � � Å

� [ � � �Æ� f

14. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share Attributable to 
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Company 
(Continued)

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss from 

continuing operations per share attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the Company is based on the 

following data:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Loss attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of Company used in the 

basic loss per share calculation

�\ �ø �� �Q�Ê �p 
? �I �f �& �˜  

�I�®�! �w�· �Æ	B �5 �Þ�[  

�Ð �&� f �& 317,641 169,601�� ��  ��

The denominators used are the same as those detailed 

above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

No adjustment for dilution has been made to the basic 

loss per share amounts for continuing operations 

presented for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 

2019 as the Company’s convertible bonds outstanding 

had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share 

amounts presented.
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15. �³���J�8 �€�ƒ�•

�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•

� Ú � �2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �ß �Ë ���d �K 1	t

� ~ � K2	 t � ˜ 
 œ � ( � Ì � ® � ª � = � � 
 Ž � 7 � E� d

�u �Ì �7�] �Ð �7�� �K 3	t�€ 2019�Ë�j�Ì�•�f

�ø�h�‰� I 
« �   � ˜ � ³ � � �J �8� � �= �Ô� \ � ˜

� � � = � ¦ � ”�¿ �ô � � � i � ] � p �½ �? � �� j

15. Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there were 

no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 

1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 

(2019: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and 

the key inputs used in the valuation of the Group’s 

investment properties:

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs

� � �= � ¦ � ” � �}�” �� �H �À �i �] �p �½ 2020 2019
     

Office Investment approach Capitalisation rate (%) 6 6

�3�¿ � } � ³ � � � , � � � I � · � ��€ %�•

Market rent (RMB per square meter 

per month)

120–138 120–138

�9 � � 	 a � –� €�Ê�Ü�Ê � ;�Ù�÷� [ �O�Æ�©� •

Carpark Comparison approach Adjusted transaction price  

(RMB per carpark space)

200,000–220,000 200,000–250,000

	þ � � � � � â � 0 � , �¾� � �Æ� t�ø � � � ø�€�Ê �H � � � �  

�[ �O�Æ�©�•

Commercial Investment approach Capitalisation rate (%) 6 6


  �8 � ³ � � � , � � � I � · � ��€ %�•

Market rent (RMB per square meter 

per month)

70–145 72–145

�9 � � 	 a � –� €�Ê�Ü�Ê � ;�Ù�÷� [ �O�Æ�©� •

Residential (located in 

Hong Kong)

Comparison approach Adjusted transaction price  

(HK$ per square foot)

26,073–34,532 25,478–54,631

�� �Ã�€�� �õ �0 �¥�• � â � 0 � , �¾�� �Æ �t�ø �� �ø�€�Ê �;�Ù �J �¥ �©�•

Residential and 

commercial  

(located in the PRC)

Comparison approach Adjusted transaction price  

(RMB per square meter)

22,930–56,616 38,000–62,907

�� �Ã�¿ 
 �8�€�� �õ �•
7�• � â � 0 � , �¾�� �Æ �t�ø �� �ø�€�Ê �;�Ù�÷  

�[ �O�Æ�©�•
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Leasehold 

land and 

buildings

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture 

and fixtures

Office 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles Total

	a �# �z �®

�¿�} �Á 	a �# �J �8 � � �L �ç � l �¿ �£ �ê � l �®� � � £ �ê � Û � � �¥ � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�© �w�¥�©
�� ��       

31 December 2020 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú

At 1 January 2020: 2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I — 17,375 5,813 2,394 20,968 46,550

Revalued amount � � � �– �X 299,240 — — — — 299,240

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �=

— (15,366) (1,182) (1,895) (13,515) (31,958)�� ��       

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 299,240 2,009 4,631 499 7,453 313,832�� ��       

At 1 January 2020, net of 

accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

�õ 2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�d

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �=

� � �X 299,240 2,009 4,631 499 7,453 313,832

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3� � �Æ 211 78 286 21 218 814

Additions 
ô �Ä — 172 36 107 2,937 3,252

Disposals �� 
 / (19,580) — (163) — (79) (19,822)

Revaluation � � � (35,779) — — — — (35,779)

Depreciation provided during  

the year

�Ë�« � � �d �± � � �a �ê

(8,429) (908) (16) (205) (1,818) (11,376)�� ��       

At 31 December 2020, net of 

accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

�õ 2020�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú�d�] ��

�± ���¿ �¯ �= �� �X 235,663 1,351 4,774 422 8,711 250,921�� ��       

At 31 December 2020: �õ 2020�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I — 17,714 5,848 2,530 23,937 50,029

Revalued amount � � � �– �X 235,663 — — — — 235,663

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �=

— (16,363) (1,074) (2,108) (15,226) (34,771)�� ��       

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 235,663 1,351 4,774 422 8,711 250,921�� ��       
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Leasehold 

land and 

buildings

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture 

and fixtures

Office 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Factory, 

plant and 

machinery

Construction 

in progress Total

	 a �# � z �®

�¿�} �Á

	a � #

�J �8 � � �L �ç� l �¿ �£ �ê � l �®� � �£ �ê � Û � �

�ˆ �@�e

�@ �Ò�¿�Ú �œ �¯ � � � ˆ �û �¥ � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��         

31 December 2019 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú

At 1 January 2019: 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I — 14,841 5,918 5,167 30,115 3,671,128 355,277 4,082,446

Revalued amount � � � �– �X 330,823 — — — — — — 330,823

Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �=

(7,642) (14,717) (1,136) (3,484) (21,684) (580,991) — (629,654)�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 323,181 124 4,782 1,683 8,431 3,090,137 355,277 3,783,615�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

At 1 January 2019, net of 

accumulated depreciation 

and impairment

�õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�d�] ��

�± ���¿ �¯ �= �� �X

323,181 124 4,782 1,683 8,431 3,090,137 355,277 3,783,615

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3� � �Æ (84) (86) (105) (18) (89) (12,077) (5,428) (17,887)

Additions 
ô �Ä — 2,788 — 427 2,200 459 195,799 201,673

Disposals �� 
 / — — — (3) — — — (3)

Revaluation � � � (9,433) — — — — — — (9,433)

Depreciation provided during 

the year

�Ë�« � � �d �± � � �a �ê

(10,450) (817) (46) (196) (1,829) (108,922) — (122,260)

Disposal of a subsidiary  

(note 35)

�� 
/ �S 
œ�• �n�®�!  

�€�• 
W 35�• (3,974) — — (1,394) (1,260) (2,969,597) (545,648) (3,521,873) �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019, net of 

accumulated depreciation 

and impairment

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d  

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �= �� �X

299,240 2,009 4,631 499 7,453 — — 313,832�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019: �õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I — 17,375 5,813 2,394 20,968 — — 46,550

Revalued amount � � � �– �X 299,240 — — — — — — 299,240

Accumulated depreciation 

and impairment

�] � � �± ���¿ �¯ �=

— (15,366) (1,182) (1,895) (13,515) — — (31,958)�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 299,240 2,009 4,631 499 7,453 — — 313,832�� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�I 
« �  �� �õ �• 
7

�Y�*�&���=�Ò�‰ 33,395,000�¥�©�€ 2019

�Ë�j 33,017,000�¥ �©�•�̃	a �# �z �® �¿ �}

�Á �Y�8 �Æ�( �J �@ �Ò� � � I 
« �   � f

� I 
 « �   � Y 	 a � # � z � ® � ¿ � } � Á � õ 2020�Ë

�¿ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�˜ �® �ª �= �W 
? �õ �ù

�m
Y�8�¥ � ��ø � � �= � ª �þ �ø �v�¿6ì � ¦ �»


Ž � ª � � �Þ � " �®� ! �1 � ��Ú�Ô �* � � � ˜ � � �=


 Y � � � Ô 
 { � f � � 
 � � � � = � W � 4 � \ � \ 
 Ÿ � â

� 0 � , � ¾ 
 � � k � 9 � � � � � _ 
 { � Y � V 
 / � Ç � ½

�ø �¿ �³ �� �, �> �›�d�…�•�Ô�Þ�� �� 	a�J

� 8 � 
 � � � ˜ � 9 � � 	 a � – � W � 2 � ³ � � � k � 1 � ä

� ó � J � 8 � Ô � k � ‚ � Y � 9 � � � « � � � � 
 † � � 
 Y

� � �¿ �± �$�f�9 � � 	a �– 
Y �� �J 
 � �ý�Š�•

�Ó� � 	a�J �8� 
 � � � ˜	a �– �¿ � I �ü �L � • � ´

�• �˜ � � 	a�J �8�f � � � I � · � ; � � �J 
 � �ý �±

�� �õ �0 �¥�˜�´ �' 
 �8 �J �8 �˜ �V 
/ �t�ø

�¿ � � �Æ�J �8 � ³ � � �k �Á �9� � �Y� ‚ 
Ð
 } �þ

�À�H� I 
« �   	a �# �z �® �¿� } �Á� ˜	$�9 � ª

	o � f 	a �# �z �®�¿�} �Á�  � � � f �Y �– �X�Ò

�‰35,779,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 9,433,000

�¥ �©�•�Š�Ô	ð�� �* � �� �· �ê�f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�I
«� �*�&�<�=�‰

198,800,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 241,800,000

� ¥ � ©� •� Y � ð � • 	 a � # � z � ® � ¿ � } � Á � Š� * � ê

�å�d�ø�Ä �­ 
¬ �š� I 
« �   �Y�S 	› �Õ � � � ¦


r�€�• 
W 28(a)(ii)�•�f

16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

At 31 December 2020, the legal titles of the Group’s 

leasehold land and buildings with a carrying value of 

approximately HK$33,395,000 (2019: HK$33,017,000) 

situated in the PRC have not been passed to the 

Group.

The fair values of the Group’s leasehold land and 

buildings at 31 December 2020 and 2019 have been 

arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out on 

the respective dates by Vigers and A-Plus Surveyors 

Limited who are independent professionally qualified 

valuers. The valuations were arrived at using direct 

comparison method by reference to sales evidence 

as available on the market, and investment approach, 

where the market rentals of all lettable units of the 

proper t ies are assessed and discounted at the 

market yield expected by investors for these types 

of properties. The market rentals are assessed by 

reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units 

of the properties as well as other lettings of similar 

properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate 

adopted is made by reference to the yields derived from 

analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial 

properties and adjusted to take into account the market 

expectation from property investors to reflect factors 

specific to the Group’s leasehold land and buildings. 

The revaluation deficit on revaluation of the leasehold 

land and bui ld ings amounting to approx imate ly 

HK$35,779,000 (2019: HK$9,433,000) was debited to 

asset revaluation reserve.

At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s leasehold 

land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount 

of HK$198,800,000 (2019: HK$241,800,000) were 

pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to 

the Group (note 28(a)(ii)).
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•

�®�ª�=
�	t

�Ú�� 2020�Ë�¿ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���d

� I 
«�   	a �# �z �®�¿�} �Á�Y�®�ª �= � � 
Ž

�4�\� �}�” �� �H�À�i�] �p�½�€�K 3	t�•�f

�è �+ �© �‰�d�1 �ø�®�ª �= � � 
Ž �Y 	a �# �z

�® �¿�} �Á�þ � 
�d�J �8 �˜ �$�Þ� \ �Ä �J �ð

�} �¿ �ð �3 �\ �Ä�f

�Ú�� 2020�Ë�¿ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���d

�K1	 t �~ �K 2	 t � ˜ 
œ�( � Ì �®�ª �= � � 
Ž �7

�E�d�u �Ì �7�] �Ð �7�� �K 3	t�f

16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, 

the fair value measurements of the leasehold land and 

buildings are using significant unobservable inputs 

(Level 3).

In the opinion of the directors, for leasehold land and 

buildings that are measured at fair value, the properties 

have been used in their highest and best use.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, 

there were no transfers of fair value measurements 

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 

out of Level 3.
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•

�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•

�ø�h�‰� I 
« �   	a �# �z �® �¿� } �Á � � �= �Ô

� \ � ˜� � � = � ¦ � ”�¿ �ô � � � i � ] � p �½ �? � �� j

	 a � # � z � ® � ¿ � } � Á � Y � 9 � � 	 a � – � ¿ � ¾ � �

�Æ� t�ø � � �ø� 
 �ù � } �7 � j � º�J �h �%
Z �¬

� ç � I � ® � ª � = � } � 7 � # � � � J � ¯ � Ç � f 	 a � #

� z � ® � ¿ � } � Á � Y � � � I � · � � � 
 � ù � } � 7 � j

� º� J �h �%
Z �¬ �ç � I�® � ª �= � } �7 � ¯ �Ç�J

�#� � � f

16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and 

the key inputs used in the valuation of the Group’s 

leasehold land and buildings:

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Weighted average

� � �= � ¦ � ” � �}�” �� �H �À �i �] �p �½ �� �Æ�;�i �=

2020 2019
�� �� ��  ��

Office (located in  

the PRC)

�3�¿ �}�€�� �õ �•
7�•

Investment approach

� ³ � � � ,

Term yields

�Ë � ‚ �× 	B� �

5.5% 5.5%

Reversion yields

�B �å �× 	B� �

6.0% 6.0%

Market rents (RMB per square meter  

per month)

� 9 � � 	 a � –� €�Ê�Ü�Ê � ;�Ù�÷� [ �O�Æ�©� •

78 80

Office (located in  

Hong Kong)

�3 �¿ �}�€�� �õ �0 �¥�•

Comparison approach

� â � 0 � ,

Adjusted transaction price  

(HK$ per square foot)

�¾�� �Æ �t�ø �� �ø�€�Ê �;�Ù �J �¥ �©�•

46,386–47,743 56,455–58,003

Residential

� � �Ã

Comparison approach

� â � 0 � ,

Adjusted transaction price  

(HK$ per square foot)

�¾�� �Æ �t�ø �� �ø�€�Ê �;�Ù �J �¥ �©�•

— 14,604–15,709

A significant increase/decrease in the market rent and 

adjusted transaction price in isolation would result in 

a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the 

leasehold land and buildings. A significant increase/

decrease in the capitalisation rate in isolation would 

result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value 

of the leasehold land and buildings.
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16. �J�8�e�@�Ò�¿�£�ê �€�ƒ�•

�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•

�J �J �Á 	a �# �z �® �¿�} �Á 
† �� � ���d�Æ


 Z � 2 � Ý � & � Ó� I 
 ? � _� ø� h � • � – � X � ] � *� j

16. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

If leasehold land and buildings had not been revalued, 

they would have been included at a historical cost 

basis at the following amounts:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

At 1 January: �õ 1�Ü1�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I 148,932 148,932

Accumulated depreciation � ] � � �± � � (125,694) (121,181)�� ��  ��

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 23,238 27,751�� ��  ��

At 1 January, net of accumulated 

depreciation

�õ 1�Ü1�Ú�d�] �� �± �� �� �X

23,238 27,751

Depreciation provided during the year �Ë�«�˜ �± � � �a �ê (4,513) (4,513)�� ��  ��

At 31 December, net of accumulated 

depreciation

�õ 12�Ü31�Ú�d�] �� �± �� �� �X

18,725 23,238�� ��  ��

At 31 December: �õ 12�Ü31�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I 148,932 148,932

Accumulated depreciation � ] � � �± � � (130,207) (125,694)�� ��  ��

Net carrying amount � * �&� � �= 18,725 23,238�� ��  ��
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17. 	a�#

�I
«� �*�‰�Õ	a�[

� I 
 « �   � ì � ½ � ¾ � � 	 a � # � Ä 
 ° 	 a � # � • 
 7

�Y � l �®� � �J �8� f �J �8 �Y 	a �Ò�¾�» 
  � �

� ‰ � ‚14�Ë� f �S 	 › � þ � 
� d� I 
 « �   � ” 
 { 
Z

	a �# � � �* �7 �+ �¿ �±	a � � � I 
« �   �ø � . � f

(a) �4 � \ �Æ � � � *

� I 
 « �   � 4 � \ � Æ � � � * � Ë � « � Y � * � &

�= �¿ �
 
� �½�h�j

17. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group leased office premises in the PRC under 

operating lease arrangements. Leases for the property 

are negotiated for a term of 14 years. Generally, the 

Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the 

leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use 

assets and the movements during the year are as 

follows:

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�e 2019�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú�¿2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú —

Additions 
ô �Ä 57,155

Depreciation charge �± � � 
 l � \ (2,784)

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3� � �Æ (155)�� �� ��

As at 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú 54,216�� �� ��
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17. 	a�#�€�ƒ�•

�I
«� �*�‰�Õ	a�[ �€�ƒ�•

(b) 	a �# � � 
À

� Ë � « 	 a � # � � 
 À � Y � * � & � = � ¿ � 
 
 �

�½�h�j

	 a � # � � 
 À � Y � Q � ‚ � Ú � ± � � � õ 	 Ì 
 �

� � �Œ�• 
W42�Þ �£�f

17. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the 

movements during the year are as follows:

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�e 2019�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú�¿2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú —

New leases � - 	 a �# 57,155

Accretion of interest recognised during the year �Ë�« �½ �© �Y�; � ¹ �# � � 2,899

Payments �ù � › (11,685)

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3� � �Æ 163�� �� ��

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�Y�* �& �= 48,532�� �� ��

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Analysed into: �±���‰�j

Current portion �t 
 � �Å�± — —

Non-current portion �¢ �t 
 � �Å�± 48,532 —�� ��  ��

48,532 —
�� �� �� ��

The matur i t y analys is of lease l iabi l i t ies is 

disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements.
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17. 	a�#�€�ƒ�•

�I
«� �*�‰�Õ	a�[ �€�ƒ�•

(c) � 1 	 a � # � õ � & 	 B � • � ½ � © � Y � – � X � ½

�h�j

(d)  	 a � # � Y � $ � – � t � � � < � X � õ 	 Ì 
 � � �

�Œ�• 
W36(b)�Þ �£�f

� I 
« �   � * �‰� � 	a � [

�Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë���«�d

� I 
 « �   � ì � ½ � ¾ � � 	 a � Ò � Ä 
 ° � � 	 a

�I �³ �� �J �8�€�
 �< �ð �• �õ �0 �¥ �¿

� • 
 7 � Y � � � Ã � ¿ 
  � 8 � J � 8� •� d	 a � ‚

�¾ �» 
 �§ �÷�‰ 1�� 20�Ë�€ 2019�Ë�j

1�� 17�Ë� •� f� I 
« �   �õ �Ú � � 2020�Ë

12�Ü31� Ú � ß � Ë � � � « � ½ � © � Y 	 a � –

� × � ] � Ò � ‰89,128,000�¥ �©�€ 2019

�Ë�j 107,568,000� ¥ � ©� •� d � 	 
 ‹ � 1

�õ � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�• 
W 6 �f

17. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in prof it or loss in 

relation to leases are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Interest on lease liabilities 	a �# � �
À �Y� ; � ¹ 2,899 —

Depreciation charge of right-of-use 

assets

�4 � \ �Æ�� � * �Y �± � � 
 l � \

2,784 —

Expenses relating to short-term 

leases (included in administrative 

expenses)

�~ �õ � ‚ 	a �# �Þ�ë �Y
š �Õ  

�€�
 �< �� �A
l �\�•

2,760 2,004�� ��  ��

Total amount recognised in  

profit or loss

�õ �& 	B �½ �© �Y�< �– �X

8,443 2,004�� ��  ��

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in 

note 36(b) to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the 

Group leased its investment properties consisting 

of certain residential and commercial properties 

in Hong Kong and the PRC under operating 

lease arrangements with leases negotiated for 

terms ranging from 1 to 20 years (2019: 1 to 

17 years). Rental income recognised by the 

Group during the year ended 31 December 

2020 was approximately HK$89,128,000 (2019: 

HK$107,568,000), details of which are included in 

note 6 to the financial statements.
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17. 	a�#�€�ƒ�•

�I
«� �*�‰�Õ	a�[ �€�ƒ�•

(d) �€�ƒ�•

� I 
« �   � * �‰� � 	a � [�€�ƒ� •

�õ �� �S �‚ �K�d�I 
« �  �ì �½ �~ �I

	a �Ò �˜ � ” � � �Þ �V �¾ �� 	a �Ò �˜ �J

� 8 � ‚ 
 œ � Ð � × � J 
 h � $ 	 a � # � ù � › � ½

�h�j

18. �z�®�4�\�Æ

17. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d)  (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group 

had the following undiscounted lease payments 

receivable in future periods under non-cancellable 

operating leases with its tenants:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �q 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

224

19. 
 �‘

� õ � Ú � � 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �ß �Ë ���d �Š �^

� ß � ¾ � � � i � 0 � · � ˆ � * � Ü � Y � V 
 / � ¿ � d � 6

�± � 
 � � 
 � � ˜ �$ �– � [ � * � 
 � ��d� ( �õ �Ú � �

2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë �� �^ �ß �½ �© 
 � ‘

39,462,000�¥ �©�f

19. Goodwill

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

At 1 January 2019: �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�j

Cost �Ó � I 39,462
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20. �õ�S�•�L���®�!�Y�Æ	B

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �Ð �× �S

� • �L � � �®� ! � › �‰ � Ì �ê �å�e�¢ � t �ø � Ì�e

�ø�Ë�;�� 4%���¹ �¿ 
² �õ �S�Ë�«�µ �”�f

� õ �¢ � � �S�Ú�d�¾�ý�G �Ð �×�S� • � L � � �®

� ! � › � Y � < � Ò � ? � � � � 
 † � � � ¯ � = � ± � � � f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�Ô �Ð �\ �˜ �< �Ò �?

� � � ‰1.1%�€ 2019�Ë�j 1.5%�•�d �� �� �< �Ò

�& �0 � � �‰25.4%�€ 2019�Ë�j 54.7%�•�f �õ

2020�Ë �¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�j �� 
� �q

� •�Y �–�D � � � * � ? � Ì �C � ‚� d�Ô�Þ
 � � q � i

� å � ó � ‰ � � 
 Ž � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � Y � K � S 
  

� l � f

20. Interests in an Associate

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Share of net assets �± �& � � � � � * 85,569 77,050�� ��  ��

Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › 589,783 494,556

Impairment � ¯ �= (4,794) (5,993)�� ��  ��

584,989 488,563�� ��  ��

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the amounts due 

from an associate were unsecured, non-trade in nature, 

bearing interest at 4% per annum and repayable within 

one year.

An impairment analysis was per formed at each 

reporting date by considering the probability of default 

of amount due from an associate. As at 31 December 

2020, the probability of default applied was 1.1% 

(2019: 1.5%) and the loss given default was estimated 

to be 25.4% (2019: 54.7%). As at 31 December 2020 

and 2019, none of the financial assets included in 

the above balances were overdue and all balances 

were categorised within stage 1 for measurement of 

expected credit losses.
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20. �õ�S�•�L���®�!�Y�Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

�h �Œ�• � j �1 �Ð �×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › 12�H

� Ü � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � ½ � © � ˜ � f � & � a � ê � ˜

�� �Æ�j

�L � � �®� ! � 	 
 ‹ �½�h� j

# � ì � ½ � • 
 7 � , � � 
 W � � � ‰ 
 7 � « � Þ � " � ª � ‚

�®�! �f

^  � _ � õ � ( � J 
W � � � ‚ � � �œ �Ù �õ �Ö�¤ �H�d

� � �®� ! �Y �õ �Ö�¤ �H �W �I �®� ! �M �# �4

�8�ð�} �@�b�_�I�•�Ö�¤�H�\�G�Ô
{ �f

20. Interests in an Associate (Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss 

allowance that has been recognised for 12-month ECL 

for an amount due from an associate:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

At the beginning of the year �õ �Ë � ‹ 5,993 5,705

(Reversal of impairment loss)/

impairment loss provided  

during the year

�Ë�« �� �d�€�̄�= �f �& �a �«�•�J  

� ¯ �= � f �&

(1,199) 288�� ��  ��

At the end of the year �õ �Ë�K 4,794 5,993�� ��  ��

Particulars of the associate is as follows:

Name

Particulars of 

issued share held

Place of 

registration and 

business

Percentage of 

ownership 

interest 

attributable 

to the Group Principal activities

�¤ �H �Ô �5�Š�ï � � �p �… �� �Ø �î 	¾�¿�� �8 �® �Ã

� I 
« �   �Ð �&

�¹ �Þ �Æ�Æ 	B�â�7 �ô � � � 8 
 �
     

Cinda Jianrun Property Company 

Limited (“Cinda Jianrun”)#^

Registered capital PRC 30% Investment holding

�¦ � : � � �—�®�*�Þ�"�®�!�€� �̃ ¦ � : � � �—�™�• #^ 
W�� �� � I �•
7 30% �³ � � 
 › �p

# Registered as a domestic limited liability company 

u
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20. �õ�S�•�L���®�!�Y�Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

�h�Œ�1�• �H �9 � (� ”�  � } � ˜ � I 
« �   �L � �

�®� ! � ˜ 
Ò �< 	 Ì 
 � � � �Ø� j

21. �õ�S�•�¥���†�8�̃ �Æ	B

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d 	ð 969,951,000� ¥ � ©

�€ 2019�Ë�j 1,164,952,000� ¥ � ©� •� Y � – � X

�‰ �Ì �ê �å�e�¢ �t �ø �Ì�e�ø �x �› �Ë �; ��

4.35%�€ 2019�Ë�j 4.35%�•�� �¹ �¿ 
² �õ

2022�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�µ �” �.�d�Ð �×�S �• �¥

�� �† �8 �› �‰ �Ì �ê �å�e�¢ �t�ø �Ì�e�” ��

�¹ �¿ 
² �2 �� �Ë�µ �”�f

20. Interests in an Associate (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial 

information of the Group’s associate that is not 

individually material:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Share of associate’s profit/(loss)  

for the year

�± �& �L � � �®� ! �Ë�« �P� ; � J  

�€�f �&�• 3,325 (9,261)

Share of the associate’s total 

comprehensive income/(loss)

�± �& �L � � �®� ! �Œ�&�× 	B �J  

�€�f �&�•�< �X 8,519 (10,876)

Aggregate carrying amount of the 

Group’s interests in the associate

� I 
« �   � ˜ �L � � �®� ! �Æ	B �˜  

� * �&�< �= 85,569 77,050�� ��  ��

21. Interests in a Joint Venture

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Share of net assets �± �& � � � � � * 3,033,385 3,128,851�� ��  ��

Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› 1,033,833 1,197,629

Impairment � ¯ �= (4,354) (2,543)�� ��  ��

1,029,479 1,195,086

Portion classified as current assets �å �ó �‰�C�‚ �Å�± (59,528) (30,134)�� ��  ��

Non-current portion �¢�C�‚ �Å�± 969,951 1,164,952�� ��  ��

As at 31 December 2020, except for the amount of 

HK$969,951,000 (2019: HK$1,164,952,000) which 

was unsecured, non-trade in nature, carrying interest 

at fixed rate of 4.35% (2019: 4.35%) per annum and 

repayable on 31 December 2022, the amounts due 

from a joint venture were unsecured, non-trade in 

nature, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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21. �õ�S�•�¥���†�8�̃ �Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

� õ � ¢ � � � S � Ú� d � ¾ � ý � G � Ð � × � S � • � ¥ � �

� † � 8 � Y � < � Ò � ? � � � � 
 † � � � ¯ � = � ± � �� f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �Ô �Ð �\ �˜ �< �Ò

� ? � � � ‰0.2% �� 1.1%�€ 2019�Ë�j 0.2% ��

0.4%�•�d���� �<�Ò�&�0���‰ 25.4%�€ 2019

�Ë�j 54.7%�•�f �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�j ��


 � � q � •�Y �–�D � � � * � ? � Ì �C � ‚� d�Ô�Þ
 �

�q � i �å �ó�‰� � 
Ž �k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f �&�Y�K�S


 �l�f

�h �Œ�• �j �1 �Ð �×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› 12�H

� Ü � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � ½ � © � ˜ � f � & � a � ê � ˜

�� �Æ�j

21. Interests in a Joint Venture (Continued)

An impairment analysis was per formed at each 

repor ting date by consider ing the probabi l i ty of 

default of the amount due from a joint venture. As at 

31 December 2020, the probability of default applied 

ranged from 0.2% to 1.1% (2019: 0.2% to 0.4%) and the 

loss given default was estimated to be 25.4% (2019: 

54.7%). As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, none of the 

financial assets included in the above balances were 

overdue and all balances were categorised within stage 

1 for measurement of expected credit losses.

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss 

allowance that has been recognised for 12-month ECL 

for the amount due from a joint venture:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

At the beginning of the year �õ �Ë � ‹ 2,543 —

Impairment loss provided during  

the year

�Ë�« � � �d �¯ �= � f �&

1,811 2,543�� ��  ��

At the end of the year �õ �Ë�K 4,354 2,543�� ��  ��
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21. �õ�S�•�¥���†�8�̃ �Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

�¥ � � �† �8 � 	 
 ‹ �½�h� j

#  � ì �½ � •
7 � , � � 
W� � �‰
7�« �Þ � " � ª

�‚ �®�! �f

�• 
W�j  �½ � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ � • 
W 12�Ô ���d�õ

2019�Ë7�Ü15�Ú �¥ �; �• �Ó ���d �I


« �   �5 �Þ�Y �• 	 � �0 	 � �È � i � · �Æ 	B

� õ � ± � â � _33% � # � � � � 51%�€�¥ �;

���d
« �  �Y �¼�ç�Æ	B�_ 22.46%�#

� � � � 34.72%�•�f �_ �õ �¾ �¥ �; �† �8

�_ � I 
« �   �¿�S � •�¥ � � � † �8 �¥ � * �«

�� �• �• �M �# �¿ �¾�� �d�ª �ä �• 	 � �0

	 � �È � i � · �Æ 	B �Y �* �& �= �_ �õ �S� •

� L � � �®� ! � ˜�Æ	B �  � - � ± �ó � � � õ �S

�•�¥ �� �† �8 �˜�Æ	B�f

21. Interests in a Joint Venture 
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21. �õ�S�•�¥���†�8�̃ �Æ	B �€�ƒ�•

� h � Œ � • � j �  � } � ¥ � � � † � 8 � Y 	 Ì 
 � � � � Ø

� ? � � � ~ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � Ô � 1 � I 
 « �   � õ � S 
 œ

�¥� � �† �8 � ˜�Æ	B�Y�* �&�= � ˜ � � �Æ� j

21. Interests in a Joint Venture (Continued)

The following table illustrates the reconciliation of the 

summarised financial information in respect of the 

material joint venture reconciled to the carrying amount 

of the Group’s interest in a joint venture in the financial 

statements:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Current assets � t 
 � � � � * 5,774,126 5,526,714

Non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � * 10,325,632 11,551,026

Current liabilities �t 
� ��
À (6,997,113) (7,425,517)

Non-current liabilities �¢ �t 
� ��
À (3,154,832) (3,517,221)�� ��  ��

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in 

the joint venture:

�~ � I 
« �   �¥ � � �† �8 �Æ	B �˜  

�� �Æ�j

Proportion of the Group’s ownership � I 
« �   � ˜ � ¹ �Þ �Æ�â�7 51% 51%

Carrying amount of the investment � ³ � � � ˜ � * �& �= 3,033,385 3,128,851�� ��  ��

Revenue � × � ] 15,019,940 9,205,778

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (836,502) 213,376

Other comprehensive loss  

for the year

�Ë�« �I �ü �Œ�&�f �&

(48,127) (3,810)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for 

the year

�Ë�« �Œ�&�€�f �&�•�J�× 	B �< �X

(884,629) 209,566�� ��  ��
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22. �ø�®�ª�=�� 
Ž�ò�I � 
 
 �� �� ] �& 	B�Y
�–�D���*

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�j �� �p

� I � ³ � � � ± � ó � ‰ � ø � ® � ª � = � � 
 Ž � ò � I � 



 � � �� ] �& 	B � ˜ �–�D � � � *� d�a � ª �‰� I � (

�¢ �5 �* 
o �-�f

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�j �� �¢

�j�9 
? �– �¿�”�� �� �* �\ �¥�—
v �S �± �ó

�‰�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���] �& 	B �˜

� – �D � � � *� d� a � ª �‰ � I� ¥�Ò �$ �– � t 
 Ž � (

�¢ 
Ã �‰� I�– �¿� ; � ¹�ù � ›� f�ø�® � ª �= � �


 Ž � ò � I � 
 
 � � � � ] � & 	 B � ˜ � – � D � � � * � ˜

� ® � ª � = 
 � 	 t � 	 
 ‹ � 1 � õ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � • 
 W

41�f

22. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit 
or Loss

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Listed equity investment, at fair value � j�9 �p� I � ³ � ��d�2 �®�ª �= 4,127 4,198

Unlisted equity securities �¢�j�9 �p�I �Ç �N 64,529 101,182

Unlisted funds �¢�j�9 
? �– 583,441 541,110

Non-performing assets portfolio �”�� �� �* �\ �¥ 223,109 161,017

Others �I �ü 2,780 2,780�� ��  ��

877,986 810,287

Current portion �C�‚ �Å�± (875,206) (807,507)�� ��  ��

Non-current portion �¢�C�‚ �Å�± 2,780 2,780�� ��  ��

The above equity investments at 31 December 2020 

and 2019 were classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted funds and non-performing assets 

por t fo l io at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were 

mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows 

were not solely payments of principal and interest. 

Details of the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss are set out in note 41 

to the financial statements.
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23. �Ð�×
r�›

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�_�I�®�!�S
œ�•�n

�®� ! � ˜ � ¢ 
 › � p �p � � 	 � �È� - � õ �ê
 š � ï � ª

�‚ �®�! �Ä �­ �˜ �Ð�× 
r �› �Ò 163,020,000

�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 163,020,000�¥ �©�•�‰ �Ì

�ê �å�d �2 4.75%�€ 2019�Ë�j 4.75%�•�x �›

�Ë � ; � � � � � ¹ �¿ 
² �õ 2021�Ë12�Ü�µ �”�d

� ( �—�å� ] 
Y � � � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f �&�Y�K�S
  

�l�f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d� ù � m � K � g � Ù � J � µ

� ” � Y � Ð � × 
 r � › � < � X � Ò386,401,000�¥

�©�€ 2019�Ë�j 1,166,134,000�¥ �©�•�‰ �Ì

�ê �å�d �2 �Ë �; � � 12% �� 15% � Y � x � › � ;

�� �� �¹�€ 2019�Ë�j�2 �Ü �; �� 1% � Ð � Ë � ;

�� 12%�� 15%�Y �x �› �; �� �� �¹�•�d�Q �‚

�Ú�‰6�H �Ü� � 2�Ë�€ 2019�Ë�j 1�Ë�•�d�� 
�

� q � X � — � å � ] 
 Y � � � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � Y � K

�S 
  � l � f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d� Ð � × � ù � m � K � g � Ù

� J � µ � ” � Y 
 r � › � < � X � Ò 904,884,000�¥

�©�€ 2019�Ë�j�g�•�‰ �Ì �ê �å�e �2 �x �› �Ë

� ; � � 15%���¹�d�ò�ù �› �C �‚ �§ �÷ 1�H�Ü

�� 6�H �Ü�d �� 
� �q �X �— �å �] 
Y �� �k �‚

� ¦ 
 r � f �& �Y�K�Z 
   � l � f� I 
« �   �Š �õ � �

�S� ‚ �K� � �× �Q�Œ�Å� › 
 ° �¿� ´ �Ð� ; � ¹� f

23. Loan Receivables

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Loan receivables, unsecured �Ð�× 
r �›�d�Ì �ê �å 1,454,305 1,382,167

Impairment � ¯ �= (15,004) (23,172)�� ��  ��

1,439,301 1,358,995

Current portion �t 
 � �Å�± (1,207,369) (1,198,099)�� ��  ��

Non-current portion �¢ �t 
 � �Å�± 231,932 160,896�� ��  ��

As at 31 December 2020, loan receivables guaranteed 

by Taizhou Xin Bin Jiang Development Limited, a non-

controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, 

of an amount of approximately HK$163,020,000 (2019: 

HK$163,020,000) was unsecured, carrying interest 

at fixed rate of 4.75% (2019: 4.75%) per annum and 

repayable in December 2021 and was categorised 

under Stage 1 for assessment of ECLs.

As at 31 December 2020, loan receivables outstanding 

f rom independent th ird par t ies of an aggregate 
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23.  �Ð�×
r�› �€�ƒ�•

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d� Ð � × � ù � m � K � g � Ù

� J �µ � ” �Y 
 r � › � – �X �Ò 53,013,000� ¥ � ©

�‰�Ì �ê �å�d
� �k�•
7 �[ �O �Õ �� �; ���ø

	 � 
 � � ; � � � �� ¹� f �q �X�Š�õ�Ú � � 2020�Ë

12�Ü31�Ú�ß�Ë�� �Û �V �• �* �Ì �, �× �«�f

�h�Œ�• � j �1 �Ð�× 
 r � › 12�H�Ü�k �‚ �¦ 
r

� f �& �½ �©� ˜ � f �& �a �ê � ˜ � � �Æ� j

�õ �¢ � � �S�Ú�d�¾�ý�G �Ð�× 
 r � › �Y �< �Ò

� ? � � � � 
 † � � � ¯ � = � ± � � � f � õ 2020�Ë12

�Ü31�Ú�d�Ô�Ð �\ �˜ �< �Ò �? �� �‰ 0.5%��

2.0%�€ 2019�Ë�j 0.3%�� 4.2%�•�d� � � � �<

�Ò�& �0���‰ 25.4%�€ 2019�Ë�j 54.7%�•�f

24. �Ð�×�*�›

� h � • � J � 2 � ï �C �Ú �‰ 
? �_ � ˜ �Ð �× � * � ›

� ~ � ´ � Ð � × � ] � ½ � © � Ú � ‚ � ´ � Ò � ˜ � Ð � × � *

�› �õ �� �S�‚ �K �̃ �* �g �±���j

23.  Loan Receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, loan receivables outstanding 

from an independent third party of an amount of 

approx imate ly HK$53,013,000 were unsecured, 

carrying interest at floating rate by reference to the 

interest rate of The People’s Bank of China. The 

balance was written off as uncollectible during the year 

ended 31 December 2020.

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss 

allowance that has been recognised for 12-month ECL 

for loan receivables:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

At the beginning of the year �õ �Ë � ‹ 23,172 5,019
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment 

loss provided during the year
�Ë�« �� �d�€�̄�= �f �& �a �«�•�J  

� ¯ �= � f �& (6,964) 18,153
Amount written off as uncollectible �Û �V�‰�Ì � , �× �«�Y�› 
° (1,204) —�� ��  ��

At the end of the year �õ �Ë�K 15,004 23,172�� ��  ��

An impairment analysis was per formed at each 

reporting date by considering the probability of default 

of loan receivables. As at 31 December 2020, the 

probability of default applied ranged from 0.5% to 2.0% 

(2019: 0.3% to 4.2%) and the loss given default was 

estimated to be 25.4% (2019: 54.7%).

24. Trade Receivables

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables 

presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the 

reporting period, which approximated the respective 

revenue recognition dates:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Within 1 month 1�H�Ü�« 7,317 8,735�� ��  ��
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24.  �Ð�×�*�› �€�ƒ�•

� I 
« �   �Y�Ð�× �* � › �8�8� �	a �Ò�Y 	a �–

� × � ] � Ô � * � [ � ˜ � Ð � × � ›� f � ¦ 
 r � ‚ � S 	 ›

�‰�S� � �G�H�Ü� f� I 
« �   
 � �Ë � j �5 � � �ø


 › �S�   �J �µ � ” � ˜ �Ð �× � › 
 °�d�þ�M�# �4

�6 � › � ‚ � 2 �a �C � ‚ 
 � � q � f

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �_ �õ �I


«� �Y�Ð�×�*�›�~�µ�¤�”�•���Ò�Þ�ë�d

�B �( �Ì � �}�¦ 
r 
« �•�, �ˆ �f�I 
« �  �(

� Ì � 1 � I � Ð � × � * � › 
 � � q � 5 � Þ � ‚ � � � ê � å

�Ü�Ð� I�ü� ¦ 
 r �#
v 
£ �D� f�Ð�× �* � › � (

�” ���¹�f

� I 
 « �   � Ð � \ � 0 � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � S � _ � Æ � K 9�î

�Y �Z �
 �Ù �, �� �d �k �‚ �¦ 
r �f �&�d ��

� _ � Æ � ª � ¢ � 1 � Ô � Þ � Ð � × � * � › 
 ® � \ � À � ƒ

� ‚ 
 œ � Y � k � ‚ � f � & � a � ê� f � ì � ½ � Á � k � ‚

�¦ 
r �f �&���¿ �* �& �< �X �Y 
Y ���d�I�®

� ! � è � + � © � ‰� d � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � Á � � 
 �


 � � q � Y 	 Ì 
 � � B � ¤ � Ÿ � �� f � õ 2020� Ë � ¿

2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d� Ð � × � * � › � Y � f � & � a

�ê �—
Y �� �‰ �=�-�f

25. �2�–�e�k�ù�›�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�›  

24.  Trade Receivables (Continued)
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25.  �2�–�e�k�ù�›�¿�I�ü�Ð�×�› �€�ƒ�•  

� 
 � < � õ � j � � 
 � � q � Y � – � D � � � * � ~ � • � ‚

� ( � Ì � î � Þ 	 ¾ � } � ¿ � C � ‚ � – � X � Y � Ð � × � ›

� Þ � ë� f � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f � & � W � ¾ 
 � � ý � I 
 «

�   � ˜ � Ý � & � f � & 	 ¾ � } 
 ® � \ � f � & � ; � � � ,

� � � � � f � � �Æ � f �& � � �ø �À �H �… �Ã �K �1

�¿ �J �8 �¾ �ö �K �1 �Y �k �‚�€�½�G �\�•�f�õ

2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�I �® �! �è

�+ �© �‰�f �& �a �ê �—
Y �� �‰ �=�-�f

26. �ê�å�Õ���À�›�$�–�¿�Õ��
��q

�õ �� �S �‚ �K�d �I 
« �  �ø �[ �O �Æ�€��̃[

� O � Æ� ™� •� � � = � ˜ � $ � – � ¿ � Õ � � 
 � � q � Ò � ‰

733,865,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 164,333,000

�¥ �©�•�f�[ �O�Æ�” �����_ �3 �l �‰�I�ü�¬

�Æ�f � Í �þ�d� ì �½ �•
7 �« �® � . 
Ò�M �#
â

�7 �ø �¿ 
 � 
Ò�e
 / 
Ò �¿�ù 
Ò�M�# � • � ›� d

� I 
« �   � � �À �@�� 
¬�Æ
} �+ � . 
Ò �8
 �� ˜

�Õ��
Z�[ �O�Æ�3�l�‰�I�ü�¬�Æ�f

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �ê �å �Õ

� � �À �› �8 �ê �å�š �Õ � ��ø �Ä �­ 
¬�š� I 
«

�   �S
œ�¥� � �† �8 � ˜ �Õ � � �D � � �Y �À � ›� f

25.  D e p o s i t s ,  P r e p a y m e n t s  a n d  O t h e r 
Receivables (Continued)

The financial assets included in the above balances 

relate to receivables for which there was no recent 

history of default and past due amounts. The ECL 

is estimated by applying a loss rate approach with 

reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The 

loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions 

and forecasts of future economic conditions, as 

appropriate. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the 

directors of the Company are of the opinion that the 

loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

26. Pledged Bank Deposits and Cash and Bank 
Balances

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Pledged bank deposits �ê �å �Õ � � �À �› 23,753 22,321

Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 769,767 190,247�� ��  ��

793,520 212,568�� ��  ��

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank 

balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi 

(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$733,865,000 

(2019: HK$164,333,000). The RMB is not f ree ly 

conver tible into other currencies. However, under 

M a i n l a n d  C h i n a ’s  F o r e i g n  E xc h a n g e  C o n t r o l 

Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and 

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 

is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies 

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange 

business.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, pledged bank 

deposits represented deposits pledged to banks to 

secure banking facilities granted to a joint venture of 

the Group.
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26.  �ê�å�Õ���À�›�$�–�¿�Õ��
��q �€�ƒ�•

�Õ � � �$ �–� ì �½ �Ê�Ú�Õ � � �À � › � ; � � �2 	 �


 � � ; � � �ƒ �_� ; � ¹� f �Õ � � 
 � �q �¿ �ê�å �À

� › � À � Ä � õ � • � ‚ � ( � Ì � < � Ò 	 ¾ � } � ˜ � ¦ � ‘

� � � » �Õ � � � f

27. �Ð��
l�\�e	a
��2�–�¿�I�ü�Ð�ù�›  

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �õ �• 
7

�× �…�z �®�4 �\ �Æ�˜ �Ð�ù�› �‰�Ð�ù�š�S

�¤ �ù �m �K�g �Ù�Y � › 
 °�d�W�_�– �X �Ò�‰

69,240,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 65,290,000

�¥�©�•�˜�I
«� �ð�•�³ �� �J�8�* �ê�å �f

���›
°�õ�G�H�Ë���2�x�›�Ë�;�� 4.68%

���¹ �¿ 
² �2 �� �Ë �å �”�f�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü

31� Ú� d� j � � � 
 � < � Y � ´ � ë � Ð � ù � ; � ¹ � Ò � ‰

46,203,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 43,419,000

�¥ �©�•�f

	ð �j �� �k �.�d�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿

� I �ü �Ð�ù�› �‰�Ì �ê�å�e�5 �¹ �¿ 
² �2 � �

�Ë �å � ”� f

26.  Pledged Bank Deposits and Cash and Bank 
Balances (Continued)
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28. ���¹�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r28. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

2020 2019

Effective 

interest rate Maturity HK$’000

Effective 

interest rate Maturity HK$’000

�¼ �ç � ; � � �Q �‚�Ú �w�¥�© �¼�ç� ; � � �Q�‚�Ú �w�¥ �©
�� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Current �C� ‚

Bank loans — secured �Õ �� 
r � ›  — �Þ �ê�å 5.635% 2021

2021�Ë

41,568 3% to 5.635%

3%�� 5.635%

2020 or on

demand

2020�Ë�Ð

�2 �� �Ë

163,482

Other loans — secured �I �ü 
r � ›  — �Þ �ê�å 12% 2021

2021�Ë

142,874 12% 2020

2020�Ë

13,393

Other loans — unsecured �I �ü 
r � ›  — � Ì �ê �å 5.35% 2021

2021�Ë

33,406 5.35% 2020

2020�Ë

85,066

Senior note — secured � ´ � ‹ �C �½  — �Þ �ê�å 7.5% 2021

2021�Ë

151,461 —

�� ��    �� �� ��

369,309 261,941�� ��    �� �� ��

Non-current �¢�C� ‚

Bank loans — secured �Õ �� 
r � ›  — �Þ �ê�å 5.635% 2022 to 2026

2022�Ë�� 2026�Ë

546,318 5.635% 2021 to 2026

2021�Ë� � 2026�Ë

552,455

Other loans — secured �I �ü 
r � ›  — �Þ �ê�å 9% to 12%

9% �� 12%

2022 to 2023

2022�Ë�� 2023�Ë

1,024,794 12% 2021

2021�Ë

120,536

�� ��    �� �� ��

1,571,112 672,991�� ��    �� �� ��

1,940,421 934,932�� ��    �� �� ��
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28.  ���¹�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r �€�ƒ�•

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d� I 
 « �   � > 
 r � 
 � <

� I � – � < � X � Ò � ‰130,000,000� ¥ � © � Y � C

� � 
 r � ›�d� I � ´ �ë 
 r � › �X �D �1 �Þ �2 � � �Ë

�µ �” 
â �Ö�d�(�š �Õ �� �Ì 
â �• �Æ�; �� �‡

�Û 
Å �® 
 r � ›� d� ª � ä�d�1 � j � � �Q � ‚ 
 ‹ � 1

�þ�
�d�Œ�p �– �X �Š�± �ó �‰�̃�2 �� �Ë�™�f

28.  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 
(Continued)

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Analysed into: �±���‰�j

Bank loans repayable �Ð�µ �” �Õ �� 
 r � ›

Within one year or on demand �S�Ë�«�Ð �2 �� �Ë 41,568 163,482

In the second year �K�Z�Ë 47,506 39,063

In the third to fifth years, inclusive �K�g �� �K�ž�Ë  

�€�
 �<�/ �̂ �G�Ë�• 320,665 145,089

Over five years �ž�Ë �� 178,147 368,303�� ��  ��

587,886 715,937�� ��  ��

Other loans and senior note 

repayable

�Ð�µ � ” � I �ü 
 r � › �¿� ´ � ‹ �C �½

Within one year �S�Ë�« 327,741 98,459

In the second year �K�Z�Ë 229,069 120,536

In the third to fifth years, inclusive �K�g �� �K�ž�Ë  

�€�
 �<�/ �̂ �G�Ë�• 795,725 —�� ��  ��

1,352,535 218,995�� ��  ��

1,940,421 934,932�� ��  ��

Included in the borrowings of the Group as at 31 

December 2019 were revolving loans with an aggregate 

principal amounting to approximately HK$130,000,000, 

of which the respective loan agreements contain a 

repayment on-demand clause giving the bank the 

unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and 

therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, 

the total amount is classified as “on demand”.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

239

28.  ���¹�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r �€�ƒ�•

�• 
W�j

(a) �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �I 
« �  �ð �• �>


 r �W�ø�h � • �¢
 ° � * �ê �å �Ð �Ä � ­� j

(i) � I 
 « �   � * � & � < � = � ‰

2,542,850,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j

2,408,486,000�¥ �©�•�Y �³ �� �J

�8 �̃�/ �å�€�• 
W 15�•�i�¿

(ii) �I
«� �*�&�<�=�‰ 198,800,000

�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j 241,800,000�¥

�©�•�Y 	a �# �z �® �¿ �} �Á �̃ �/ �å

�€�• 
W 16�•�i

(b) �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d 	ð �* �& �< �= �‰

249,058,000�¥ �© �ø �Õ �© �� �=�€ 2019

�Ë�j 130,000,000� ¥ � © � ø � ¥ � © � � � =� •

� ˜ � ´ � ‹ � C � ½ � ¿ � S
 ° � I � ü 
 r � › � . � d� õ

�� �S �‚ �K�d�Ô �Þ �Õ �� �¿ �I �ü �> 
r �i

�ø �[ �O�Æ�� �=�f

28.  Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2020, cer tain of the Group’s 

borrowings were secured or guaranteed by:

(i) pledges over the Group’s investment properties 

w i t h  a n  a g g r e g a t e  c a r r y i n g  a m o u n t  o f 

HK$2,542,850,000 (2019: HK$2,408,486,000) 

(note 15); and

(ii) pledges over the Group’s leasehold land and 

buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of 

HK$198,800,000 (2019: HK$241,800,000) (note 

16);

(b) As at 31 December 2020, other than senior note and 

one of the other loans with aggregate carrying amounts 

of HK$249,058,000 denominated in United States 

dollars (2019: HK$130,000,000 denominated in HK$), all 

bank and other borrowings were denominated in RMB 

as at the end of the reporting period.
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28.  ���¹�Õ���¿�I�ü�>
r �€�ƒ�•

�• 
W�j�€�ƒ�•

(c) �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü8�Ú�d �I �® �!�€�* �‰ �ï

� � � [� •� e � I � ® � ! � ¢ 
 B � � � è � + � R � è � +

�6 �ô �© �á �E B* �‹ �[�€�* �‰ �Ä �­ �[�•�e

CNCB (Hong Kong) Investment 

Limited�€�̃�³ �� �k�™�•�€�* �‰ �³ �� �k�•�¿

�¦ �Õ�€�0 �¥�•�� �I �Þ �" �® �!�€�* �‰ �Ä


° �[�•�� �m �© �… �X �D�d �½ �ä�d �I �®

� ! � Š � Þ 
 â � • � • � � � £ � ³ � � � k � ï � � � d

� þ � ³ � � � k � Š � Þ 
 â � • � • � � � © � … � I � –

� < � X � ‰19,800,000�Õ �©�€�́ �… �õ �Ò

154,440,000�¥ �©�•�( �õ �́ �‹ �C �½ �ï

�� �Ú �‚�€�̃�ï �� �Ú �‚�™�•	Î �� �� �S �Ë �…

� Ú� Q � ‚ � Y � ´ � ‹ � Þ � ê � å � Ä � ­ � C � ½� €� ˜� ´

� ‹ � C � ½� ™� •� f � ´ � ‹ � C � ½ � Y � ; � ¹ � � � ï � �

�Ú �‚�€�
 �< �� �Ú�•	Î �� �́ �‹ �C �½ �ì �½

�́�‹ �C �½�Y
â �› �¿
â �• �Ù�«�…�Ú�€�


�< ���Ú�•�ß�d�1 �́�‹ �C �½�Y�J �µ �” �I

� – � X � 2 � Ë � ; � � 7.5% �� �¹�d 
² �õ �Ê �™

���K�Õ�ù�f �J�<�Ò�+�•�ï�[ �(�5�ƒ�d

�� �< �Ò �+ �• �ï �[ �Ú �‚�€�
 �< �� �Ú�•	Î

�� �<�Ò�+�• �”�Ž �5�ƒ�…�Ú�€�
�<���Ú�•

�ß � ‚ 
œ�Y� ; � � 
Z � � �Æ � � �Ê �Ë 15%�f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü18�Ú�d �I �® �! �£ �³ ��

� k � ï � � � I � – � < � X � ‰ 19,800,000� Õ � ©

�€�´ �… �õ �Ò 154,440,000�¥ �©�•�Y �́ �‹

� C � ½� f � Ô 
 { � › 
 ° � � � X � Ý � \ � õ� I 
 « �  
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29. ���l�p
À�N

�õ 2019�Ë7�Ü3�Ú�€�̃�� �l �p 
À �N �ï �� �Ú

� ‚� ™� •� d� ì � ½ 	 ã 
 / � þ � # � ~ � I� ®� ! � ð � • � ë

� ¹ � [ � { �±�9 � � �m�Y	ã 
 / �X �D �¿�Ú� ‚ �‰

2019�Ë5�Ü20�Ú �Y �ð �• �© �… �X �D�d�I

�®�! �Š�ï � � � I �– �< �X �‰ 1,150,000,000

�¥ �© �Y�� �l �p 
À �N�€�̃�� �l �p 
À �N�™�•�d

� I � • � I � – � X200,000,000� ¥ � © � Y � �

� l � p 
 À � N � Š 	 ã 
 / � š 	 ã 
 / � þ � #� d � q � h

950,000,000� ¥ � © � Y � � � l � p 
 À � N � Š � _

�I�®�!�Y�ë�¹ �[�{�€�
�<	÷�� �O�‹�[�e

�S�• �_�I �ƒ �6 �‹ �[ �ä �’ �¹ �Þ�˜ �®�! �¿

� S � • � _ � � � Â � N � ‹ � [ 	 ã 
 � 
 › � S � ˜ � ®� !� •
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29. ���l�p
À�N �€�ƒ�•

�õ �Q �‚ �Û�d�I�®�! 
Z �2 �´ �…�õ �  �J �µ

�ù�� �l �p 
À �N �I�– �X �˜ 116.5%�˜ �– �X

�£ 
À �N �5 �Þ� [ �Ù�«�Ô�Þ� � � l �p 
À �N�f

� � � l � p 
 À � N � 1 � d � Ã � Ù � « � o � ¿ � Æ � ¿ � 7

� l �o �¿ �Æ�±�‰��
À �¿� � � [ �– �D �ˆ �H�Å

�±� f � � � [ �–�D �ˆ�H�Y�®�ª �= �W
 � �ý �ù

�m
Y�8�¥���ø �� �= �ª � � �• � � � : � � �* 
Y

�= �¥ 
* �Þ � " �®� ! � ˜� � �= �õ � ï � ��Ú� ‚ �¿

2020�Ë �¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �> �›�d�Þ �ë


 † � S � É � 	 
 ‹ � 1 � õ � ] � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � • 
 W

30 �f �q�h�– �X �W�8 �› �‰��
À �Å�±�d�(

� ¯ � ‹ � • �½ �©� ��ø �Å�V �Ó� I �  � - � � 
Ž� f

� Ú � �2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú � ß � Ë

���d�� �l �p 
À �N �? �Ì �7 �l �f�õ 2020�Ë

12�Ü31�Ú�d�I �– �< �X �‰ 1,150,000,000

�¥�©�Y��� l �p
À�N� �J�3�l�€ 2019�Ë�j

1,150,000,000�¥ �©�•�f

29. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Upon the maturity, the Company shall redeem from the 

bondholders all of the Convertible Bonds at an amount 

equivalent to 116.5% of the principal amount of the 

outstanding Convertible Bonds.

The Conver tible Bonds are split into l iabil i ty and 

derivative financial instruments in relation to the early 

redemption option and the conversion option. The 

fair value of the derivative financial instruments was 

determined as of the date of issue and at 31 December 

2020 and 2019 by reference to valuations performed by 

an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, 

Asset Appraisal Limited, as further detailed in note 30 

to the consolidated financial statements. The residual 

amount was assigned as liability component and was 

remeasured at amortised cost subsequent to the initial 
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29. ���l�p
À�N �€�ƒ�•

� � � l �p 
À �N �±�‰��
À �Å�±�¿� � � [ �– �D

�ˆ�H �½�h

29. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The Convertible Bonds have been split into the liability 

component and derivative financial instruments as 

follows:

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

Liability component at 1 January 2019 �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�˜ ��
À �Å�… —

Nominal value of convertible bonds issued  

during the year

�Ë�«�Š�ï �� �� �l �p 
À �N�˜ �&�=

1,150,000

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H (6,709)�� �� ��

Liability component at the issuance date �õ �ï ���Ú�‚ �˜ ��
À �Å�± 1,143,291

Interest expense � ; � ¹ 
š �Õ 67,310�� �� ��

1,210,601

Less: Interest classified as accrued charges, rental 

deposits and other payables in the current liabilities

�̄ �j�õ�t 
� ��
À �•�± �ó �‰�Ð ��  


l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿ �I �ü  

�Ð�ù�› �˜ � ; �¹ (40,250)�� �� ��

Liability component at 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�¿ 

2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�˜ ��
À �Å�± 1,170,351

Interest expense � ; � ¹ 
š �Õ 141,955

Interest paid �Š�ù �; �¹ (40,250)

Interest classified as accrued charges, rental deposits 

and other payables in the current liabilities

�õ�t 
� ��
À �•�± �ó �‰�Ð ��  


l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿ �I �ü  

�Ð�ù�› �˜ � ; �¹ (39,593)�� �� ��

Liability component at 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�˜ ��
À �Å�… 1,232,463�� �� ��
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30. ���[�–�D�ˆ�H

� � � ½ � ] � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � • 
 W 29�Ô ���d ��

� l � p 
 À � N � Y � d � Ø � Ù � « � o � ¿ � Æ � ¿ � 7 � l

� o � ¿ � Æ � — � ± � ó � ‰ � ø � ® � ª � = � � 
 Ž � ò � I

� 
 
 � � � � ] � & 	 B � ˜ � � � [ � – � D � ˆ � H� f � õ

� Ú � � 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�ß �Ë ���d �® �ª �=

� 
 
 � � × 	 B39,630,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j

4,562,000�¥ �©�•�Š ���] �& 	B�f �õ 2020

�Ë �¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �® �ª �= �_ �• ��

� : � � � * 
 Y � = � ¥ 
 * � Þ � " � ® � ! � ì � ½ � Z 
 °

� Ó � Ì � › � � � , � > � ›� f � � � = � | � è � Y � ô � �

�i �] �p �½�½�h�j

30. Derivative Financial Instruments

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Derivative financial instruments
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31. �È�·�ü
°��
À

� � � S � Ë � � � « � È � · � ü 
 ° � � � * � ¿ � � 
 À � 



� �½�h�j

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d � I 
 « �   � Þ � U � �

� 0 � ¥ � ˜ � ü 
 ° � f � & � Ò 836,749,000� ¥ � ©

�€ 2019�Ë�j 937,255,000�¥ �©�•�d �� �6 �Ì

� " � ‚ � \ � * �ê �V � } 
 { � f �&�®� ! � ˜ � J �8 �Ð

� � �ü �P � ; � f� I 
« �   �u �Þ �U� �� •
7 �« �®

� ˜ � ü 
 ° � f � & � Ò 116,173,000�¥ �©�€ 2019

�Ë�j 111,622,000�¥ �©�•�d
Z�õ �S�� �ž�Ë

�« �Q� ‚� d� �� 6 � \ � * �ê �V �J �8 �Ð � � �ü �P

� ; � f �   � J � 1 � � 
 � � f � & � ½ � © � È � · � ü 
 °

�� �*�d�a �ª �‰�f�Ã �— 
V �‰ �”�} �� 	• �Þ

� � 
 � � \ �ü 
 ° � f �&�ø�ê �V�Ð� � �ü �P� ; � f

31. Deferred Tax Liabilities

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

during the reporting years are as follows:

Accelerated tax 

depreciation

Revaluation 

of properties Tax losses Total

� � � º � ü 
 ° � ± � � �J �8 �  � � � ü 
 ° � f � & �< �X

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��     

At 1 January 2019 �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú (55) (254,856) 1,808 (253,103)

Charged to profit or loss during 

the year (note 11)

�Ë�« �õ �& 	B �Ô 	ð  

�€�• 
W 11�• — (3,534) — (3,534)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) �� 
/ �S 
œ�• �n�®�!  

�€�• 
W 35�• — 1,899 — 1,899

Credited to other comprehensive 

loss for the year

�Ë�« ���] �I �ü �Œ�&�f �&

— 2,742 — 2,742�� �� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�¿

2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú (55) (253,749) 1,808 (251,996)

Credited to profit or loss during 

the year (note 11)

�Ë�« ���] �& 	B  

�€�• 
W 11�• — 4,331 — 4,331

Credited to other comprehensive 

loss for the year

�Ë�« ���] �I �ü �Œ�&�f �&

— 9,644 — 9,644�� �� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú (55) (239,774) 1,808 (238,021)�� �� �� �� �� ��

The Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of 

approximately HK$836,749,000 as at 31 December 

2020 (2019: HK$937,255,000) that are avai lable 

indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits 
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31. �È�·�ü
°��
À �€�ƒ�•

�ì �½�•
7 �† �8 �Ô
{ �ü �, �d�õ �•
7�« �®

� Ó � m � ˜ � . 
 7 � ³ � � � † � 8 � £ � . 
 7 � ³ � � � k

� � � | � ˜ � p � ¹ 
 ² �D �× 10%�k �Ô �ü�f�Þ �ë

� • � › � � 2008�Ë1�Ü1�Ú	Î �[ �Ö�d�( �G �\

�õ 2007�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�˜ � � � ˜ �® �; � f �J �•


 7 � « � ® � ~ � . 
 7 � ³ � � � k � Ô � n � ! � , � Æ 
 �

� ˜ 
œ�Þ�ü 
 � 
â �Ò�d�Æ�G �\ �k �Ô�ü� � � �

	 • � 0 � -� f � 1 � I 
 « �   � þ � 
� d� G � \ � ü � � � ‰

5%� f � ª � ä� d� I 
 « �   
 ² � 1 � � 
 � � õ � • 
 7

� « � ® � Ó � m � Y � • � n � ® � ! � 1 � �2008�Ë1�Ü

1�Ú	 Î �Ô � * � [ �® � ; �± � | � ˜ � p � ¹ �® 	v � k

�Ô�ü�f

�õ 2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �? �Ì �1

� I 
 « �   � õ � • 
 7 � « � ® � Ó � m � ˜ � • � n � ® � !

� a � Ð � 1 
 ² � ® 	 v � k � Ô � ü � ˜ � J � ù 
 Ò � ® � ;

�Õ �ù �˜ �k �Ô �ü �½ �© �‚ � � �È �· �ü 
°�f

�I�®�! �è �+ �© �‰�d�� 
� �• �n �®�! �”�}

� � 	 • � õ � � � k � � � J � 8 � ± � | � Þ � ë � ® � ; � f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �~ �õ �• 
7 �« �®

� • � n � ® � ! � ˜ � ³ � � � Þ � ë � ˜ � r � Û � ¨ � X � <

�X�€�  �Ì �1 �ä �½ �© �‚ �� �È �· �ü 
° ��


À�•�Ò �‰ 2,778,975,000�¥ �©�€ 2019�Ë�j

2,754,251,000�¥ �©�•�f

32. �p�I

31. Deferred Tax Liabilities (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 

10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared 

to foreign investors f rom the foreign investment 

enterpr ises establ ished in Mainland China. The 

requirement is ef fective from 1 January 2008 and 

applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower 

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax 

treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of 

the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable 

rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding 

taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries 

established in Mainland China in respect of earnings 

generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no deferred tax 

were recognised for withholding taxes that would be 

payable on the unremitted earnings that were subject 

to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiar ies 

established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the 

directors of the Company, it is not probable that 

these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in 

the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of 

temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax 

liabilities were not recognised totalled approximately 

HK$2,778,975,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 

HK$2,754,251,000).

32. Share Capital

Number 

of shares

Nominal 

value

�p �…�p�f �C �& �=

’000 HK$’000

�w�p �w�¥ �©
�� ��   

Issued and fully paid: �Š�ï ���¿�Š�® �� �p�I�j

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 

2019, 1 January 2020 and  

31 December 2020

�õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�e 2019�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú�e 2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú�¿

2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú 2,304,850 3,626,781�� �� �� ��
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33. �·�ê

� I 
« �   �õ� I �Ë� � �¿ �@�»�Ë� � �Y �· �ê �¿

� I � 
 
 � � – � X � õ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � ˜ � ] � ¥ � Æ 	 B

�
 
� �Œ�•�O �• �f

34. �À�¯� �}�¢
›�p�Æ	B�˜�¢�Œ���¹�Þ
�•�n�®�!

� ø � h � 1 � • � À � ¯ �  � } � ¢ 
 › � p � Æ 	 B � ˜ � I


« �  �• �n�®�! �̃ �	 
‹�j

33. Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reser ves and the 

movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity of the financial statements.

34. Par t ly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material 
Non-Controlling Interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that have material 

non-controlling interests are set out below:

2020 2019
�� ��  ��

Percentage of equity interest held by 

non-controlling interests:

�¢ 
 › �p �Æ	B�5�Þ�˜ �p �Æ�õ�±�â� j

TZ Dong Thai 	 � �È� � 	 � 31.93% 31.93%�� ��  ��

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to 

non-controlling interests:

� Ë� « � ± 	 ã � � � ¢ 
 › � p � Æ	 B � ˜  

�€�f �&�•�J �P �;�j

TZ Dong Thai 	 � �È� � 	 � (127,209) 112,804�� ��  ��

Accumulated balances of  

non-controlling interests at the 

reporting date:

�õ � � �S�Ú� ‚ � ˜ �¢ 
 › �p �Æ	B � ] � �


� �q�j

TZ Dong Thai 	 � �È� � 	 � 847,553 929,320�� ��  ��
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34. �À�¯� �}�¢
›�p�Æ	B�˜�¢�Œ���¹�Þ
�•�n�®�! �€�ƒ�•

�h�Œ�• � j � j � � � • �n�®� ! � ˜ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Ø �?

� � � f �Ô�Þ �£�– �X �‰�®�! 
œ�Û�V �˜ �Ã� j

34. Par t ly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material 
Non-Controlling Interests (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial 

information of the above subsidiary. The amounts 

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Other income and (losses)/gains �I �ü �× �] �¿�€�f �&�•�J�× 	B (376,525) 377,537

Total expenses 
š �Õ �< �X (21,874) (24,252)

(Loss)/profit for the year �Ë�«�€�f �&�•�J �P �; (398,400) 353,285

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for 

the year

�Ë�« �Œ�&�€�f �&�•�J�× �] �< �X

(352,958) 282,635�� ��  ��

Current assets � t 
 � � � � * 757,691 719,241

Non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � * 2,706,835 2,948,874

Current liabilities �t 
� ��
À (810,118) (757,622)�� ��  ��

Net cash flows used in operating 

activities

�¾���8 
 � �Ô�\ � � �$ �– �t 
Ž

(50,841) (72,532)

Net cash flows used in investing 

activities

� ³ � � �8 
 � �Ô� \ � � �$ �– � t 
Ž

(27,316) (565,454)

Net cash flows from financing activities �D � � �8 
 � �Ô
 { � � �$ �– � t 
Ž 47,190 662,428�� ��  ��

Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents

�$ �– �¿�$ �–
 � �= � ¯ �Ç� � �X

(30,967) 24,442�� ��  ��
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35. ��
/�S
œ�•�n�®�!

�õ 2018�Ë11�Ü28�Ú�d�I �® �! �Y 
œ 
Ÿ �¢

�Œ �� �¹ �Þ �• �n �®�! 	� �È �� �L�e�I�®�!

�Y �L � � �®� ! � • 	 � �0 	 � �È � i � · �¿�• 	 � �Ž

� ¡ � � �m�¥ � ; �X �D�d�½ �ä�d� • 	 � � 0 	 � �È

� i � · �V�×�¥ � ; 	 � �È � � �L�¿� • 	 � �Ž � ¡ � f

�õ 2019�Ë7�Ü15�Ú �¥ �; �• �Ó ���d �• 	�

�0 	 � �È� i � · �Ó �‰ �¾�¥ � ; �† �8�d�þ 	 � �È

�� �L�¿�• 	� �Ž �¡ �Š�š �� �s �¿ 
W �V�f�I

�®�! �À �@�I 
œ
Ÿ�¢ �Œ�� �¹ �Þ �• �n�®�!

	��È��	��¹�Þ�¾�¥�;�†�8�˜ 51%�Æ	B�d

� ¾ � ¥ � ; � † � 8 � ø � Æ 	 B � , � ] � * � • � ‰ � I � ®

� ! � ˜� ¥ � � � † � 8� f� Þ� ë � ¥ � ;� ˜ 
 †� S� É � 	


 ‹ � 1 �õ � ] � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ� • 
W 12�f

�õ �¥ � ; � • �Ó� ��d� I 
« �   �Š�^�ß �¾�� � i

�0 � · � ˆ � * �Ü�V 
 /�¿ �d �6 � � � ˆ � � 
 � � f

35. Disposal of a Subsidiary

On 28 November 2018, TZ United East, an indirect non-

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZHYQ, an 

associate of the Company, and COBT, entered into the 

Merger Agreement, pursuant to which ZHYQ absorbed 

and merged with TZ United East and COBT. Upon 

completion of the Merger which took place on 15 July 

2019, ZHYQ became the Merged Enterprise, TZ United 

East and COBT were dissolved and deregistered, and 

the Company owned 51% of the equity interest in the 

Merged Enterprise through its indirect non-wholly-

owned subsidiary, TZ Dong Thai, and the Merged 

Enterprise is accounted for as a joint venture of the 

Company using equity method. Further details of the 

Merger are included in note 12 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

Fo l l ow i n g th e  c o m p l e t i o n  o f  t h e  M e rg e r,  t h e 

Group discontinued the operation in i ts trading 
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35. ��
/�S
œ�•�n�®�! �€�ƒ�•

	 � �È� � �L �õ �¥ � ; � • �Ó�Ú� ‚ �Y � � � � � * �½

�h�j

35. Disposal of a Subsidiary (Continued)

The net assets of TZ United East at the date of the 

completion of the Merger were as follows:

(Restated)
�€�¾ � �•�•

Year ended 
31 December 

2019
� Ú � � 2019�Ë 

12�Ü31�Ú 
�ß�Ë��

Notes HK$’000
� • 
W �w�¥ �©

�� ��   

Net assets disposed of: �� 
/ �̃ �� �� �*�j
Goodwill 
  � ‘ 19 39,462
Property, plant and equipment �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê 16 3,521,873
Land use rights �z �®�4 � \ �Æ 18 175,584
Inventories �À �¬ 82,934
Trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › 11,186
Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables
�2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü �Ð�× �›

224,208
Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 12,129
Trade payables �Ð�ù �* � › (8,009)
Accrued charges, rental deposits and other 

payables
�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿ �I �ü

�Ð�ù�› (309,769)
Borrowings �> 
 r (969,671)
Amounts due to shareholders �Ð�ù �p � � � › 
 ° (815,896)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries �Ð�ù�• �û �• �n�®� ! � › 
 ° (578,317)
Deferred tax liabilities �È �· �ü 
° ��
À 31 (1,899)�� ��  ��

Net assets � � � � � * 1,383,815
Cumulative exchange differences � ] � � 
Ò �3 � ¨ � . (1,910)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary � � 
 / �S 
œ�• �n�®� ! �Y �× 	B 12 248,431�� ��  ��

Enterprise value of TZ United East 	� �È�� �L�˜ �† �8�� �= 1,630,336�� ��  ��

Satisfied by additional interest in ZHYQ 
acquired by the Group after the Merger

�ø�¥ � ; � �� I 
« �   �Ô�× �…�˜� • 	 �
�0 	 � �È� i � · �X � . �Æ	B �Õ�ù 1,807,772

Less: Enterprise value of TZ United East �̄ �j	� �È�� �L�̃ �† �8�� �= (1,630,336)�� ��  ��

Gain on bargain purchase from the Merger �¥ �;�˜ �D �� �…
o�× 	B 12 177,436�� ��  ��
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35. ��
/�S
œ�•�n�®�! �€�ƒ�•

� � 
 / �S 
œ�• �n �®� ! �Ô 	 ��¿ �$ �– �¿�$ �–


� �= �̃ �t �� �� �X �±�� �½�h�j

35. Disposal of a Subsidiary (Continued)

An analysis of the net outf low of cash and cash 

equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is 

as follows:

HK$’000

�w�¥ �©
�� ��  

Cash and bank balances disposed of � � 
 /� ˜ �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 12,129�� �� ��

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of 

the disposal of a subsidiary

�� 
/ �S 
œ�• �n�®�! �Ô 	��¿�$ �–

�¿�$ �–
 � �= �˜ � t � � � � �X 12,129�� �� ��
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36. �]�¥�$�–�t
Ž�Œ�•
W  

(a) �D���8
��Ô�*�[�˜��
À�

�

36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing 

activities

Borrowings

Lease 

liabilities

Convertible 

bonds

�> 
 r 	a �# � � 
À � � � l �p 
À �N

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��    

At 1 January 2019 �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú 2,923,790 — —

Changes from financing  

cash flows

�D � � �$ �– � t 
Ž � 
 
 �

(996,170) — 1,150,000

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) �� 
/ �S�• �• �n�®�!  

�€�• 
W 35�• (969,671) — —

Recognition of derivative financial 

instruments

�½ �©�� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H

— — (6,709)

Interest expense of convertible 

bonds

�� �l �p 
À �N�˜�; �¹  

�Õ�� — — 67,310

Interest payable included in 

accrued charges, rental 

deposits and other payables

���] �Ð �� 
l �\ �˜ �Ð�ù

� ; � ¹ 	a 
 � �2 �– �¿ � I

�ü �Ð�ù�› — — (40,250)

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3 �0 �M (23,017) — —�� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�¿

2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú 934,932 — 1,170,351

Changes from financing  

cash flows

�D � � �$ �– � t 
Ž � 
 
 �

956,350 (11,685) —

New lease � - 	 a �# — 57,155 —

Interest expense of convertible 

bonds

�� �l �p 
À �N�˜�; �¹  

�Õ�� — — 141,955

Interest paid classified as 

operating cash flow

�± �ó �‰�¾�� �$ �– �t 
Ž

� ˜ �Ð�ù � ; � ¹ — — (79,843)

Accretion of interest recognised 

during the year

�Ë�« �½ �©�˜�; �¹ �# ��

— 2,899 —

Exchange realignment 
Ò �3 �0 �M 49,139 163 —     

At 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú 1,940,421 48,532 1,232,463�� �� �� �� ��
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36.  �]�¥�$�–�t
Ž�Œ�•
W �€�ƒ�•  

(b) 	a�#�$�–�t���<�X

� � � ] � $ � – � t 
 Ž � Œ � ˜ 	 a � # � $ � – � t

�� �< �X �½�h�j

(c) �ô���¢�$�–�t�ø

�õ 2018�Ë11�Ü28�Ú�d�‰ �I �®�! �Y


 œ 
 Ÿ � ¢ � Œ � � � ¹ � Þ � • � n � ® � ! 	 � � È

�� �L�e�I�®�! �Y �L�� �®�! �• 	� �0

	 � � È � i � · � ¿ � • 	 � � Ž � ¡ � � � m � ¥ � ;

� X � D� d � ½ � ä� d � • 	 � � 0 	 � � È � i � ·

�V�×�¥ � ; 	 � �È� � �L�¿�•	 � �Ž�¡ � f

�õ 2019�Ë7�Ü15�Ú �¥ �; �• �Ó ���d

� • 	 � � 0 	 � � È � i � · � Ó � ‰ � ¾ � ¥ � ; � †

�8�d�þ 	� �È�� �L�¿�• 	� �Ž �¡ �Š�š

� � �s �¿ 
W �V� f � I �® � ! �À �@ �I 
œ


 Ÿ � ¢ � Œ � � � ¹ � Þ � • � n � ® � ! 	 � � È � �

	� �¹ �Þ�¾�¥ �; �† �8 �˜ 51%�Æ	B�d

� ¾ � ¥ � ; � † � 8 � ø � Æ 	 B � , � ] � * � • � ‰

�I�®�! �˜�¥ �� �† �8�f

� Þ � ë � ¥ � ; � ˜ 
 † � S � É � 	 
 ‹ � õ � ] � ¥

	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�• 
W 12�¿ 35�Þ �£�f

36. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the 

statement of cash flows is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Within operating activities �õ �¾���8 
� �•�* �[ 2,760 2,004

Within financing activities �õ �D � � � z 
 � � •� * � [ 11,685 —�� ��  ��

14,445 2,004�� ��  ��

(c) Major non-cash transaction

On 28 November 2018, TZ United East, an 

indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company, ZHYQ, an associate of the Company, 

and COBT, entered into the Merger Agreement, 

pursuant to which ZHYQ absorbed and merged 

with TZ United East and COBT. Upon completion 

of the Merger which took place on 15 July 2019, 

ZHYQ became the Merged Enterprise, TZ United 

East and COBT were dissolved and deregistered, 

and the Company owned 51% of the equity 

interest in the Merged Enterprise through its 

indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary, TZ Dong 

Thai, and the Merged Enterprise is accounted for 

as a joint venture of the Company using equity 

method.

Further details of the Merger are disclosed in 

notes 12 and 35 to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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37. ���*�ê�å

� 1 � I 
 « �   � > 
 r � Š � ê � å � ˜ � � � * � 	 
 ‹ � 1

�õ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�• 
W 26�¿ � • 
W28(a)�f

38. �Õ�Ä

� I 
« �   �õ � � �S� ‚ �K �Þ�ø�h � �� I �Õ�Ä� j

37. Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s 

borrowings are included in notes 26 and 28(a) to the 

financial statements.

38. Commitments

The Group had the following capital commitments at 

the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Contracted, but not provided for: �Š�Ý�¼�( � ( �J �À�H

Non-performing assets �”�� �� �* 149,644 —

Unlisted equity securities �¢�j�9 �p�I �Ç �N 178,147 167,411�� ��  ��

327,791 167,411�� ��  ��
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39. �ë�L�Ù�t�ø �€�ƒ�•

(b) �I
«� �ô���M�#�[�p�G�–  

� è � + � © � ‰� d� I � ® � ! � è � + � ¿ � � � A
�<
R�‰�I
«�  �˜ �ô���M�#�[ �p�f
� Þ � ë � ô � � � M � # � [ � p � G � – � ˜ � 	 
 ‹
�1 �õ � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ�• 
W 9 �f

40. �2�ó�9�Œ�±�̃ �–�D�̂ �H

� ¢ � ó � – � D � ˆ � H � õ � � � S � ‚ � K � Y � * � & � =
�½�h�j

�–�D���*

2020

39. Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel 
of the Group

In the opinion of the directors, the directors 
and the chief executive officer of the Company 
represented the key management personnel of 
the Group and details of the compensation of the 
key management personnel are set out in note 9 
to the consolidated financial statements.

40. Financial Instruments by Category
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40. �2�ó�9�Œ�±�̃ �–�D�̂ �H �€�ƒ�•

�–�D���* �€�ƒ�•

2019

�–�D��
À

	 ð � ] � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � • 
 W 30� Ô � Þ � £ � Y � �

� [ � – � D � ˆ � H � .� d � I 
 « �   � õ 2020� Ë � ¿

2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�Y �Ô�Þ�– �D � � 
À � i �‰

�2 �Å�V �Ó � I � � 
 Ž �Y �–�D � �
À� f

40. Financial Instruments by Category (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

2019

Financial 

assets at 

FVTPL – held 

for trading

Financial 

assets at 

amortised 

cost Total

�ø�®�ª �=

� � 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �

���] �& 	B �˜

�–�D � � �*  —

�5�* 
o � -

�2 �Å�V

�Ó � I � � 
 Ž �Y

�–�D � � �* �< � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��    

Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �› — 1,195,086 1,195,086

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I  

�
 
� ���] �& 	B �˜  

�–�D � � �* 810,287 — 810,287

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � › — 1,358,995 1,358,995

Trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › — 8,735 8,735

Financial assets included in 

deposits, prepayments and 

other receivables

���] �2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿

�I �ü �Ð�× �› �˜ �–�D

� � � * — 191,319 191,319

Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › — 488,563 488,563

Pledged bank deposits �ê �å �Õ � � �À �› — 22,321 22,321

Bank balances and cash �Õ � � 
 � �q �¿�$ �– — 190,247 190,247�� �� �� �� ��

810,287 3,455,266 4,265,553�� �� �� �� ��

Financial liabilities

Other than the derivative f inancial instruments as 

disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial 

statements, all financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 

December 2020 and 2019 were financial liabilities at 

amortised cost.
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
�	t  

� I 
« �   �–�D �ˆ�H �˜ � * �&�=�¥ �# �®�~�®

�ª �=�´ �ð � f

�M �# �4�Š
Y �� �Ð �× �* �›�e���] �2 �–�e

�k�ù� › �¿ � I �ü �Ð�× � › � ˜ �–�D � � � *�e�Ð

�×�S�•�¥ � � �† �8 �¿�S�• �L � � �®� ! � ›�e

�Ð �× 
r �›�e �ê �å �Õ �� �À �›�e�$ �– �¿ �Õ

�� 
� �q �e���] �Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿

�I �ü �Ð�ù�› �˜ �–�D ��
À�ø �¿ ���¹ �Õ ��

�¿ � I �ü 
 r � › �Y�C� ‚ �Å�±� ˜ �®� ª �= �~ � I

� * �& �=�¥ �# � ´ �ð�d�ô � � �_ �õ � � 
 � � ˆ �H

�˜ �Q�‚�Ú�õ�f

�ø � I�®� ! �è �+�‰� / �Y � I 
« �   	 Ì 
 � �Å � ˜

� � � ª � > � › � – � D � ˆ � H � ® � ª � = � � 
 Ž � ˜ � A


 � �¿�û �• � f 	 Ì 
 � �Å � ˜ � \ 
Ÿ�£ � I�®� ! �è

�+�¿�2�è�‰�p�6���S�f�õ�¢���S�Ú�‚�d

�I 
« �  	Ì 
 � �Å �˜ �6 �±�� �–�D �ˆ�H �˜��

� = � 
 
 � � ( � > � › � � � = � Ô � \ � ˜ � ô � � � i � ]

�p�½�f ���=�_�I�®�!�è�+�2�è�¿�­�X�f

� � � = � @ � û � ¿ 
 � � � � _ � 2 � è � ‰ � p � 6 � Ê � Ë

	À � � �G �ã�d�ø�© �O �• �•� ‚ �¿�Ë� � 	 Ì 
 �

� � �S � f

�–�D �� �* �¿ � �
À �˜�®�ª �= �2 �–�D �ˆ�H

�_�� �ô �¢�Ù �¯ �$ �Þ �t�ø �•�� �t �l �˜ �–

�X � ] � *�d
v �S�Ð 
ö�Q�V 
 / 	ð � . � f

41. Fa i r Va lue and Fai r Va lue Hierarchy of 
Financial Instruments

The car r y ing amounts of the Group’s f inanc ia l 

instruments reasonably approximate to fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade 
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•  

� � � � � ® � ª � = � Û � Ô � \ � ˜ � Ù � , � ¿ 	 ÿ � £ � 1

�� �½�h�j

�Ð �× 
 r � › �¿ � �� ¹ �Õ � ��¿ � I �ü�> 
 r �Y�®

�ª �= �W�À �@�4 �\�…�Ã���6 �–�D �ˆ�H�4

� \ � ˜ � ; � � �2 �ó � ' 
â � ›�e� ¦ � \ � , � ˆ �¿ �q

�h �Q� ‚�Ú�d
h �$ �k � ‚ � J �8 �$ �– � t 
Ž�þ

�� �Q�f �ý�G �Q �I 
« �  �˜�” �5 �Ò �, �ˆ�d

�� �l �p 
À �N��
À �Å�±�˜ �® �ª �= �2 �ó �'

� � � l �p 
À �N�˜ � • 
 � �9 � � � ; � � 
h �$ �k � ‚

�J �8 �$ �– � t 
Ž 
† � � � � � � � f �õ 2020�Ë

�¿ 2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú� d � ª � I 
 « �   � I � � � >


 r � ˜� ” �5 �Ò� , � ˆ �þ � Ï�ç � ˜ �®� ª �= � 
 
 �

�— 
Y�› �‰�(�”� �}�f

� j�9 �p� I � ³ � � � ˜ �®�ª �= �W
? �õ�9 � � � �

� � �> � ›� f �ð � • �6 �Ô 
À�N� ˜�®�ª �= �W�2
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•  

�I�®�! �è �+ �© �‰�d�_�� �= �¦ �” �Ô 
{ ��

� ˜� � � � �® � ª �=�€� �� ] � ] �¥ 	 Ì 
 � �K �1 �Œ�•

�¿ �® � ª �= � ´ �ë � 
 
 ��€� �� ] �& 	B �Œ�•�n �¥

�#�d�ò �‰�� �S�‚ �K �ð �¥�G �˜�� �=�f

�ø�h�‰ �¢�j �9 �p �I �Ç �N�e�¢� j �9 
? �–

�¿�”�� �� �* �\ �¥ �� �= �Y� �}�” �� �H �À

� i � ] � p �½ �? � �� j

41. Fa i r Va lue and Fai r Va lue Hierarchy of 
Financial Instruments (Continued)

The di rectors of the Company bel ieve that the 

estimated fair values resulting from the valuation 

technique, which are recorded in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, and the related changes 

in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are 

reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate 

values at the end of the reporting period.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs 

to the valuation of unlisted equity securities, unlisted 

funds and non-performing asset portfolio:

Valuation techniques

Significant 

unobservable inputs

� � �= �Ù� , � �}�” �� �H �À �i �] �p �½

2020 2019
�� �� ��  ��

Unlisted equity securities and 

unlisted funds

Adjusted net asset 

approach

Book value of assets and 

liabilities of the investees 

adjusted to their fair value  

(HK$ million)

648 615

�¢�j�9 �p�I �Ç �N�¿ �¢�j�9 
? �– �¾� � �Æ�Y� � � � � * � , �—�³ � � �®� ! � ˜ � � � * �¿ � �
À �Y  

�* �&�= �� �Æ �� �I�® �ª �=  

�€�õ �¬ �¥ �©�•

Discounted cash flow 

approach

Present value of contracted 

disposal price of an unlisted 

security (HK$ million)

— 27

�± �$ �$ �– � t 
Ž � , �S
° �¢�j�9 �Ç �N�˜�¥�Ò�� 
/ �–

�X �̃�$�=�€�õ �¬ �¥ �©�•

Non-performing asset portfolio Discounted cash flow 

approach

Aggregate of the valuation of the 

individual underlying collateral 

secured to the respective 

outstanding receivables owned 
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•  

�—�³ � � �®� ! �Y� � � * �¿ � �
À � ˜ �®�ª �= �#

� � � J � ¯ �Ç 1%� d 
 Z � ¬ � ç � ¢ � j � 9 � p � I � Ç

� N � Y � ® � ª � = � # � � � J � ¯ � Ç6,480,000�¥

�©�€ 2019�Ë�j 6,150,000�¥ �©�•�f

�´�ë�”�����*�Y�ê�å�Ü�˜�®�ª�=�#�� �J

� ¯ � Ç1%� d 
 Z � ¬ � ç � ” � � � � � * � \ � ¥ � Y � ®

� ª �= �± �9 �# � � � J � ¯ �Ç 2,230,000� ¥ � ©

�€ 2019�Ë�j 1,610,000�¥ �©�•�f

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d �S 
° �¢ �j �9 �Ç �N

� ˜ � ¥ � Ò � � 
 / � – � X � ˜ � $ � = � # � � � J � ¯ � Ç

1%� d 
 Z � ¬ � ç � ¢ � j � 9 � p � I � Ç � N � Y � ® � ª

�= �#� � �J � ¯ �Ç 270,000�¥ �©�f

41. Fa i r Va lue and Fai r Va lue Hierarchy of 
Financial Instruments (Continued)

A 1% increase/decrease in the fair values of assets and 

liabilities of the investees would result in an increase/

a decrease in the fair value of the unlisted equity 

securities of HK$6,480,000 (2019: HK$6,150,000).

A 1% increase/decrease in the collateral for the 

respective non-per forming assets would result in 

an increase/a decrease in the fair value of the non-

performing asset portfolio of HK$2,230,000 (2019: 

HK$1,610,000).

As at 31 December 2019, a 1% increase/decrease in 

the present value of contracted amount of disposal 

of an unlisted security would result in an increase/

a decrease in the fair value of the unlisted equity 

securities of HK$270,000.
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•  

�®�ª�=
�	t

�h �Œ �•� j � I 
« �   �–�D �ˆ�H �˜�®�ª �= � �


Ž
� 	t�j

� Ú � �2020� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31� Ú � ß � Ë

� �� d � – � D � � � * � ¿ � – � D � � 
 À � ? � Ì � õ � K

1	 t � ~ � K 2	 t � ˜ 
 œ � 7 � a � ‚ � � � ® � ª � = � �


Ž�d�u �Ì �7 �] �Ð �7 �� �K 3	 t � f

41. Fa i r Va lue and Fai r Va lue Hierarchy of 
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

T h e fo l l ow i n g  t a b l e s  i l l u s t r a te  t h e  f a i r  va l u e 

measurement hierarchy of the Group’s f inancial 

instruments:

Fair value measurement using

�4 � \ � h � • � ¢ 
 ° � ˜ �®� ª � = � � 
 Ž

Quoted 

prices in 

active markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

�õ �z � ” �9 � �

� ˜ � � � �

� �}�� �H �À

� i � ] �p �½

� �}�” �� �H �À

� i � ] �p �½

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HK$’000 �w�¥�© �€�K 1	t�• �€�K 2	t�• �€�K 3	t�• �< � �
  �� �� �� ��

Assets measured at fair value as 

at 31 December 2020:

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�2 

�®�ª �= � � 
Ž � ˜ � � � *� j

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H — — 37,483 37,483

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

�2 �®�ª �= � � 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �

� �� ] �& 	B � ˜ �–�D � � � * 4,127 2,780 871,079 877,986�� ��     

4,127 2,780 908,562 915,469�� ��     

Assets measured at fair value as 

at 31 December 2019:

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�2 

�®�ª �= � � 
Ž � ˜ � � � *� j

Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

�2 �®�ª �= � � 
Ž �ò�I � 
 
 �

� �� ] �& 	B � ˜ �–�D � � � * 4,198 2,780 803,309 810,287�� �� �� �� �� ��

Liabilities measured at fair value 

as at 31 December 2019:

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�2 

�®� ª �= � � 
Ž � ˜ � �
À� j

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H — — 2,147 2,147�� �� �� �� �� ��

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, 

there were no transfers of fair value measurements 

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 

out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial 

liabilities.
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41. �–�D�ˆ�H�˜�®�ª�=�¿�®�ª�=
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�®�ª�=
�	t �€�ƒ�•

�Ë �«�d�K 3	 t � « � ˜ � ® � ª � = � � 
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 � � ½

�h�j

41. Fa i r Va lue and Fai r Va lue Hierarchy of 
Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 

during the years are as follows:

Financial 

assets

Financial 

liabilities

�– �D � � � * �– �D � � 
À

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��   

At 1 January 2019 �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú 799,828 —

Additions of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss measured 

at fair value in Level 3


ô �Ä �2 �K�g �4	 t �®�ª �= � � 
Ž �ò

� I � 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B � ˜ �–�D � � � *

239,172 —

Derivative financial instruments 

recognised

�Š�½ �©�� �[ �–�D �ˆ�H

— 6,709

Total loss recognised in profit or loss �õ �& 	B �½ �©�˜ � f �& �< �X (204,284) (4,562)

Exchange realignment @i �3 �0 �M (31,407) —�� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�¿2020�Ë 

1�Ü1�Ú 803,309 2,147

Additions of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss measured 

at fair value in Level 3


ô �Ä �2 �K�g �4	 t �®�ª �= � � 
Ž �ò

� I � 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B � ˜ �–�D � � � *

55,183 —

Disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss measured at 

fair value in Level 3

�� 
 / �2 �K�g �4	t �®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò

� I � 
 
 � � �� ] �& 	B �Y �–�D � � � *

(32,640) —

Total gain/(loss) recognised in  

profit or loss

�õ �& 	B �½ �© �̃�× 	B �J�€�f �&�•  

�< �X 30,919 (2,147)

Exchange realignment @i �3 �0 �M 51,791 —�� ��   

At 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú 908,562 —�� ��   
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 r � , � ˆ �¿ � t


� �� �– �, �ˆ �f�I�®�! �è �+ �2 �a �( �• ��

�Þ�ë �M�# �j �� �¢
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��d�( �?

�� �½�h�f

�;���,�ˆ

� I 
« �   �Ô�& �Á�˜�9 � � � ; � � � 
 
 � � , � ˆ �ô

� � � ~ � ] � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � • 
 W 28� Ô � 1 � ˜ � I


« �   � �� ¹ �Õ � ��¿ � I �ü �> 
 r �Þ �ë� f� I 
«

�   � ( � Ì �4 � \ � � � [ �–�D � ˆ�H�ø �Á �Ù� ; � �

�, �ˆ �f�I 
« �  
® �\ �x �› �¿�� �
 �; �� �>


r �\ �¥ �M�# �I �; �¹ �Ó �I�f

�õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�d�¯ �Ô�Þ �I �ü �
 �p

�­ �5 �” �
 �Y 
‹ �1 �h�d �J �> 
r �; �� �j

�º�J �h �% 1%� d � Æ � _ � õ 	 � 
 � � ; � � � > 
 r

� ˜ �B �¤�d� I 
« �   �5 �ƒ �¾� � �8 
 � � ˜ 	ð �ü

�Ã�f �&
Z�#�� �J �¯�Ç�Ò 5,879,000�¥�©

�€ 2019�Ë�j 9,349,000�¥ �©�•�f

42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise 

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts 

due from an associate and a joint venture, pledged 

bank deposits and cash and bank balances. The 

main purpose of these financial instruments is to 

raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group 

has various other financial assets and liabilities such 

as trade receivables and other payables, which arise 

directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s f inancial 

instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency 

risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors of the 

Company review and agree policies for managing each 

of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market 

interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings set out in note 28 

to the consolidated financial statements. The Group 

does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge 

interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost 

using a mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2020, if the interest rate of borrowings 

had increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables 

held constant, the loss before taxation from continuing 

operations of the Group, through the impact on floating 

rate borrowings, would have increased/decreased by 

approximately HK$5,879,000 (2019: HK$9,349,000).  
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The major financial assets and liabilities of the Group 

are denominated in the functional currency of the 

respective group entities. Other than a loan receivable 

which is denominated in United States dollars, the 

directors of the Company consider that the Group’s 

exposure to fore ign cur rency exchange r isk is 

insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions 

are denominated in the functional currency of each 

individual group entity.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group 

did not use any financial instruments for hedging 

purposes (2019: Nil).

Credit risk

T h e G ro u p o n l y  t r a d e s  w i t h  r e c o g n i s e d  a n d 

creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that 

all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are 

subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, 

receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 

basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, 

which comprise loans receivable, amounts due from a 

joint venture and an associate, pledged bank deposits 

and cash and bank balance, arises from default of the 

counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 

carrying amounts of these instruments.

For the Group’s trade receivables, since the Group only 

trades with recognised and creditworthy third parties, 

there is no requirement for collateral. Concentration of 

credit risk is managed by counterparty.
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the 

maximum exposure to credi t r isk based on the 

Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past 

due information unless other information is available 

without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging 

classification as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The 

amounts represented are gross carrying amounts for 

financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12�H�Ü�k �‚
� ¦ 
 r � f � & �Œ� ‚ � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f �&

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

HK$’000 �w�¥�© �K�S 
  � l �K�Z 
   � l �K�g 
   � l � 
 � · �Ù� , �< � �
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › — — — 7,317 7,317
Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � ›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 549,421 — — — 549,421
— Doubtful* — �� �2 * — 904,884 — — 904,884

Financial assets included in 
deposits, prepayments and other 
receivables

���] �2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü
�Ð�× � › � ˜ � –�D � � � *

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 407,408 — — — 407,408
Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � ›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 589,783 — — — 589,783
Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 1,033,833 — — — 1,033,833
Pledged bank deposits �ê �å �Õ � � �À �›

— Not yet past due — �   �J �C � ‚ 23,753 — — — 23,753
Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q

— Not yet past due — �   �J �C � ‚ 769,767 — — — 769,767�� ��      S1 gs
/Cr —48—��

��
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42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12�H�Ü�k �‚

� ¦ 
 r � f �& �Œ� ‚ � k � ‚ � ¦ 
 r � f �&

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

HK$’000 �w�¥ �© �K�S 
  �l �K�Z 
   � l �K�g 
  � l � 
 � · �Ù � , � < � �
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Trade receivables �Ð�× � * � › — — — 8,735 8,735

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � ›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 1,382,167 — — — 1,382,167

Financial assets included in 

deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables

���] �2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü

�Ð�× � › � ˜ � –�D � � � *

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 191,319 — — — 191,319

Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � ›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 494,556 — — — 494,556

Amount due from a joint venture �Ð�×�S�•�¥ �� �† �8 �›

— Normal* — �S 	 › * 1,197,629 — — — 1,197,629

Pledged bank deposits �ê �å �Õ � � �À �›

— Not yet past due — �   �J �C � ‚ 22,321 — — — 22,321

Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q

— Not yet past due — �   �J �C � ‚ 190,247 — — — 190,247�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

3,478,239 — — 8,735 3,486,974�� �� �� �� �� �� ��
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42.  Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

Within 

one year 

or on demand

In the 

second year

In the 

third to 

fifth years, 

inclusive

Beyond 

five years Total

HK$’000 �w�¥ �©

�õ �S�Ë�«�Ð

�2 �� �Ë �õ�K�Z�Ë

�õ�K�g �� �K�ž�Ë

�€�
 �<�/ �̂ �G�Ë�• �õ�ž�Ë�ø �j � < � �
�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Accrued charges, rental 

deposits and other payables

�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �–

�¿ �I �ü �Ð�ù�› 267,022 — — — 267,022

Convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N 40,250 80,500 1,380,000 — 1,500,750

Interest-bearing bank and 

other borrowings

���¹ �Õ ���¿ �I �ü 
r �›

265,435 176,265 153,265 389,058 984,023�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

572,707 256,765 1,533,265 389,058 2,751,795�� �� �� �� �� �� ��

Capital management

The pr imar y ob jec t i ves of the Group’s cap i ta l 

management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy 

capital ratios in order to support its business and 

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes 

adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 

assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 

the Group may adjust the div idend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue 

new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements. No changes were made 

in the objectives, policies or processes for managing 

capital during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 

2019.
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42. �–�D�,�ˆ�M�#�f�z�¿�A
� �€�ƒ�•  
 

���I�M�# �€�ƒ�•

� I 
« �   
® � \ � � � * � �
À �â � � �9 
 › � � � I�d

�Þ �ë �â � ��W�ø�> 
 r �< �X 	ð�ø� I�®� ! � ¹

�Þ�[ �Ð�& �Æ	B 
{ ���f �> 
r �< �X�
 �< ��

�¹ �Õ ���¿ �I �ü 
r �› �¿�� �l �p 
À �N�f�õ

� � �S� ‚ 
œ�K�d� I 
« �   � ˜ � � � * � � 
À �â � �

�½�h�j

43. �â�0�–�X

� � �½ 	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ � • 
W 4�Ô 
† �S �É �� �Q�d

�Š�Á�j�S�Ë���r�›�–�X�*��	Û�Q���Æ�d

� þ � j � S � Ë � � 	 Ì 
 � � � � Œ � ¿ � � � Q � • 
 W � Y

�ð �•
°�f�¿ 
� �q �Š�š� �• �f

42. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 
Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which 

is total borrowings over equity attributable to owners 

of the Company. Total borrowings included interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings and convertible 

bonds. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting 

periods are as follows:

(Restated)

�€�¾ � �•�•

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

Short term borrowings �õ � ‚ �> 
 r 217,848 261,941

Long term borrowings �—� ‚ �> 
 r 1,571,112 672,991

Senior note � ´ � ‹ �C �½ 151,461 —

Convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N 1,232,463 1,170,351�� ��  ��

Total borrowings �> 
 r �< �X 3,172,884 2,105,283�� ��  ��

Equity attributable to owners  

of the Company

�I�®�! �¹ �Þ�[ �Ð �& �Æ	B

6,559,754 6,622,204�� ��  ��

Gearing ratio �� �* ��
À �â �� 48% 32%�� ��  ��

43. Comparative Amounts

As fur ther expla ined in note 4 to the f inancia l 

statements, retrospective adjustment arising from prior 

year provisional accounting was made, and certain 

items and balances in prior year financial statements 

and explanatory notes have been restated.
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44. �I�®�!	Ì
� �K�1�Œ44. S ta tement of F inanc ia l Pos i t ion of the 
Company

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

NON-CURRENT ASSETS �¢ � t 
 � � � � *

Investment properties � ³ � � � J �8 113,611 109,844

Property, plant and equipment �J �8�e�@ �Ò�¿ �£ �ê 34,594 34,577

Unlisted investments in subsidiaries �³ �� �õ �¢�j�9 �• �n�®�! 675,433 675,433

Amounts due from subsidiaries �Ð�× �• �n�®�! �› 3,861,001 3,428,416

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���] �&

	B �Y �–�D � � �* 2,780 2,780

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � › — 160,896�� ��  ��

Total non-current assets �¢ � t 
 � � � � * �< �= 4,687,419 4,411,946�� ��  ��

CURRENT ASSETS � t 
 � � � � *

Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables

�2 �–�e�k �ù �› �¿ �I �ü �Ð�× �›

24,672 38,916

Amounts due from subsidiaries �Ð�× �• �n�®�! �› 326,458 523,649

Amount due from an associate �Ð�×�S� • �L � � �®� ! � › 10,410 10,410

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss

�ø�®�ª �= �� 
Ž �ò�I �
 
� ���] �&

	B �Y �–�D � � �* 11,870 15,975

Loan receivables �Ð�× 
 r � › 494,980 378,634

Cash and bank balances �$ �– �¿ �Õ � � 
 � �q 57,583 45,877

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H 37,483 —�� ��  ��

Total current assets � t 
 � � � � * �< �= 963,456 1,013,461�� ��  ��

CURRENT LIABILITIES �t 
 � � � 
À

Accrued charges, rental deposits and 

other payables

�Ð �� 
l �\�e	a 
� �2 �– �¿ �I �ü �Ð

�ù� › 73,664 60,241

Amounts due to subsidiaries �Ð�ù �• �n�®�! �› 145,811 49,002

Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings

���¹ �Õ ���¿ �I �ü 
r �›

151,461 130,000

Derivative financial instruments �� � [ �–�D �ˆ�H — 2,147�� ��  ��

Total current liabilities �t 
� ��
À �< �X 370,936 241,390�� ��  ��
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� ¾ � _ � è � + � 6 � õ2021�Ë 3�Ü29� Ú � © � � � ¿


 ¬ � Æ � ï � � � ( � ¾ � h � • 
 ¬ � Æ � þ � Œ � ¦ � Ç � ½

�©�j

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥�© �w�¥ �©
�� ��  ��

NET CURRENT ASSETS � � � t 
 � � � � * 592,520 772,071   ��

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

�� �* �< �= �¯ � t 
 � � � 
À

5,279,939 5,184,017   ��

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES �¢ �t 
 � � � 
À

Deferred tax liabilities �È �· �ü 
° ��
À 8,863 8,863

Convertible bonds �� � l �p 
À �N 1,232,463 1,170,351�� ��  ��

Total non-current liabilities �¢ �t 
� ��
À �< �X 1,241,326 1,179,214�� ��  ��

Net assets � � � � � * 4,038,613 4,004,803�� ��  ��

EQUITY �p� I

Equity attributable to owners of 

the Company

� I�®� ! � ¹ �Þ� [ �Ð �& �Æ 	B

Share capital �p� I 3,626,781 3,626,781

Reserves � · �ê 411,832 378,022�� ��  ��

Total equity �p� I �< �= 4,038,613 4,004,803�� ��  ��

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of 

directors on 29 March 2021 and are signed on its 

behalf.

Huang Jiajue Luo Zhihai


» �3 � � � ¯ � } 	 �

Director �è �+ Director �è �+

44. S ta tement of F inanc ia l Pos i t ion of the 
Company (Continued)

44. �I�®�!	Ì
� �K�1�Œ �€�ƒ�•  
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44. �I�®�! 	Ì 
� �K �1 �Œ�€�ƒ�•  
 

�• 
W�j

�I�®�! �· �ê �? �� �½�h�j

45. �­�X	Ì
����Œ

	 Ì 
 � � � �Œ �_ � I �® � ! �è �+ �6 �õ 2021�Ë 3

�Ü29�Ú�­ �X �¿ 
¬�Æ�
 �ï �f

44. S ta tement of F inanc ia l Pos i t ion of the 
Company (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

� � � * �  � � � · �ê �­ 	5�® �; � ¥ � �

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

�w�¥ �© �w�¥ �© �w�¥ �©
�� ��    

At 1 January 2019 �õ 2019�Ë1�Ü1�Ú 90,553 419,337 509,890

Loss for the year �Ë�« � f �& — (132,461) (132,461)

Other comprehensive income  

for the year

�Ë�« � I �ü �Œ�&�× � ]

593 — 593�� �� �� �� ��

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 

for the year

�Ë�« �Œ�&�× �] �J�€�f �&�•

�< �X 593 (132,461) (131,868)�� �� �� �� ��

At 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020

�õ 2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�¿

2020�Ë1�Ü1�Ú 91,146 286,876 378,022

Profit for the year �Ë�« �P � ; — 32,124 32,124

Other comprehensive income  

for the year

�Ë�« � I �ü �Œ�&�× � ]

1,686 — 1,686�� ��    

Total comprehensive income  

for the year

�Ë�« �Œ�&�× � ] �< �X

1,686 32,124 33,810�� ��    

At 31 December 2020 �õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú 92,832 319,000 411,832�� ��    

45. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised 

for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 

29 March 2021.
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Note: In Year 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 15, HKFRS 

9 and other amendments to HKFRSs (see note 2 of the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements section 

for the summary of the corresponding financial impact). 

Accordingly, certain comparative information for the 

years ended 31 December, 2016 and 2017 may not be 

comparable to the years ended 31 December, 2018 and 

2019 as such comparative information was prepared 

under HKAS 18, HKAS 11 and HKAS39. Accounting 

policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15 and 

HKFRS 9 are disclosed in the “Significant Accounting 

Judgements and Estimates” Section.

� • 
 W�j  �õ 2018� Ë � �� d� I 
 « �   � Ð � \ � 0 � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � S

�_�Æ�K15� î�d�0 �¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � �S�_�Æ�K 9� î �¿

� 0 � ¥ 	 Ì 
 � � � � S � _ � Æ � I � ü � L � �� €� � � ] � ¥ 	 Ì


 � � � � Œ � • 
 W � « � • 
 W2� 1 � • � Á � Ð 	 Ì 
 � � B � ¤

�? ���•�f �ª �ä�d�Ú �� 2016�Ë�¿2017�Ë12�Ü

31� Ú� ð � • � â � 0 � � � Ø� � 	 • � J 	 • � ~ � Ú � � 2018

� Ë � ¿2019�Ë12�Ü31�Ú �* � � �â �0�d �ª �˜ �Ã

�â �0 �� �Ø �ø�0 �¥ �6 �� �_ �Æ 18�î�e �0 �¥ �6

� � �_ �Æ11� î �¿ �0 �¥ �6 � � �_ �Æ 39� î � ] � * � f
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The following is a list of the Group’s investment properties at 

31 December 2020:

Investment properties in the PRC

Location Lease term Purpose Gross area
�® �Ã 	a �Ò� ‚ � " � \ �Ä � � � � �& � �

Sq. ft.
�;�Ù �J

�� ��    

1. Basement 1, Basement 2, Level 0 and Level 1 to 3 of 
East Gate Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng 
District, Beijing, The PRC

Medium  
term lease

�•�‚

Commercial

  �8

700,427

�•
7 �� �/ �ì 
� ���• 
Q 19� î � � � � �? � � �® �« 1�4�e  
� ® � «2�4�e�p �4�¿ 1�4� � 3�4

2. Level 4 to 31 of South Apartment Tower (including 
401, 402, 403, 405, 406, 407, 408, 501, 502, 503, 
505, 506, 507, 508, 30/F and 31/F), East Gate Plaza, 
39 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing, 
The PRC

Long lease
�—� ‚

Residential
� � �Ã

31,171

�•
7 �� �/ �9 �� �ì 
� ���• 
Q 39�î �� � � �? �� �Ì �­ �®�- �}
�K4�� 31�4�€�
 �< 401, 402, 403, 405, 406, 407, 408, 
501, 502, 503, 505, 506, 507, 508, 30� } �¿ 31�}�•

3. Level 4 to 31, North Apartment Tower, East Gate 
Plaza, 19 Dongzhong Street, Dongcheng District, 
Beijing, The PRC

Long lease
�—� ‚

Residential
� � �Ã

339,993

�•
7 �� �/ �9 �� �ì 
� ���• 
Q 19�î �� � � �? �� � � �­ �®�- �}
�K4�� 31�4

4. Portion of Level 2-5, 6 and 8 of Hua Po Lou, No. 28 
Dong Zhong Jie Jia, Dongcheng District, Beijing, The 
PRC (Note)

Medium term 
lease
�•�‚

Commercial

  �8

10,540

�•
7 �� �/ �9 �� �ì 
� ���• 
Q�` 28� î 
6 �* � } �K 2�� 5�e 6
�¿ 8�4�Å�±�€�• 
W�•

Note: The legal titles of the properties have not been passed to the 

Group at 31 December 2020.

Investment properties in the Hong Kong

Location Lease term Purpose Gross area
�® �Ã 	a �Ò� ‚ � " � \ �Ä � � � � �& � �

Sq. ft.
�;�Ù �J

��    

Flat B, 9 Floor, 6A Bowen Road, Hong Kong Long lease Residential 3,007
�0 �¥ � � 
®�8 6A9�} B�� �—� ‚ � � �Ã

� h � • � ‰ � I 
 « �   � õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�Y �³ � � �J

�8 
ö�
�j

� � �õ �• 
7 � ˜ � ³ � � �J �8

� • 
 W�j  � ä 
 � � J � 8 � ˜ � * � Æ � õ 2020�Ë12�Ü31�Ú�  �J

�@ �Ò�š� I 
« �   � f

���õ �0�¥�˜�³���J�8



(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
（於香港註冊成立之有限公司）
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